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Management report

The consolidated financial statements, which include AS "Regionala investiciju banka” and its subsidiary
SIA "Grunewald Residence”, together form the Group. Considering that the share of SIA "Grunewald
Residence” in the total assets of the Group is insignificant, the report will discuss the Bank and its
indicators. AS Regionala investiciju banka is a joint stock company registered in the Republic of Latvia.
The registered office address: Jura Alunina iela 2, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia; registered with the Enterprise
Register on 3 October 2001, registration No 40003563375. On 3 October 2001, the Financial and Capital
Market Commission of the Republic of Latvia (the FCMC) approved AS “Regionala investiciju banka® as
a credit institution and issued Banking License No 170, Supervisory authority of the Bank is the FCMC.

The Bank's mission is to be a trusted partner to its customers in all matters related to the Bank's services.
We offer a high level of expertise, understanding of the customer needs, excellent product quality and
quick decision-making.

Twenty-year experience in the financial sector, continuously stable financial performance over many
years, conservative risk management and focusing on details form the basis for guaranteeing to our
customers the feeling of security, transparency and balance in any interaction with the Bank. At the same
time, high competence, comprehensive and in-depth understanding of the nuances of the Bank's core
business, i.e, lending, enable us to assist the customers in structuring their business funding projects,
optimizing fund raising costs and selecting the most advantageous financing solution. Thanks to this
approach, already for the third consecutive year, the Bank demonstrates positive dynamics of business
model transformation, an increase in the portfolio of successfully completed projects and a convincing
growth in market visibility. All of the above gives confidence that the Bank is on the right path in the
Strategy implementation towards taking the desired market position and market share in its market
segment within the timeframe set by the Strategy.

Covid-19 and the geopolitical situation. In 2021, the pandemic continued to affect economies
worldwide and in Latvia. A negative scenario prevailed for the economic recovery, compelling significant
constraints on business processes, which in turn affected the development and growth rates planned by
the Bank, as it still has to exercise maximum caution when assessing projects to be financed and the
business resilience of potential customers in the present circumstances. At the same time, Covid-19 has
had virtually no impact on the Bank's day-to-day operations thanks to a prudent and effective
epidemiological risk management since the start of the pandemic, enabling the Bank to operate with
minimal staff morbidity and without any perceptible impact on the work efficiency.

In 2021, the Bank's operating environment experienced the growing influence of foreign and geopolitical
policies on the financial sector: a broad sanctions program was introduced against Belarus, the Baltic
countries’ relations with China over the Taiwan "issue” escalated, a large geopolitical crisis developed on
the Russia-Ukraine border with the US and EU Member States actively involved. These circumstances
require banks to monitor developments more closely and to assess their potential impact on the Bank’s
business. Due to the fact that the Armed Forces of Russia started a military operation in Ukraine on
February 24, 2022, and the way military activities progress during the first weeks of the operation, it is
impossible to forecast credibly neither its outcome, nor its impact on the economies of Ukraine and the
Baltic States, as well as the results of the Bank’s operations in future. For a more detailed analysis of
impact, see Note 38.

In 2022 and in the future, the Bank will focus on risk management, working on risk mitigation measures,
taking into account the nature and size of the Bank's portfolio and related risks.




Management report (cont)

Capital, liquidity and deposits from customers. Throughout 2021, the Bank's financial performance
was stable and the liquidity and capital ratios demonstrated solid compliance with the required
standards (62.28% and 27.58% against the set requirements of 40% and 11.1%, respectively). During the
reporting period, total deposits from customers increased slightly by 2.1%, while deposits from
Latvianresidents, an important element in assessing the development of the Bank's business model,
increased by 4.1%.

Customer base and corporate {ending. In line with the Bank's development strategy, maintaining the
existing volume of the non-resident loan portfolio and deposits, in 2021 we started cooperation with a
number of well-known customers and customer groups in the Latvian market that are leaders in their
business segments. During 2021, the tumnover of the Bank's corporate clients - Latvian residents
increased.

We have strengthened our position in our core business, i.e., we have increased our loan portfolio, while
maintaining an high portfolio quality. Irrespective of the difficult situation in many sectors of the Latvian
economy, we managed to efficiently attract new projects and review loan applications, focusing on our
profile customers - Latvian medium-sized and large businesses. Several high-profile financing projects
were successfully implemented with companies, leading in the relevant economic sectors. In 2021, the
Bank issued new loans for a total amount of EUR 46.4 million, of which EUR 15.5 million represented
loans issued to Latvian residents and the rest — non-resident loans. Besides, at the end of 2021, loan
agreements were signed with Latvian entrepreneurs for a total amount of over EUR 20 million that will
be respectively issued in the first half of 2022. As the result the total amount of new loans approved,
signed, including already partiaily issued loans, to Latvian residents during the reporting period exceeds
EUR 35 million. At the end of 2021, the Bank's total loan portfolio had increased by 13.6% compared to
the end of 2020, namely, from EUR 78.4 million to EUR 89.1 million.

Overall, the year 2021 has confirmed the right choice of our business model and market position, We
stick to our previously defined strategic core values - competence, speed, flexibility, expert-level
understanding of the customer's business - and will continue to reinforce these core values in our work
in 2022.

Interest and commission income. As in 2020, the general decline in economic activity and the
difficulties faced by many customers could not but affect the Bank's performance in 2021. Factors
restraining economic activity prevented the Bank from achieving the growth rates of its loan portfolio in
terms of actual loans issued as envisaged in its strategy. Many customers had to postpone the previously
planned investments and development projects and focus on maintaining their business in the face of
constraints and the crisis. As a result, in 2021, there was a decline in the Bank's income compared to
2020: from interest — by 12.9%, from commission fee - by 19.2%..

Financlal performance. The Bank's net profit for the 12 months of 2021 reached EUR 8.6 million.
Compared to the previous year, the profit grew by 1080.52% which is due to a dividend of EUR 10 million
received from the Bank's subsidiary and the impairment of investment of EUR -3.98 million recognized
in connection with the payment of dividends.

As at 31 December 2021, total assets amounted to EUR 256.19 million. This represents a decrease of
2.25% compared to the previous year. According to the Finance Latvia Association, the Bank ranks ninth
in the banking sector in terms of assets.




Management report (cont’)

Development and main plans for 2022, In 2022, the Bank focuses on daily activities that involve the
quality of customer service and strengthening the individual approach to the customer, Our customers
deserve the best service in the banking sector and we are working to ensure that our offer meets this
high standard. In 2022, the implementation of a number of projects is going to raise our service quality
level.

In 2022, we will focus even more on our core business activities, i.e., lending. We plan to issue new loans
for no less than EUR 51 miltion, including for EUR 32.4 million in Latvia. This will make the Bank's loan
portfolio well over EUR 100 million. To reach it, we continue to attract to our team of account managers
the best specialists in the field and to improve our lending products. It needs to be done so that in any
situation we can keep the promise given to our clients - to provide the highest level of expertise in the
market in the customers’ area of activity and to offer the customers a fast and maximum cost-effective
funding solution for their business projects.

We have a stable resource base in line with the Bank's business development plans. This will enable us
to offer our customers competitive lending terms, while being more flexible and faster in our decision-
making than other market players.

In 2022, we will offer our customers a new online banking solution that will take into account all the
wishes and requirements of existing and potential customers, best market practices and state-of-the-art
solutions. The online banking solution is designed with a focus on servicing corporate customers,
namely, the Bank's target customers.

The Bank is working to promote good corporate governance by integrating responsible banking and
sustainable finance principles into its core business processes. We also support our customers’ efforts
in the areas of environmental protection, social responsibility and sustainability, thereby contributing to
the efficiency and long-term value of their businesses. In 2022, our team expects to offer more vigorously
“green” solutions and products, thus helping existing and potential customers to develop their
businesses in line with the "Green Deal”, attract additional co-funding and make their businesses more
stable and efficient.

Our compliance, data protection and cybersecurity standards as well as our 20-year approach to bank
confidenciality issues are among the highest in the market. During the Covid-19 pandemic, we have
provided a safe environment for the Bank's employees and we apply modern solutions for remote
working and communication with customers, while remaining a bank that wants to meet its customers
face-to-face at our office in the center of Riga, at Jura Alunana street 2.

On behalf of the Board and shareholders of the Bank, we would like to thank all our customers, business
partners and employees for theircomtribution to the Bank's growth!

Yuriy Rodin
irman of the Council

.
A

12022




Management report (cont’)

Council and Board of the Bank

As at 31 December 2021 and the signing date of the financial statements:

Supervisory Council

Appointment date
Yuriy Rodin Chairman of the Council Re-elected - 15.05.2017
Mark Bekker Deputy Chairman of the Council Re-elected — 15.05.2017
Dmitrij Bekker Member of the Council Re-elected - 15.05.2017
Alla Vanetsyants Member of the Council Re-elected - 15.05.2017
[rina Buts Member of the Council Re-elected - 15.05.2017

M
anagement Board Appointment date

Aleksandrs Jakovlevs Chairman of the Board Re-elected - 05.08.2019
Andrejs Gomza Member of the Board Re-elected — 05.11.2021
Alda Odina Member of the Board 04.03.2019
Dace Gaigala Member of the Board 04.03.2019
Vita Matvejeva Member of the Board 20.01.2020

The following changes took place in the composition of the management Board of AS Regionala
investiciju banka on 20 April 2022 Alda Odina was dismissed.

o Yuriy Rodin
Chairman of the Council

Riga, 29 April 2022




Management Report (cont'd)
Statement of Management Responsibility

Council and Board (hereinafter - the management) of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of
the Consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiary (hereinafter — the Group) and the
Bank’s financial statements.

The Consolidated and Bank's financial statements on pages 14 through 100 are prepared in accordance
with the source documents and present fairly the financial position of the Group and the Bank as at
31 December 2021 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the reporting year 2021.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted in the European Union on a going concern basis. Appropriate accounting policies have been
applied on a consistent basis. Prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates have been made by the
management in the preparation of the financial statements.

The management of the Bank is responsible for the maintenance of proper accounting records, the
safeguarding of the Bank's assets and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities in
the Bank. They are also responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the Law on Credit
Institutions, regulations of the Financial and Capital Market Commission and Bank of Latvia and other
normative acts of the Republic of Latvia applicable for credit institutions.

uriy Rodin
hairman of the Council

Riga, 29 April 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Regionala Investiciju Banka AS

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial stalements of Regionala Investiciju Banka AS and its subsidiary (the
Group) and the accompanying financial statements of Regionala Investiciju Banka AS (the Bank) set oul on pages 14 to 100 of
the accompanying Annual Report, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the statements
of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Inour opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Group and the Bank give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group and the Bank as at 31 December 2021 and of the financial performance of the Group and the Bank and the cash
flows of the Group and the Bank for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in the Republic of Latvia (ISAs). Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the Bank in accordance with the Intermational Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (JESBA Code) together with the
independence requirements included in the Law on Audit Services of Republic of Latvia that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have fuffilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Law on
Audit Services of Republic of Latvia and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter on the assessment of the impact of geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine on the going
concern of the Group and the Bank

We draw attention to Nole 3 (a) and Note 38 in the financial statements, which outlines the significant assumptions made by the
management in the assessment of the impact of geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine subsequent to the reporting
date on the going concern of the Group and the Bank. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
slatements of the Group and the Bank of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements of the Group and the Bank as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report, including in relation 1o these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit
opinion on the accompanying financial statements of the Group and the Bank.

A mermber firm of Ernst & Young Giobal Limited
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Key audit matter

How we addressed the key audit matter

Implementation of the Bank’s Development Strategy (the Consolidated and the Bank’s separate financial statements)

The Bank initially prepared Development Strategy for
years 2018-2021 to adapt its business mode! and clients’
base. The Sirategy was further updated for years 2019-
2022. In February 2021, the Bank's Council approved the
updated Development Strategy for years 2021-2025,
which integrated the experience of previous years
including aspects of COVID-19 pandemic and changes in
the Bank's approach to its development.

The key direction of the Development Strategy, as
disclosed in Note 4() to the financial statements, is
extension of lending in Lalvia and the European Union
with a focus on the segment of medium and large
companies. Budget for year 2022 has been prepared in
line with the updated Bank's Development Strategy for
years 2021-2025.

In prior periods, given that the Group and the Bank were
in the early stage of the new business model
implementation as defined in the Development strategy,
there was an uncertainty on whether and how the Group
and the Bank will succeed in implementing the new
strategy.

The Group and the Bank have been implementing the
Development Strategy at a slower pace than initially
planned, implying that the Group and the Bank are still in
progress with implementation of the Development
Strategy. Reviewing the implementation status of the
Developrnent Strategy required significant attention in
performing the audit because of its potential impact on
Group’s and Bank's liquidity and capital adequacy;
therefore, we considered it to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We reviewed the Group's and the Bank's Development Stralegy
for years 2021-2025 and its implementation status based on year
2021 actual resulls. We reviewed the implementation status of
the updated Development Strategy based on the actual financial
results for January 2022,

We discussed the implementation status of the Group's and the
Bank's Development Strategy with the Group’s and the Bank's
management and the Financial Capital and Market Commission
(FCMC).

We obtained the year 2022 budget prepared by the management
and evaluated the underlying assumptions, including
assumplions related to the changes in loan portfolio,
implementalion of the Development Strategy and COVID-19
impact assessment. We performed this evaluation with reference
to the supporting documents, and liquidity and capilal adequacy
requirements, where appropriate.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures relating to the
matier in Note 4(j) to the financial statements.

Loan loss impairment (the Consolidated and the Bank's

separate financial statements)

The carrying amount of loans to corporale and individual
customers as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 83
259 thousand in the Bank's separate financial statements
and EUR 83 259 thousand in the Consolidated financial
statements; the tolal impairment loss allowance as at 31
December 2021 amounted to EUR 5 988 thousand in the
Bank's separate financial statements and EUR 5 988
thousand in the Consolidated financial statements.

Loan receivables are significant to the total assets of the
Consolidated and the Bank's separate financial
slatements. The Group and the Bank have significant
exposures to the berrowers in foreign jurisdictions,
ncluding those in the Ukraine. At the end of financial year
2021 geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine
developed and tensions belween two counlries

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We gained understanding and tested key controls over the loan
issuance, accounling and monitoring and loan impairment
assessmenl processes. We gained understanding of how
management applied the assumptions and data used to develop
accounling esiimates used within the Group's and the Bank’s
expected credit loss model. We have also tested controls relating
to input of data to models and the general IT-controls within the
relevant systems.

In addition to testing the key controls, we assessed the Group's
and the Bank's accounting policies and the management's
assumptions relating to the estimation of expected credit loss and
involved our internal IFRS 9 specialists to assess its compliance
wilh the requirements of IFRS 9. For a sample of the loans we

A medber firm o Ernst & Young Global Limited




EY

Building a better
working world

significantly escalated after year end. The speculations of
Russian invasion threats have raised concems of
possible impact on the Bank's and Group's respective
loan portfolio performance.

The basis of the Bank’s and the Group’s loan impairment
policy is presented in the accounting policies section in
Notes 3{m) and 4(a) to the financial statements. Critical
accounting estimates and judgments, disclosures of
loans and guarantees and the credit risk management are
set out in Notes 3(m), 4(a) and 13 1o the financial
statements.

In order fo provide for expected credil losses,
management uses a model-based approach and
individual assessments.

We identified this area to be significant for the audit
because measurement and recognition of allowances for
loan loss impairment reflected in the Group’s and the
Bank's expected credit loss model are associated with
significant estimation, as it requires the management to
exercise judgement and apply complex and subjective
assumptions about both the timing and amounts of such
impairment. Key areas of judgement include the
identification of exposures with a significant increase in
credit risk, assumptions used in the expected cradit loss
model such as the financial condition of the counterparty,
expected future cash flows and forward-looking
information like the impact from COVID-19 pandemic.
Individual impairment allowances recognized by the
Group and the Bank mostly relate to large, individually
monitored exposures to corporates and individuals.
Therefore, the assessment of the aforementioned
exposures is based on the knowledge about each
individual borrower and often on the estimated fair value
of the relevant collaterals, the assessment of customers
which are likely to default, and the future cash flows
relating to loans.

Due to the above circumstances, we considered loan
impairment assessment to be a key audit matter.

assessed the significant expected credit loss model components:
staging criteria, including parameters determining a significant
increase in credit risk, Loss Given Default (LGD), Probability of
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and assessed whether
the Group and the Bank have calculated the estimated expected
credit loss in line with the provisioning policy. We assessed
whether the borrowers exhibited the significant increase in credit
risk or the possible defaull risk that may affect meeting their
scheduled repayment obligations.

We selected a sample of loans with higher risk characteristics
such as significant exposures arising from the related borrower
groups, borrowers in foreign jurisdictions, exposures arising from
delayed paymenis outstanding on the reporting date and
restructured loans, including loans affected by the COVID-19
pandemic. The sample of loans was assessed as to the existence
of significant increase in credit risk and default triggers by
reviewing the underlying loan documentation and discussing the
respective loans with the representatives of the Loan Department
and the Debt Collection Department. As concerns non-performing
loans, we reviewed the forecasts of future cash flows used in the
assessment of loan impairment, evaluated the key assumptions
made by the management such as the applied discount rates,
collateral values, forecasted business performance and, as
applicable, cost to repossess the collateral, collateral sales cosls
and sales periods.

We performed analytical procedures, such as a comparison of
loan loss impairment allowance balances to industry levels,
comparison to prior year, movements between stages etc.

We also assessed the adequacy of the financial statement
disclosures in Notes 3 (m), 4(a) and 13, as well as the subsequent
events disclosure in Note 38.

Anti-money Laundering (regulatory requirements regarding anti-money laundering) (the Consolidated and the Bank's

separate financial statements)

As disclosed in Note 4(i) 10 the financial statements, in
the third quarter of 2019, the FCMC performed two
separate inspections (extended scope inspection and
targeted specific scope inspection) at the Bank on the
prevention of money laundering and terrorist and
proliferation  financing and the sanctions risk
management. The extended scope inspection has been
concluded without idenlifying any  systematic
deficiencies. Based on the resulis from the targeted
specific scope inspection, on the 3 of November 2020

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We reviewed the Bank's AMI/CTPF risk management strategy
for 2021-2023 and discussed the implementation status.

We discussed the matter with the Group's and the Bank's
representatives responsible for compliance with anti-money
laundering requirements.

We reviewed and evaluated the Bank's remediation plan in
relation 1o the FCMC findings and its implementation by

A member firm 3f Ernst & Young Giobal Limited
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the FCMC announced a regufatory fine amounting to
EUR 473 thousand imposed on the Bank.

As disclosed in Note 4(i) to the financial statements, the
FCMC and the Bank concluded on a remediation plan for
the Bank to strengthen its internal anti-money laundering
control system so thal it complies with the FCMC
requirements which are considered a prerequisite for the
Group’s and the Bank's successful operations in the
future,

Given the importance of the matter to the Group's and the
Bank's reputational risk, we have identified this as a key
audit matter.

inspecting  the  implementalion  status  reports  and
correspondence on the implementation with the regulator.

We updated our understanding of the Bank's inlernal policies and
procedures and involved our intermal AML specialists in the
assessment of policy compliance with AML/CTPF laws and
regulations.

We updated our understanding and tested the key controls over
the Client Onboarding, Enhanced due diligence, Transaclion
monitoring processes and reviewed their compliance with
AMLU/CTPF laws and regulations.

We discussed and reviewed the communication with the FCMC
in order to identify undisclosed or unrecorded violations noted by
the regulatory institution and, if such are identified, 1o assess their
possible impact on the financial statements.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures relating the
matter in Note 4(i} to the financial statements.

Reporting on other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:

» the Management Report, as set out on pages 3 to 6 of the accompanying Annual Report;
e the Statement on Management Responsibility, as set out on page 7 of the accompanying Annual Report;

but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon, except as described in the Other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the legislation of the Republic
of Latvia section of our report.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated,

If, based on the work we have performed and in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Bank and their
environment obtained in the course of our audit, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required 1o report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other reporting responsibifities in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Latvia

We have other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia with respect lo
the Management Report. These additional reporting responsibilities are beyond those required under the ISAs.

Qur responsibility is to consider whether the Management Report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Regulation No. 113 “Regulation on the Preparation of Annual Accounts and Annual Consolidated Accounts for Banks,
Investment Brokerage Firms and Investment Management Companies™ of the Financial and Capital Market Commission of the
Republic of Latvia.

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion:

¢ the information given in the Management Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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e the Management Report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Regulation No. 113
“Regulation on the Preparation of Annual Accounts and Annual Consofidated Accounts for Banks, Investment
Brokerage Firms and Investment Management Companies” of the Financial and Capital Market Commission of the
Republic of Latvia.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and for such internal control as management

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's and the Bank's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated fo going concem and using the going concern basis of accounting

unless management either intends to liquidate the Group and the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's and the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and fo issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, butis not a guarantes that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the

aggregate, they could reasonably be expecied to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
slatements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and oblain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of interal control.

»  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's and the
Bank's internal control,

»  Evaluale the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to evenls or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s and the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, fulure events or conditions may cause the Group and the Bank to
cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financia! statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation,

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entifies or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Giobal Limited
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit,

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other reporting responsibilities and confirmations required by the legislation of the Republic of Latvia and European
Union when providing audit services to public interest entities

We were first appointed as auditors of the Group and the Bank on 29t September 2017 by Shareholders of the Bank. Our
appointment has been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement
appointment of 5 years,

We confirm that:
¢ our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report presented to the Audit Committee of the Bank;

» as stipulated in paragraph 37¢ of the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia we have not provided to the
Group and the Bank the prohibited non-audit services (NASs) referred to in EU Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. We
also remained independent of the audited entity in conducting the audit.

The responsible certified auditor on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Diana Krijane.

ERNST & YOUNG BALTIC SIA
Licence No. 17

./,-p-v-r Py S e A o ;—)’7 S S TR
Diéna Kridjane :
Chairperson of the Board
Latvian Certified Auditor
Certificate No. 124

Riga, 29 April 2022

A member firm 3f Ernst & Young Global L:mited




Consolidated and Bank's Financial Statements

Consolidated and Bank’s Statement of Comprehensive Income

2021 2021 2020
Notes Group Bank Group
EUR EUR EUR

2020
Bank
EUR

Interest revenue calculated using effective interest rate
method

Interest expense

4,793,736 4,893,857 5178893 5,345,275

5
Other interest and similar income 5 59,709 59,709 344,255 344,255
5 (1.351,444) (1,351,444) (2,308,714) (2,303,194)

Net interest income _ _ 5 3,502,001 3,602,122 3,214,434 3,386,336

Reversal of allowances for loan impairment )
Net interest income after allowances for loan

12132028 2629457 2,661,375 1,299010 1,294,819
6,131,458 6,263,497 4,513,444 4,681,155

impairment_ S i — TS :

Fee and commission income 6 2,843,668 2,843,988 3520495 3,520,759

Fee and commission expense 6 (224,311)  (224,178)  (356,723)  (356,591)
_Net fee and commission income 6 2,619,357 2,619,810 3,163,772 3,164,168

Profit/(loss) from sale of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

Loss from revaluation of securities at fair value through
profit or loss, net

Profit/(loss) from derivative financial instruments
revaluation, net

(2,102) (2,102) 43,138

Gain from trading in foreign currencies, net 175,123 175,123 808,468 808,468
Gain/(loss) from foreign exchange translation, net 72,966 72,966 (4,989) {4,989
Dividend income 16,19 8,043 10,008,043 10,854 10,854
Other operating income 8 289,197 286,917 443,012 420,626
_Total operating income ) - 9,251,826 19,382,038 8,882,211 9,027,932
Administrative expense 7 (7.093,961) (6,911,151) (7.244,796) (7,145,649)
Amortization and depreciation charges 17,18 (378,233) (378,233) (367,690) (367,690
Other income 9 14,298,744 876119 453317 453,317
Other expense 9 (535,039) (4,397,562) (1,117,096} (1,114,629)
Profit before corporate income tax _ 15,543,337 8,571,211 605,946 853,281
Corporate income tax 10 {2622,278)  (134276)  (139,596) (138,603)
Net profit for the year attributable to: - o 12,921,059 8,436,935 466,350 714,678
shareholders of the Bank 12,871425 8,436,935 549,838 714,678
non-controlling interest 49,634 - (83,488) =

Other comprehensive income
Items that cannot be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gain/(loss} on equity instruments at fair value through ather
comprehensive income
lterns that can be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gain/(loss) on debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

_Other comprehensive income total ="
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable
to:

(1,945) (1,945) 5617

43,138

{42,216) 42,216) (63,129 (63,129)

- - (32,359) (32,359}

13,556 13,556  (190,299)  (190,299)

5617

11,611 11,611  (184,682) (184,682)
12,932,670 8,448,546 281,668 529,996

“shareholders of the Bank R ' 12,883,036 8448546 365156 520,996

non-controlling interest 49,634 - (83,488)

The Consolidated and Bank's financiaf statgshents on pages 14 through 100 have been approved by the Council
and Board of the Bank and sigpeﬁ on théir behalf by:

Yuriy Rodin
hairman of the Council

The accompanying notes on pages 19 through 100 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated and Bank’s Statement of Financial Position

Assets
Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia
Balances due from banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Investment in subsidiary
Praperty and equipment, and right-of-use asseats
Intangible assets
Prepaid expense
_Total assets.
Liabilities
Balances due to banks
Deposits from customers
Other financial liabilities
Deferred income and accrued expense
Debt securities
Subordinated loans
Current income tax liabilities
_Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Revaluation reserve on equity instruments at fair value
Revaluation reserve on debt instruments at fair value
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent :
Non-controlling interest
Total equity
Total Habilities and equity
Off-balance sheet items
Contingent liabilities
Financial commitments
_Assets under management

The Consolidated and Bank’s financia
and Board of the Bank and sigpe

Notes

11
12
14

15

19

13
20
16
18
17

22
24
25
23
35

27

31.12.2021
Group

EUR

82,900,231
38,393,662
1,607,310

30,902,143

235618

83,259,093
4,792,557

12,872,931
475,426
181,858

255,620,829

208,333,160
1,326,260
835,026

594,315

211,088,761

32,334,756
6

46,490
3,672
12,147,144

44,532,068

44,532,068

255,620,829 256,188,875

7,032,383
45,541,858

64,832,077

31122021 31.12.2020  31.122020
Bank Group Bank

EUR EUR EUR
82,900,231 67,749,254 67,749,254
38,393,662 40,859,902 40,859,902
1,607,310 13,394,913 13,394,913
30,902,143 46,448,754 46,448,754
235,618 221,711 221,711
83,259,093 64,980,255 68,628,156
4,776,631 17,210,951 4,991,082
583,972 - 6,700,000
12,872,931 13,092,753 13,092,753
475,426 437,088 437,088
181,858 148,695 148,695
256,188,875 264,544,276 262,072,308
e 5,400 5,400
209,730,323 204,612,329 205,430,951
1,216,131 538,650 536,360
835,026 739,910 739,914

- 16,384,025 16,384,025

- 3016117 3,016,117

1,645 2,337 2,337
211,783,125 225,298,768 226,115,104
32,334,756 32,334,756 32,334,756
6 6 6

46,490 32,934 32,934
3672 5617 5,617
12,020,826 3,831,829 3,583,891
44,405,750 36,205,142 35,957,204
- 3040366 -
44,405,750 39,245,508 35,957,204
264,544,276 262,072,308

7,032,383 9,550,225 9,550,225
45,541,858 13,722,190 13,722,190
64,832,077 54,707,966 54,707,966

Yuriy Rodin
hairman of the Council

The accompanying notes on pages 19 through 100 form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to shareholders of the Bank —
Revaluation  Revaluation
reserve on reserve on

debt equity Non-

Share Retained instruments at  instruments controlling Total

capital Reserves  earnings fair value  at fair value Total interest equity
L EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Balance as at
31 December
2019 _ 32,334,756 6 3,281,991 - 223,233 35,839,986 533,854 36,373,840
Profit for the
year - - 549,838 - - 549,838  (83,488) 466,350
Change in the
revaluation
reseve - - S 5617 (190299)  (184682) - (184,682)
Total
comprehensive
income for the
year - - - 549,838 5617 (190,299) 365,156 (83,488) 281,668
Increase in
subsidiary’s

share capital . . - 2,590,000 2,590,000

Balance as at
31 December
_2020 32,334,756 6 3,831,829 5,617 32,934 36,205,142 3,040,366 39,245,508

Profit for the

year - - 12,871,425 - - 12,871,425 49,634 12,921,060
Change in

revaluation

_reserve ) S - - : 1,945) 13,556 11,611 - 116N
Total

comprehensive

income for the

_Yyear - -12,871,425 (1,945) 13,556 12,883,036 49,634 12,932,671
Decrease in

subsidiary’s

share capital * - - - - - - (3,086,910) (3,086,910}
Marup from

acquisition of

investment in

subsidiary** - - (4,556,110} - - (4,556,110} - (4,556,110)
Acquisition of

non-controlling

_interest** = e - - S - - (30%0) (3,090
Balance as at
31 December

2021 32,334,756 6 12,147,144 3672 46490 44,532,068 - 44,532,068

* Decrease of the capital of the subsidiary SIA "Grunewald Residence” and payout to the non-controlling interests
EUR 3,086,910 (see also Note 16).

** The a cquisition of the shares of non-controlling interest for total amount of 4,559,200 EUR (33.62% of shares or
EUR 3,090 and as a result the markup from acquisition of investment in subsidiary 4,556,110 EUR) of the subsidiary
SIA Grunewald Residence {see also Note 16).

The accompanying notes on pages 19 through 100 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Bank’s Statement of Changes in Equity

Revaluation
Revaluation reserve on
c::;: Reserves l::::ii:;: reserve on debt equity Total
instruments at instruments
fair value at fair value
EUR EUR EUR _EUR EUR EUR
Balance as at
_31 December 2019 32,334,756 6 2869213 - 223,233 35,427,208
Profit for the year - - 714,678 - 714,678
Change in revaluation
reserve = - 5617 (190,299)  (184,682)
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 714,678 5.617 (190,299) 529,996
Balance as at
31 December 2020 32,334,756 6 3,583,894 5,617 32,934 35,957,204
Profit for the year - 8,436,935 - - 8,436,935
Change in revaluation
reserve = - - (1,945) 13,556 11,611
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 8,436,935 (1,945) 13,556 8,448,546
Balance as at
31 December 2021 32,334,756 6 12,020,826 3,672 46,490 44,405,750

The accompanying notes on pages 19 through 100 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated and Bank’s Statement of Cash Flows

Notes
Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Interest received
Interest paid
Fees and commission received 6
Fees and commission paid 6

Income/(loss) received from sale financial assets
measured at FVPL
Income received from foreign exchange
Other operating income received *
Personnel expenses paid
Administrative and other operating expenses paid
Income tax paid
Cash flows generated from operating activities before
changes in operating assets and liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets measured
at FVPL
(Increase)/decrease in debt instruments
measured at FVOCI
{Increase)/decrease in balances due from banks
(Increase)} in loans and advances to customers, net
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
Increase in deposits from customers, net
(Decreasefincrease ) in balanced due to banks
Increase in other liabilities, net
Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities
_Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Purchase of shares in subsidiary 16
Purchase of intangible assets 17
Purchase of property and equipment 18
Net cash flows generated from /(used in) investing
activities o
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
(Decrease)/Increase in subsidiary's share capital**
The acquisition of the shares of non-controlling interest 16
Dividends received 16,19
Repayment of debt securities
Repayment of the Subordinated loans
Repayment of the principal amount of lease
liabilities
Net cash flows generated from /(used in) financing
_activities B B _
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
_Yyear

21

21

2021
Group
EUR

4,967,879
(1,436,136)
2,843,668
(224,311)

(376)

175,123
26,705,117
(5,220,881)
{2,109,382)
{2,030,675)

23,670,026

15,398,382

15,310,993

1,135,825
(9,581,631)
(280,263)
(3,851,743)
(5,400)
825,433
42,621,622

{199.159)
(1.137)

{200,290)

(3.086,910)
{4,559,200)
8,043
{16,817,980)
(3.038,223)

(46,636)

(27,540,906)

(3,037,703)
11,842,723
79,424,802

91,267,525

91,267,525

2021 2020 2020
Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR
5,068,000 5,607,514 5,773,896
(1435318)  (2371473)  (2,349,175)
2,843,988 3,520,495 3,520,759
(224,178) (356,723) (356,591)
(376) 5,990 5,990
175,123 850,808 850,808
286,918 445597 437,291
(5205492)  (5431410)  (5425,007)
(1,839,581)  (2687.337)  (2.404,155)
(134,968) (138,016) (137,398)
(465,884)  (554,555) (83.582)
15,398,382 12,868,040 12,868,040
15,310,993  (46,448754)  (46,448,754)
1,135,825  (31,058,469)  (31,058,469)
(5902,631)  (14,072,300) (13,197,300}
417,296 7,610,563 7,490,090
(3273202)  (8952365)  (8,587,865)
(5.400) 5,400 5,400
825,433 419,181 1,419,181
23,440,812  (80,183,259) (77,593,259)
{4,559,200) Z -
(199,159) (120,463) (120,463)
(1,131) (48,395) (48,395)
(4,759,490) (168,858) (168,858)
6093900  2.590,000 T
10,008,043 :
(16,817,980} : -
(3.038223)  (5381,701) (5,381,701
(46,636) (67,169) (67,169)
(3.800,896)  (2,858,870)  (5,448,870)
(3037,703)  (1,669,181)  (1,669,181)
11,842,723 (84,880,168) (84,880,168)
79,424,802  164,304970 164,304,970
79,424,802

79,424,802

The accompanying notes on pages 19 through 100 form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Consolidated and Bank’s Statement of Cash Flows (cont'd)

* The increase in other operating income received in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is formed
by the funds received as the result of the transaction on the sale of the immovable property owned by
the subsidiary company for 26,500,000 EUR . For more detailed information, see Note 16.

** The shareholders of the Bank's subsidiary resolved to reduce the share capital of SIA Grunewald
Residence from 9,190,000 EUR to 9,190 EUR . On the basis of this decision, SIA Grunewald Residence
repaid the shareholder’s contribution of 9,180,810 EUR, and in line the amount of owned shares,
6,093,900 EUR was paid to the Bank and 3,086,910 EUR was paid to non-controlling interest
shareholders. For more detailed information, see Note 16.

Notes to the financial statements
1. Incorporation and principal activities

AS Regionala investiciju banka (hereinafter - the Bank) provides financial services to corporate customers
and private individuals. In 2005, the Bank established a representative office in Odessa (Ukraine). In 2010,
a representative office was established in representative office in Brussels, the capital of Belgium.

In August 2016, the Bank established a 100% subsidiary - the limited liability company Grunewald
Residence, reg. No 40203014344, whose share capital is EUR 9,190. (31 December 2020: EUR 9,150,000).

As at 371 December 2021, the Bank's equity interest in the subsidiary was 100.00% (31 December 2020:
66.38%).

The Bank and the limited liability company Grunewald Residence together form a group (hereinafter -
the Group), operating in the area of financial services and real estate.

The legal address of the Bank 's principal place of business is;

JAlundna iela 2

LV-1010, Riga

Latvia

The legal address of SIA Grunewald Residence principal place of business is:
J. Alunana iela 2

LV-1010, Riga

Latvia

The Bank has no other representative offices, subsidiaries or other entities, except for the above
mentiched.

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Bank’s Council and Board on 29 April 2022.
2. Operating environment of the Group and the Bank

The Latvian economy was negatively affected by the worsening epidemiological situation, resulting in
lockdown and severe restrictions. Private consumption started to recover in the third quarter, but its
positive impact on the Latvian economy was undermined by the fact that, as a result of the austerity
measures, residents of Latvia spent a large part of their savings abroad. According to operational data,
in the last quarter of 2021, GDP increased by 3.1% (seasonally adjusted). In 2021, such sectors as
accommodation and catering as well as the arts, entertainment and recreation continued to be most
affected by the Covid-19 pandemic; in the construction sector the voiume decline was largely due to the
rising costs, experiencing particular significant increases in the prices of timber and metals. The real
estate, agriculture and forestry sectors underwent a slight decline. in other key sectors, economic activity
increased compared to 2020. In 2021, the savings rate of the population was on an upward trend, but
considering the current and expected price rises, the savings rate might decline in the coming months.
Inflation rates in Latvia continued to rise because of the rising global energy prices, reaching +7.9% in
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
2. Operating environment of the Group and the Bank (cont'd)

December against December 2020. Taking into account deflation at the beginning of the year, the price
level rose by 3.3% on average in 2021. Latvia's inflation forecast for 2022 has been raised to 6.1%.The
Latvian banking sector remained broadly stable - the overall negative impact of the pandemic on asset
quality was not material. Loans to non-bank customers showed a slight increase, with household
demand for housing rising significantly. in corporate lending, the negative impact of Covid-19 was
mitigated by support measures offered by the state and credit institutions. Average liquidity ratios in
the banking sector remained unchanged, significantly above the minimum requirements. Capital ratios
remained at a consistently high level and the banking system as a whole was profitable.

At the end of the reporting period evidence suggests that the rapid spread of the Omicron variant of
the coronavirus causing the prolongation of the state of emergency will act as a brake on economic
growth in Latvia in early 2022. In parallel, rising geopolitical risks between Ukraine and Russia that
escalated to military operation on February 24, 2022 may affect not only the further development of
energy prices, but also the dynamics of investment and foreign trade; however, all in all a favorable year
is forecast for the further development of the Latvian economy.

The Bank's operations are influenced by trends and events in the Ukrainian market as the Bank
cooperates closely with Pivdennij Bank, a Ukrainian public joint stock company, and some of the Bank's
loans are issued to companies whose business activities are related to Ukraine, and some of deposits
are attracted from the residents of Ukraine.

The table below presents the total assets and liabilities of the Bank and the Group subject to the Ukraine
country risk as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:
31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020

Group Bank Group Bank
EUR ‘000 EUR "000 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000

Statement of financial position assets subject to
Ukraine country risk:

Balances due from banks 586 586 9,051 9,051
Loans issued and other receivables 30,643 30,643 24,371 24,37
Other assets 517 517 872 872
_Total 31,746 31,746 34,294 34,294

Statemnent of financial ﬁasition financial
liabilities subject to Ukraine country risk:

Balances due to banks - - 5 5
Deposits 41,784 41,784 60,771 60,771
Total i ) 41,784 41,784 60,776 60,776
Off-balance sheet items subject to the Ukraine

country risk:

Off-balance sheet financial commitments 112 112 2,700 2,700
Total ) _ 112 112 2,700 2,700

The Bank complies with the limit set by the FCMC on the concentration of exposures in Ukraine equal
to the Bank's tier 1 capital (Tier 1 capital is determined accordiing Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 Article 25). In addition, Bank sets limits on the
concen‘tration of assets by countries, counterparties and transaction types, sectors, and types of
collateral,
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
2. Operating environment of the Group and the Bank (cont'd)

According to the estimates of the Central Bank of Ukraine, the real GDP of Ukraine grew by around 3%
in 2021. The economic recovery has been underpinned by resilient consumer demand, rising business
investment after the crisis and record high crop yields. However, the recovery was slower than expected.
It was affected by the rising energy prices and energy shortages, a slower recovery in the services sector,
capacity constraints in some manufacturing sectors and higher-than-expected pandemic-induced
losses. Taking into the account ECL downside scenario results that include geopolitical aspect and other
scenario results, which are described in more detail in Note 4(a), the Bank considers that ECL amount
calculated on 31.12.2021 under the base case scenario is sufficient as at 31.12.2021.

The base scenario calculated on 31.12.2021 did not include the current war scenario or event. Material
events have taken place that have not been taken into account in the ECL calculation at 31.12.2021, but
they may have financial statement effects in future reporting periods, ti. the geopolitical situation
between Ukraine and Russia has progressed from the state of uncertainty at the end of the year to
military conflict. In view of this fact the Bank analyzed financial assets and liabilities subject to the Ukraine
country risk impact on the Bank's profitability including possible changes in ECL under the downside
scenario, the volume and structure of payments with Ukraine, the structure of deposits and their impact
on liquidity. For the assessment, see Note 38.

3. Summary of significant accounting principles
(a) Going concern

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (hereinafter - IFRS), on a going concern basis. In preparation of the
financial statements on a going concern basis, the management considered the Group’s and Bank's
financial position, access to financial resources and analysed the impact of the recent financial crisis and
geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine in the future operations of the Group and the Bank.
Taking into consideration circumstances described in Note 38, which outlines the stress test performed
by the Management to assess the impact of the events after balance sheet date on the Group’s and
Bank’s liquidity and capital adequacy ratios, there are no material uncertainties related to going concern
of the Group and Bank as of today
(b) Currency used in the preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements are prepared in the euros (EUR), rounded to the nearest euro, unless stated
otherwi se. The functional and presentation currency of the Group, the Bank and its subsidiary is the euro.

(c) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value;
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are stated at fair value;

- buildings and land which are stated at revalued amounts being the fair value at the date of

valuation less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses;

- the repossessed real estate is stated at inventories at lower of cost and net realizable value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge
of current events and actions, the actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. The same
accounting policies were used consistently in the preparation of the financial statements for the year
2021, if compared to those of 2020.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)
(d) Consolidation

Subsidiaries, namely, the companies, in which the Group directly or indirectly has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies as well as the reallocation of income, are consolidated in the Group's
financial statements. Investments in subsidiaries in the Bank’s financial statements are stated at cost less
impairment, if any. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group and excluded from the consolidated financial statements from the date that control ceases.
Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The acquisition cost comprises
the assets transferred, shares issued or liabilities taken over at fair value as at the purchase date.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.. The excess
of the net assets purchased over the purchase price is recorded as a goodwill. All intra-group
transactions and balances and unrealized gains resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated, except where costs cannot be recovered.,

Accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

(e} Fair value measurement

The Group and the Bank measure financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either:

in the principal market for the asset or liability; or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group and the Bank. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group and the Bank use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assexts and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statemenits at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Group and the Bank determine whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value mieasurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)

(f Initial recognition

Date of recognition

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognized on a trade date, i.e,, on the date when the
Group and the Bank commit themselves to purchase an asset or liability. Regular way purchase or sale
is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Initial measurement

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the financial instrument’s
contractual terms and the business model selected for managing them. Financial instruments, except
financial assets and financial liabilities stated at fair value through profit or loss, are initially measured at
fair value plus or minus transaction costs.

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

In accordance with IFRS 9, all debt-based financial assets which do not meet the ‘solely payments of
principal and interest’ criterion, at initial recognition are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Under this criterion, the debt instruments which are not in line with ‘basic lending arrangement’, e.g.,
instruments which contain embedded conversion options or non-recourse loans, are measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Debt-based financial assets which do meet the ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ criterion, at
initial recognition are measured on the basis of a business model under which the instruments are
managed:
- Instruments managed under the 'hold to collect’ business model are measured at amortized
cost;
- Instruments managed under the 'hold to collect and sell’ business model are measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);
= Instruments managed under other business models, including financial assets held for trading,
are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

Equity instruments at initial recognition are measured at fair value through profit or loss, unless the
financial asset not held for trading is irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Regarding investment in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, all
realized and unrealized gains and losses, excluding income from dividends, are recognized in other
comprerhensive income as items that cannot be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

The Group and the Bank classify all financial assets depending on the business model selected for
managing assets and the asset's contractual terms, which are measured:
- at amortized cost;
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);
- at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The Group and the Bank classify and measure derivative financial instruments and financial assets held
for tradling at FVPL. The Group and the Bank may measure financial instruments at FVPL if such
measurement eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency. Debt
instrumients acquired in the liquidity portfolio and providing the Bank's liquidity reserve both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling them the Group and the Bank classify and measure at FVOCI.

Financial liabilities, other than loans and borrowings and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized
costor at FVPL if held for trading or are derivative financial instruments.
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3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)
(f) Initial recognition (cont'd)

Balances due from banks, loans to customers, investments in securities at amortized cost

The Group and the Bank only measure the balances due from banks, loans to customers and other
financial investments at amortized cost when both of the following conditions are met:

- a financial asset is held under a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows;

- the contractual cash flows of an asset give rise to payments on specified dates that are solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

A more detailed information on the above conditions is provided below.

Business model assessment

The Group and the Bank determine the business model at a level that reflects the way groups of financial
assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective.

The business model of the Group and the Bank is not determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis,

rather it is assessed at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable evidence, for
example:

how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business
model are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and the way those risks are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated - e.g., whether the compensation is based on
the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected;

the expected frequency, volume and timing of sales also are significant aspects to be considered
in the assessment carried out by the Group and the Bank.

The assessment of a business model is performed on the basis of scenarios that are reasonably expected
to occur, excluding ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. If cash flows, subsequent to initial recognition,
are realized in a way that is different from the Group and Bank's initial expectations, the Group and the
Bank do not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but
consider this information in assessing the business model for newly generated or newly acquired
financial assets.

SPP| test

As a second step in determining the appropriate classification category the Group and the Bank assess
the financial asset's contractual terms in order to determine whether the financial asset meets the SPPI
test.

For the purpose of this test, a principal is defined as fair value of a financial asset at initial recognition,
which may change over the life of a financial instrument (for example, if there are repayments of principal
or amo rtization of premium/discount).

In a lending arrangement, most significant interest components usually are consideration for the time
value of money and credit risk. For the SPPI test purposes, the Group and the Bank apply judgment and
consider relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated and the period
for which the interest rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that is unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, do not give rise to contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. In
such cases the financial asset is measured at FVPL.
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(f) Initial recognition (cont'd)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise debt securities held
by the Group and the Bank for trading purposes. They are accounted for at fair value with all gains and
losses from revaluation and trading reported in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest earned
while holding trading securities is reported as interest income.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets held for trading are recognized at trade date,
which is the date that the Group and the Bank commit to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are derecognized when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Group and the Bank have transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

The Group and the Bank, in accordance with IFRS 9, apply a classification to debt instruments measured
at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met;

an instrument is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets;
the financial asset’s contractual terms meet the SPPI test.

Debt instruments designated at FVOC| are subsequently measured at fair value recognizing gain or loss
resulting from changes in the fair value in other comprehensive income. For debt instruments at fair
value through FVOCI, interest income and foreign exchange gain or loss are recognized in the statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCl is recycled to profit or loss.

Expected credit loss (ECLs) on debt instruments measured at FVOCi do not reduce the carrying amount
of these financial assets in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an
amount equal to an allowance, which would be established if the assets were measured at amortized
cost, is recognized in other comprehensive income as ‘accumulated impairment amount’, with a
corresponding amount debited to the statement of profit or loss. Total accumulated gains/losses
recognized in other comprehensive income are recycled to the statement of profit or loss upon
derecogpnition of the respective asset.

Equity instruments measured at FVYOCI

The Group and the Bank, upon initial recognition, often elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments
as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCl when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined
on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Group and the Bank benefit from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
instrumients designated at FVOC) are not subject to impairment assessment. Upon disposal of these
instruments, any remaining balance in the revaluation reserve relating to the asset disposed of is
transferred directly to retained earnings.

Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

The Group and the Bank provide financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

25
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(f) Initial recognition (cont'd)

Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments {cont'd}

Financial guarantees represent irrevocable commitments to make payments in the event that a customer
cannot meet its obligations to third parties and carry the same credit risk as loans. Financial guarantees,
namely, premiums received, are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value. After initial
recognition, the Group’s and Bank'’s liabilities arising from guarantees are measured at the higher of the
amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the statement of profit or loss,
and and the ECL as defined under IFRS 9.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credit are liabilities whereby the Group and the Bank, during
the commitment period, must issue a loan to the customer under agreed upon terms are not recognized
on the statement of financial position. However, in accordance with IFRS 9, the Group and the Bank
calculate and recognize ECL on these exposures which are booked as a provision on the statement of
financial position.

Non-financial guarantees

Non-financial guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails to perform a
contractual obligation. Non-financial guarantees do not transfer credit risk. The risk under non-financial
guarantee contracts is the possibility that the failure to perform the contractual obligation by another
party occurs. Therefore, non-financial guarantees are not considered financial instruments and thus do
not fall in scope of IFRS 9, but in IAS 37.

(9) Income and expense recognition

Interest income and expense are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest-
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective interest
method is a method for calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability based
on the recognition of interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.

The Group and the Bank calculate interest revenue on debt financial assets measured at amortized cost
or at FVOCI by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than credit-
impaired assets. When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired, the Group and the Bank calculate
interest revenue by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If
the financial assets cure and are no longer credit-impaired, the Group and the Bank revert to calculating
interest revenue on a gross basis.

Commissions received or incurred in respect of origination of financial assets or funding are deferred
and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate applied to the asset or liability.
Commissions on servicing of settlement accounts are recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income on a regular basis throughout the duration of the customer contract. Other fees and
commissions, including those related to trust activities, are credited and/or charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as earned/incurred.

(h)} Foreign currency revaluation
Functional and presentation currency

The funictional currency of the Bank and the Group companies is the currency of the primary economic
envirorsment in which the Group and the Bank operate. The financial statements are presented in the
euros (EUR), which is the Bank’s functional and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreigr currency transactions have been recalculated into the euro applying the rate determined by the
conversation procedure between central banks of the European System of Central Banks and other
central banks and which is published on the European Central Bank's website. To those foreign
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3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)
(h) Foreign currency revaluation (cont'd)

currencies, for which the ECB does not publish the EUR reference rate, the foreign currency exchange
rates published by Bloomberg are applied. Any gain or loss resulting from a change in exchange rates is
included in the statement of comprehensive income as profit or loss from revaluation of foreign currency
positions,

During the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and the Bank, the most commonly used
currency exchange rates (foreign currency units against one EUR) were as follows

Reporting date usD
31 December 2021 1.1326
31 December 2020 1.2271

{i) Income taxes
Income taxes include current and deferred taxes.

Legal entities have not been required to pay income tax on earned profits starting from 1 January 2018
in accordance with amendments made to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the Republic of Latvia.
Corporate income tax is paid on distributed profits and deemed profit distributions.

Both distributed profits and deemed profit distributions are subject to the tax rate of 20 per cent of their
gross amount, or 20/80 of net expense. Corporate income tax on dividends is recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as expense in the reporting period when respective dividends
are declared, while, as regards other deemed profit items, at the time when expense is incurred in the
reporting year. No provision is recognized for income tax payable on a dividend distribution before
dividends are declared but information on the contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

(J) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for all temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying value for accounting purposes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realized.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as
the liability to pay the related dividend is recognized.

(k) Cash and it’s equivalents

Cash and its equivalents comprise cash and demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia and other credit
institutions, due to and from other credit institutions with original maturity of 3 months or less.

() Amount due from other credit institutions

Amounts due from other credit institutions are recorded when the Group and the Bank advances money
to counterparty banks with no intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-derivative receivable due
on fixed or determinable dates. Amounts due from other credit institutions are carried at amortized cost.
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3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)

(m) Loans and allowances for loan impairment

Overview

Impairment is determined using the expected credit loss model. The Group and the Bank group its loans
into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as decribed below:

Stage 1 applies to assets whose credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition.
Stage 2 applies to assets with a significant increase in credit risk.

Stage 3 applies to assets for which life cycle expected credit losses apply (ECL).

POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition

Significant increase in credit risk

At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the Bank determine whether there has been any
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In case of a significant increase, quantitative
and qualitative indicators are analyzed. The assessment requires the use of both historical and forward
looking information.

Irrespective of the quantitative indicator, the following backstop indicators trigger a significant increase
in credit risk:

- contractual payments are more than 30 days but less than 90 days past due;

- financial assets are included in ,The List of Customers with Early Signs of Deterioration in Credit
Quality" (Watch List);

- forborne financial assets (modifications or concessions to the original terms of loans as a
response to the borrower's financial difficulties have been granted). Prior backstop indicators
usually overlap with the quantitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk.

If credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, a lifetime ECL is recognized and the
financial instrument is moved to Stage 2. If in subsequent reporting periods the credit quality of the
financial instrument improves so that it is no longer credit-impaired, the financial asset is transferred
back to Stage 1. In case of its continuous deterioration, it is moved to Stage 3.

Definition of default

Defaulted financial instruments are included in Stage 3. For accounting purposes, the Group and the
Bank apply the definition of default in the Capital Requirements Regulation (Article 178 of Regulation
(EV) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential
requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012),
i.e. financial assets that are past due for more than 90 days, and also forborne exposures which has met
a below listed criteria:

Loan forbearance which will most likely diminish financial commitments;
- New forbearance measures are set for a forborne exposure;

- The number of days past due for a forborne exposure exceeds 30 days.
- An exposure has met any criteria of unlikely to pay list.

Forborrae exposures

Forborme exposures are debt contracts regarding which forbearance measures have been applied.
Forbearance measures consist of concessions to a debtor that is experiencing or about to experience
difficulties in meeting its financial commitments (‘financial difficulties’). Forborne exposures are classified
under Stage 2 for the ECL assessment purposes. The Group and the Bank derecognize a financial asset,
e.g.. aloan to customer, if a new agreement has been reached on such terms and conditions of the loan
that it axctually becomes a new.
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(m) Loans and allowances for loan impairment (cont'd)
Forborne exposures (cont'd)

Once an exposure has been classified as forborne, it wil remain forborne for a minimum 24-month
probation period. In order for the loan to be reclassified out of forborne category, the customer has to
meet all of the following criteria:

= Al of its facilities have to be considered performing;

- The probation period of two years has passed from the date forborne conract was considered
performing;

- Regular payments of more than insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made
during all the probation period;

- The Client does not have any contracts that are more than 30 days past due.

In order to decide whether forborne loans are to be classified as Stage 3 assets for ECL assessment
purposes, the Group and the Bank assesses the following:

- The adequacy and observance of the loan payment schedule (initial and further payment
schedules), which, inter alia, includes a repeated non-observance of the payment schedule,
changes in the payment schedule in order to avoid any delays, or the payment schedule is based
on forecasts which are not based on macroeconomic forecasts or realistic assumptions
regarding the borrower’s capability of repaying debt obligations;

- Whether the loan agreement includes terms which postpone the deadline of regular repayments
in a way that hinders the assessment of conformity to the set classification, for example, if the
repayment periods of the principal amount are postponed for more than two years.

Other criteria for forborne loans to be classified as Stage 3 assets are:

- Loan forbearance which will most likely diminish financial commitments;
- New forbearance measures are set for a forborne exposure;

- The number of days past due for a forborne exposure exceeds 30 days.
- An exposure has met any criteria of unlikely to pay list.

If there are changes which do not result in derecognition, the Group and the Bank also reassess whether
there is no significant increase in credit risk and whether the assets should be classified as credit-
impaired assets. If the assets are classified as credit-impaired assets they will remain under Stage 3 at
feast for a 12-month trial period to be reclassified to Stage 2, and 24-months to be reclassified to Stage 1.
The forborne exposure is to be reclassified out of Stage 3 if regular payments of more than an
insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during the second half of the probation
period. The forborne exposure is reclassified from Stage 3 if, during the review period, the borrower has
made regular payments to the amount equivalent to all previous arrears (if there were arrears at the time
the relief was granted) or to that written off under the relief {if there were no arrears), or the borrower
has otherwise demonstrated the ability to comply with the forbearance measures.

(n) Sale and repurchase agreements

Sale and repurchase agreements are accounted for as financing transactions. Under sale and repurchase
agreements, where the Group and the Bank are transferors, assets transferred remain on the Group's
and Bank's statement of financial position and are subject to the Group's and Bank's usual accounting
policies, with the purchase price received included as a liability owed to the transferee. Where the Group
and the Bank are a transferee, the assets are not included in the Group's and Bank's statement of financial
position, but the purchase price paid by it to the transferor is included as an asset. Interest income or
expense arising from outstanding sale and repurchase agreements is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income over the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.
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(o) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments comprise various derivatives, inter alia, options, forwards, futures and
foreign currency and capital market transactions. Such financial instruments are held for trading and
stated at fair value. Fair values are based on quoted market prices or pricing models where the actual
market or contractual prices of the existing instruments as well as other factors are considered.

All derivatives are carried as financial assets when fair value is positive and as financial fiabilities when
fair value is negative. Any gain or loss arising from these instruments is taken to the statement of profit
or loss as net gain/ (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss or as
foreign currency exchange gain/ (loss) depending on the nature of the respective instrument.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-
derivative host contract—with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary
in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. An embedded derivative cause some or all of the cash flows
that otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate,
financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating
or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not
specific to a party to the contract. A derivative that is attached to a financial instrument but is
contractually transferable independently of that instrument, or has a different counterparty from that
instrument, is not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial instrument.

This is the way in which the Group and the Bank account for derivatives embedded in financial liabilities
and non-derivative host contracts. The classification of financial assets is based on the business model
and SPP| assessment, without separation of embedded derivatives (see also Note 3(e)).

{p) Repossessed collateral

Repossessed collateral represents real estate repossessed by the Group and the Bank for the purpose of
selling as collateral for the outstanding loans and is disclosed under other non-financial assets. The
repossessed real estate is stated in inventories at lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(q) Intangible assets

The acquired computer software licenses are recognized as intangible assets at cost, including any
expenditure that is directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Intangible assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding 5 years, on a straight-line basis.

(r) Property and equipment

The iterns of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
except buildings and land are measured at a revalued amount. The cost includes expenditure directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Such costs are depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset to write
down the cost of property and equipment to their residual values at the end of the useful life. The
estimated useful lives are, as follows:

Land is not depreciated
Building 50 years

Office equipment 10 years
Computers 3 years

Transport vehicles 5 years

Buildings and land under the property and equipment category are measured at a revalued amount. The
revalued amount is the fair value at the revaluation date less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss. The fair value of land and buildings is determined from market-based evidence by
appraisal that is normally undertaken by professionally qualified valuers at the end of the reporting year.
Revaluation gains are recorded under the heading of revaluation surplus and recognized in other
comprehensive income. A revaluation loss is initially taken to the revaluation surplus (and recorded in
other comprehensive income) related to these assets, if any, and subsequently included in profit or loss
for the reporting period (see Note 18).

The carrying values of property and equipment {except for the buildings and land) are reviewed for
impairment on a periodical basis. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds the estimated recoverable
amount and the respective changes in the value are not considered to be temporary, the value of the
corresponding asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount: the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of comprehensive
income,

(s) Leases
The Group and the Bank as lessees

At the contract inception, the Group and the Bank assess whether it contains a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration

The Group and the Bank apply a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group and the Bank recognize lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group and the Bank recognize right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease {i.e., the
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term
and the estimated useful lives of the assets, which for the lease of premises is 3 to 5 years,

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment (see Note 18).
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(s) Leases (cont'd)
Legse liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group and the Bank recognizes lease liabilities measured
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and the Bank and payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group and the Bank exercising the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group and the Bank use their
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the interest expense and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group and Bank’s lease liabilities are disclosed under Other financial liabilities (see Note 24),
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group and the Bank apply the short-term lease recognition exemption to their short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (i, those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). They also apply the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group and the Bank as lessors

As lessors, the Group and the Bank determine at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. If the Group and the Bank determine that the lease transfers substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset, the lease is a finance lease. Leases in which the
Group and the Bank do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

(t} Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets (or, where applicable, a portion of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar assets)
are recognized when:
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset have expired;

- the Group and the Bank have transferred the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset or retain the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset, but
assume an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a pass-through arrangement; and
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(t) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (cont'd)

either (a) the Group and the Bank have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group and the Bank have neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset,

Financial assets are written off, in full or in part, only when the Group and the Bank have no reasonable
expectation of recovery. If the amount to be written off exceeds the cumulative loss amount, the
difference is first considered as increase in allowance which then is set off against the gross carrying
amount. Any further recovery is included in credit loss expense. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is either
discharged or cancelled or expires. Where there has been an exchange between an existing borrower
and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms, or there has been a substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability, this transaction is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. A gain or
loss from extinguishment of the original financial liability is recognized in profit or loss.

(u) Deposits from customers

Deposits from customers are non-derivative liabilities to individuals, state or corporate customers and
are carried at amortized cost.

(v) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortized cost and any difference between net proceeds and the redemption
value is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

(w) Debt securities issued

The Group and the Bank recognize the issued debt securities at the date when the respective funds are
received. After initial recognition when these financial liabilities are stated at fair value, including direct
transaction costs, those are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
When issued debt securities are sold at a discount, the difference is amortized applying the effective
interest method until the debt matures and charged to the statement of comprehensive income as
interest expense.

(x) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group and the Bank have a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The assessment of provisions requires the application of management's judgment and assumptions on
the pro bability of an outflow of resources, the probability of recovery of resources from related sources
including collateral agreements and the amounts and timing of such outflows.

{y) Dividends

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Dividends declared after the
reporting date and before the financial statements are authorized for issue are disclosed in the
subsequent events note. Profit distribution and other appropriations are carried out according to the
Group’s and Bank's financial statements. The legislation of the Republic of Latvia stipulates retained
earnings to be the basis of dividend payment.

() Employee benefits

The Group and the Bank makes the State statutory social insurance contributions for state pension
insuran ce and to the state funded pension scheme in accordance with the legislation of Latvia The State
funded pension scheme is a defined contribution plan under which the Group and the Bank pay fixed
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3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)

(z) Employee benefits (cont'd)
contributions determined by the law and it will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the State pension insurance system or the State funded pension scheme is not able to
settle the liabilities to employees. Short-term employee benefits, including salaries and state statutory
social insurance contributions, bonuses and paid vacation benefits, are included in administrative
expenses on an accrual basis.

(aa) Trust operations

Funds managed or held in custody by the Group and the Bank on behalf of individuals, trusts and other
institutions are not regarded as assets of the Group and the Bank and, therefore, are disclosed in the
off-balance sheet.

Accounting for trust operations is separated from the Group's and Bank’s own accounting system, thus
ensuring separate accounting in a separate trust balance sheet for assets of each client, by client and by
type of assets under management.

(bb) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

(cc) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, as disclosed in the statement of financial
position, cannct be established using quoted market prices in an active market, the fair value is estimated
using various valuation techniques, including mathematical models, The data used in such models are
obtained from observable markets, if possible, in case it is not possible a certain judgment is required
for determining the fair value (see also Note 3(d)).

Impairrment loss on financial instruments

The Group and the Bank assess their assets for impairment on a regular basis. To estimate impairment
loss in accordance with IFRS 9 only for assets at amortizated costs and FVOCI (except equity instruments
at FVOCI), in determining the impairment loss and assessing significant increases in credit risk, the value
and timiing of future cash flows and collateral must be assessed (see also Note 3.

The impairment loss calculations for the Group's and Bank's assets are the result of the Bank's
provisioning model, which is based on a number of assumptions regarding the range of variables and
their interdependencies. The following estimates and judgements are used in determining impairment
of financial assets:

assessment of the criteria for a significant increase in credit risk and classification of loans in
Stage 1 or Stage 2;

- identification of default criteria and reclassification of loans to Stage 3;
information on forborne exposures and customers subject to watch list screening;

- interpretation of accounting and modelling assumptions to build the model, including various
formulas and input data;

- modelling and calculation of key parameters, including probability of default (PD), loss given
default (LGD), and exposure at default (EAD);

- identification of macroeconomic indicators and incorporating forward-looking information into
the model;
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(cc) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (cont'd)

Impairment loss on financial instruments (cont'd)

to assess the above indicators for the relevant future period, the weighted average of the
corresponding macroeconomic indicator, taken separately for each group of countries, and is
data forecast for the next three years is obtained twice per year from two publicly available
official data sources:
o for Latvia data is obtained from Ministry of Finance of Latvia and Bank of Latvia, updated
twice a year;
o for Ukraine data is obtained from National Bank of Ukraine and Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine, updated twice a year;
assessing individual impairment losses of Stage 3 assets, the Bank determing the weighted
average probability of two scenarious assessing the probability for base case and downside
scenarios;
assessing individual impairment losses of purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) assets
under four scenarios and determining the probability of those scenarios.

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis

Dependent on the factors below, the Group and the Bank calculate ECLs either on a collective or on an
individual basis. Asset classes where the Group and the Bank calculate ECL on an individual basis include:

> all Stage 3 assets;
> amounts due from banks;
> liquidity portfolio exposures.

The Bank's provisioning model was changed on 15 April 2021. Taking into account the specific nature
and structure of the Bank's loan portfolio, the approach to the probability of default (PD) calculation
methodology was changed, the loan portfolio was split according to country risk groups,
macroeconomic indicators and forward-looking information was incorporated into the provisioning
model.

Whenever impairment of financial assets is recalculated, the inputs and parameters are reviewed and, if
necessary, changed, taking into account the macroeconomic situation, the COVID-19 caused state of
emergency, etc.

As a result of the change in the Bank's provisioning model, the Bank recognized an ECL decrease of
EUR 765.3 thousand at the new model implementation date, i.e,, on 15 April 2021. If not changed until
the reporting date, the amount of ECL would have been by EUR 862.5 thousand higher.

Main reason for decrease related to ECL model change from Markov Matrix approach to Weibull fitting
approach, in addition to this other important changes are driven by lower PD and LGDs driven by the
following :
1) the Bank has divided credit portfolio by country, PD was calculated separately for each portfolio,
but in old model approach for whole credit portfolio;
2) PD calculated based on ten years history in new model approach, and based on three year
period in old model approach;
3) LGD calculated based on ten years history in new model approach, but in old model approach
calculated based on all Bank's history from the beginning of Bank's activity.

Impairrment of investments in subsidiaries (the Bank)

In the Bank's financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost. The Bank compares the
cost of the investment with the carrying amount of the subsidiary's net assets on a regular basis to
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(cc) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (cont'd)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries (the Bank) (cont'd)

ascertain whether there are no indications of impairment. If any indications of impairment are identified,
the recoverable amount of the investment is calculated on the basis of the estimated future free cash
flows of the subsidiary to equity. The future cash flows are based on the budgets and forecasts of the
subsidiary the reliability of which is assessed. Impairment loss is recognized when the decrease in the
value of the investment in the subsidiary is substantial and sustained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assessment of any possible indicators of impairment of non-financial assets is done at each reporting
date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate to feasible impairment of a non-
financial asset. If any such indication exists, an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount is made. Where
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its
recoverable amount. This written down amount constitutes an impairment [oss.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that
is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increase will
effectively be the reversal of an impairment loss.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options — the Group and the Bank
as lessees

The Group and the Bank determine the lease term as the non-canceilable term of the lease, together
with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or
any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group and the Bank have several lease contracts that include extension and termination options.
The Group and the Bank apply judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not
to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group and the Bank reassess the lease term if there is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within their control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew or to terminate {e.g. construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant
customization to the leased asset).

The Group and the Bank included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of premises
with shorter non-cancellable period (i.e., three to five years). The Group and the Bank typically exercise
the option to renew for these leases because there will be a significant negative effect on operations if
a replacement asset is not readily available. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options
are included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group and the Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, they
use their incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group and the Bank would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group and the Bank 'would have to pay’, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary's functional currency).

The Group and the Bank estimate the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and are required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).
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3. Summary of significant accounting principles (cont'd)
(dd) Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the
following amended IFRSs which have been adopted by the Group and the Bank as of 1 January 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 - IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments)

In August 2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments
provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate
(IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments
provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest rate to be
adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs
from discontinuing hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component.

There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity's financial
instruments and risk management strategy. While application is retrospective, an entity is not required
to restate prior periods. The Group and the Bank has assessed that there is not a material effect on the
financial statements.

IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts (Amendments)

The amendments to IFRS 4 change the fixed expiry date for the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts from applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, so that entities would be required to apply IFRS 9
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Group and the Bank has assessed that
there is not a material effect on the financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases-Covid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendment)

The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
Earlier application is permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at 28 May
2020. IASB amended the standard to provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic.
The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account for any change in lease
payments resulting from the covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the
change under IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions
are met:

- The change in |lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change.

= Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021,

- There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group and the Bank has assessed that there is not a material effect on the financial statements.
Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 with earlier application
permitted if both IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have
also been applied. In its March 2020 meeting the Board decided to defer the effective date to 2023. IFRS
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(dd) Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (cont'd)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont'd)
IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts {cont'd)

17 Insurance Contracts establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of insurance contracts issued. It also requires similar principles to be applied to reinsurance
contracts held and investment contracts with discretionary participation features issued. The objective
is to ensure that entities provide relevant information in a way that faithfully represents those
contracts. This information gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that
contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 have on the financial position, financial performance and cash
flows of an entity. The Group and the Bank has assessed that there is not a material effect on the
financial statements.

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (Amendments)

The amendments to IFRS 17 are effective, retrospectively, for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2023, with earlier application permitted. The amendments aim at helping companies
implement the Standard. In particular, the amendments are designed to reduce costs by simplifying
some requirements in the Standard, make financial performance easier to explain and ease transition by
deferring the effective date of the Standard to 2023 and by providing additiona! relief to reduce the
effort required when applying IFRS 17 for the first time. The Group and the Bank has assessed that there
is not a material effect on the financial statements.

IFRS 17: Insurance contracts — Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 — Comparative Information
(Amendments)

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early
application permitted respectively with IFRS 17. For entities that first apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 at the
same time, the amendment adds a transition option for a “classification overlay”, relating to comparative
information of financial assets. An entity applying the classification overlay to a financial asset shall
present comparative information as if the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 had
been applied to that financial asset. Also, in applying the classification overlay to a financial asset, an
entity is not required to apply the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The amendment is aimed at
helping entities to avoid temporary accounting mismatches between financial assets and insurance
contract liabilities, and therefore improve the usefulness of comparative information for users of financial
statements. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
those in 1AS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when
a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is
recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are
housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment
indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The
amend ments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.
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(dd) Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (cont'd)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont'd)

IAS T Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(Amendments)

The amendments were initially effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2022 with earlier application permitted. However, in response to the covid-19 pandemic, the Board has
deferred the effective date by one year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more time to
implement any classification changes resulting from the amendments. The amendments aim to promote
consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of
financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified as
current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial
position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any
asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also,
the amendments clarify the classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company
issuing own equity instruments.

In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft (ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that
are subject to covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. In particular,
the Board proposes narrow scope amendments to IAS 1 which effectively reverse the 2020 amendments
requiring entities to classify as current, liabilities subject to covenants that must only be complied with
within the next twelve months after the reporting period, if those covenants are not met at the end of
the reporting period. Instead, the proposals would require entities to present separately all non-current
liabilities subject to covenants to be complied with only within twelve months after the reporting period.
Furthermore, if entities do not comply with such future covenants at the end of the reporting period,
additional disclosures will be required. The proposals will become effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and will need be applied retrospectively in accordance with 1AS 8,
while early adoption is permitted. The Board has also proposed to delay the effective date of the 2020
amendments accordingly, such that entities will not be required to change current practice before the
proposed amendments come into effect. These Amendments, including ED proposals, have not yet been
endorsed by the EU.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments)

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier
application permitted. The |IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost
of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is
preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and
related cost in profit or loss.

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a

company includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a
contract is onerous.
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(dd) Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (cont'd)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont'd)

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the
lllustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16 Leases

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies
(Amendments): The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023
with earlier application permitted. The amendments provide guidance on the application of materiality
judgements to accounting policy disclosures. In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the
requirement to disclose 'significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose ‘material
accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are added in the Practice Statement to
assist in the application of the materiality concept when making judgements about accounting policy
disclosures. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates
(Amendments): The amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. The amendments
introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify what changes in accounting
estimates are and how these differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors. The
Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
{Amendments): The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023
with earlier application permitted. In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception under IAS 12 and specify how companies should account
for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Under the
amendments, the initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. It only applies if the recognition of a
lease asset and lease liability (or decommissioning liability and decommissioning asset component) give
rise to taxable and deductible temporary differences that are not equal. The Amendments have not yet
been endorsed by the EU.

4, Financial and other risk management

Risk management

Risk management is one of the Group's and the Bank’s strategic tasks. Risk Management Strategy has
been developed for the Group's and the Bank's risk management which covers management of the
following risks: credit risk, operational risk, market risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity
risk, co ncentration risk, country risk, money laundering and terrorism financing risk and other risks.

For the purpose of managing these risks, internal risk management policies and procedures have been
developed which are approved by the Council and/or Board of the Bank and implemented by the
responsible units of the Group and the Bank.

The Board of the Bank is responsible for the development and effective functioning of the risk
management system as well as ensuring the identification and management of the Group's and the
Bank's risks, including risk estimation, evaluation, oversight and preparation of reports through
implenmenting the risk identification and management policy set by the Council of the Bank and other
docum ents relating to risk management.
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Risk management (cont'd)

Risk Director is responsible for the risk control function in the Group and the Bank, oversees the risk
management system and co-ordinates actions of all structural units of the Group and the Bank related
to risk management. The main unit responsible for determination, evaluation and oversight of risks is
the Risk management Department, which is an independent unit whose functions are separated from
the functions of the business units.

The risk management system is being constantly improved in accordance with the Group's and the
Bank’s activities and external conditions influencing these activities. The regular oversight of this process
is performed by the Internal Audit Department.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of incurring losses in the event that a borrower (debtor) or a business partner is
unable to fulfil its obligations to the Group and the Bank in accordance with the provisions of the
contract. Credit risk is present in the Group's and the Bank's operations where the Group and the Bank
make claims against another person and which are reflected in the Group’s and the Bank's statement of
financial position and under off-balance sheet items.

The Group's and the Bank's principles for evaluation, oversight and acceptance of credit risk are
described and approved in its Credit Risk Management Strategy, Loan Policy, Business Partner Risk Policy
and Investment Portfolio Policy.

The Group and the Bank divide up and oversees their credit risk by setting limits of various types and
categories: acceptable risk limits for each borrower, a group of related borrowers, geographical regions,
business sectors, type and value of collateral, currency, term and ratings granted by international
agencies.

Credit risk exposures are monitored on a continuous basis through regular assessments of borrowers’
ability to meet interest and principal maturities and limits are adjusted as appropriate. The Group's and
the Bank's exposure to credit risk is managed and minimized by obtaining collaterals and guarantees
against credit exposures that are registered in the name of the Bank. The fair values of both are also
reviewed on a regular basis.

Credit—related commitments risks

The table below presents credit risk exposures relating to assets and off-balance sheet items:
31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020

Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Assets subject to credit risk:
Balances with the Bank of Latvia 82,900,231 82,900,231 67,749,254 67,749,254
Balances due from banks 38,393,662 38,393,662 40,859,902 40,859,902
Financial assets at FVPL 1,607,310 1,607,310 13,394,913 13,394,913
Debt instruments at FVOCI 30,902,143 30,902,143 46,448,754 46,448,754
Loans to customers 83,259,093 83,259,093 64,980,255 68,628,156
Other financial assets 2,383,901 2,367,975 2,143,348 1,791,713
Total 239,446,340 239,430,414 235,576,426 238,872,692
Off-balance sheet items subject to credit risk:
Contingent liabilities 7,032,383 7,032,383 9,550,225 9,550,225
Financial commitments 45,541,858 45,541,858 13,722,190 13,722,190
Total 52,574,241 52,574,241 23,272,415 23,272,415

The Group and the Bank estimate expected credit losses (ECL), to valuate expected present value of the
cash shortfalls discounted to approximate it to ECL. Cash shortfall is the difference between the cash
flows that are due to the entity in accordance with the contractual terms of a financial instrument and
the cas h flows that the entity expects to receive.
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4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Credit-related commitments risks (cont'd)

ECL calculation techniques and key elements are provided below:

PD Probability of default. This is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time
horizon.
EAD Exposure at Default. This is an estimate of the exposure at a future defauit date, taking into

account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments
of principal and interest, notwithstanding whether based on a contract or otherwise, and
expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

LGD Loss Given Default. This is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect
to receive, including from any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD

ECL allowance is based on the estimate of losses that result from all possible default events over the
period of 12 months (12m ECL), unless credit risk has increased significantly since the initial recognition
of exposure, in which case the allowance is based on the risk of default over lifetime (lifetime ECL). 12-
month ECLs are the portion of the lifetime ECLs that represent the ECLs resulting from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Both lifetime ECLs and 12-month ECLs are measured on an individual or collective basis depending on
the type of underlying portfolios of financial instruments. The Group and the Bank reflect the potential
future use of undrawn loan and credit card balances by applying the credit conversion factor of 75%
which corresponds to the size of the currently unused facilities, which will be used over a certain period.
The credit conversion factor is determined using relevant historical information and forecasts.

The Group and the Bank have established a policy for assessing at the end of each reporting period
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, considering the
change in the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument.

impairment assessment

The Group and the Bank are continuously monitoring all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine
whether an instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12m ECL or lifetime ECL, the Group and
the Bank assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

At every reporting date, the Group and the Bank assess whether credit risk with regard to an exposure
has increased significantly since initial recognition. The assessment of a significant increase in the Group
and the Bank's credit risk is based on the following elements:

> quantitative element;
> qQualitative element.
The main quantitative criterion is the number of days past due (hard criteria 30 days past due) and

significant deterioration of the internal creditworthiness of the Customer/borrower.

Other quantitative criteria that signal about an increase in credit risk can be used, if these criteria are
applicable and significant with regard to the borrower.

The Group and the Bank use quantitative information in 12mPD or LTPD measurement models and
includess it in the quantitative measurement. In cases when quantitative information cannot be included
in the quantitative measurement, qualitative factors are examined individually to determine whether
credit rrisk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
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4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

impairment assessment (cont'd)

The Group and the Bank determing the following absolute and relative limits, for significant PD changes,
it shall be the grounds to transfer an exposure at least to stage 2:
» |f the 12-month PD exceeds 20% for a financial asset on the reporting date, the asset
shall be automatically transferred to stage 2 (absolute criterion).
» [f the increase of the lifetime PD has reached 200% for a financial asset on the reporting
date since initial recognition, the asset shall be automatically reclassified to stage 2
{relative PD SICR criterion).
The list of indicators and indices, deterioration in which signals about an increase in credit risk, if it is

applicable and topical for the borrower:

> the exposure is included on the ‘List of Early Warning Signs of Deterioration in Credit Quality’ of
the Group and the Bank (watch list);

> the terms of the contracts have been amended to improve debt recovery which will not reduce
significantly the amount of financial commitments;

> the Group and the Bank consider the factors which might suggest potential violations of terms
even if the borrower is formally observing these terms;
overdue payments or other type of default in other banks (verification of the Credit Register data);
assigned external rating and trends;
other negative information regarding the key customers/counterparties/area of activity of the
borrower/suppliers.

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Group and the Bank apply
the same principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Asset classes where the Group and the Bank calculate ECL on a collective basis include ail Stage 1 and 2
assets.

Under the above procedure, the Group and the Bank organize their loans as Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3
and POCI as described below:

Stage 1: Upon initial recognition of a loan, the Group and the Bank recognize loss allowance based
on 12 -month ECLs. Stage 1 can also include exposures moved from Stage 2 if seeing
decrease of the respective credit risk.

Stage 2: Assets with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For these assets the
Group and the Bank recognize loss allowance based on lifetime ECL. Stage 2 can also
include exposures moved from Stage 3 if seeing decrease of the respective credit risk.

Stage 3: Financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these
assets the Group and the Bank recognize loss allowance based on lifetime ECL.
POCI: Purchased or originated as credit-impaired financial instruments. The classification of POCI

assets remains unchanged, i.e., a financial asset that is classified as POCI remains in that
group until the asset is derecognized. The classification as POCI is determined at the level
of the financial instrument.

Event of default and cure

The Group and the Bank consider a financial instrument in default and, accordingly Stage 3 (credit-
impaired financial asset) for ECL calculations, when contractual payments are 90 days past due. The
Group and the Bank consider the amounts due from banks in default and act, without delay, if the
demanded daily payments are not settled by the end of the business day as specified in individual
contracts. In performing a qualitative assessment as to whether a customer complies with their
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4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
{(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Event of default and cure (cont'd)

obligations, the Group and the Bank also consider various events that can indicate an inability to pay
(default events). In such cases, the Group and the Bank carefully consider whether it can be deemed that
the customer does not comply with their obligations and whether the respective exposure should be
classified in Stage 3 or Stage 2.
Such events are:

internal rating of the borrower indicating default or partial default;

a borrower asks an emergency funding from the Group and the Bank;

significant decrease in the value of underlying collateral if recovery of the loan is expected from

collateral;

significant decrease in the borrower’s turnover or loss of their key customer;

breach of the contractual terms not repudiated by the Group and the Bank;

debtor (or any legal entity of the debtor's group) files for bankruptcy;

debtor's listed debt or equity suspended at the primary exchange because of rumors or facts

about financial difficulties.

The policy of the Group and the Bank is to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ (it no longer meets
any of the default criteria) and, accordingly, to move it from Stage 3 if any of the default criteria other
than restructuring has not been in force at least for a consecutive period of 12 months to be reclassified
to Stage 2, and at least 24 months to be reclassified from Stage 3 to Stage 1. A decision on whether the
cured asset should be classified as Stage 1 or Stage 2 asset depends on the updated credit category
over the cure period and whether it indicates a significant increase in credit risk in comparison with initial
recognition.

Internal rating and PD estimation

The number of days past due is used as the principal indicator for calculation of PD and internal credit
rating for calculation of provisions. The PD rates are calculated for each of the following groups of delay:

> past due for less than 30 days;
> past due for 31-60 days;
> past due for 61-90 days,

Taking into account the specific nature, size, geographic and geopolitical risks of the Group and Bank's
portfolio, PDs are calculated separately for each group of loans using an adjustment factor. It is done to
replicate the cumulative default curve based on historically observed defaults in each period since the
financial instrument was issued with the objective of obtaining the best possible curve fit to historically
observed defaults with the fewest possible number of parameters/cbservations.

Taking into account the Group and the Bank's historical data and them to be representative and reliable,
the Group and the Bank divide the loan portfolio into two groups, each having its own PD:

o private individuals and legal entities - residents of Latvia;

o private individuals and legal entities — residents of other countries (Ukraine is designated as

the base country).

The PD ratios are recalculated at least quarterly for each group separately.
The PD calculation is based on data for at least the last 10 years before the end of the reporting
period .




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(@) Credit risk (cont'd)
Internal rating and PD estimation

Depending on the stage of the financial asset, the PD rate is calculated as the difference between the
cumulative PD rate at maturity of the asset and the one attributable to the period for which the asset
has been in the portfolio:

o for Stage 1financial assets, a cumulative PD rate that applies no more than 12 months ahead
for the relevant period of time that the asset has already been held in the portfolio;

o  for Stage 2 financial assets, the PD rate is calculated as the difference between the cumulative
PD rate at maturity of the asset and the one attributable to the period for which the
asset has been in the portfolio;

o  for Stage 2 forborne financial assets, the PD rate is calculated as the difference between the
cumulative PD rate at maturity of the asset and the cumulative original PD rate
attributable to that period of time assuming that the asset has started its life cycle in the
portfolio.

Exposure at default

An exposure at default (EAD) equals to the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject
to impairment assessment and it refers both to the customer's ability to increase risk, while
approximating a default event, and the potential early repayment. In order to measure EAD for Stage 1
exposure, the Group and the Bank assess the possible defaults over 12 months to calculate 12m ECL. For
Stage 2 and Stage 3, in case of default, events over the lifetime of the respective instruments are
considered.

For POCI assets, losses are calculated over the life of the asset. Losses expected at initial recognition are
referred to as initial impairment. In successive periods, only the cumulative change in the lifetime ECL of
the asset since initial recognition is recognized in profit or loss.

The Group and the Bank determine EAD, by modeling the range of possible outcomes over various
horizons in several scenarios. Subsequently, PD, as defined in IFRS 9, is assigned to each economic
scenario on the basis of the outcomes of the model used by the Group and the Bank.

Loss given default

The Group and the Bank assess the LGD values and the Bank's Asset and Liability Committee reviews
and approves thereof at least quarterly as well as whenever the Group and the Bank become aware of
information indicating significant deterioration in the quality of an asset or contingent liability.

The credit risk assessment is based on a standardized LGD assessment approach as a result of which a
certain LGD rate is obtained. Such LGD rates consider the expected EAD in comparison with the amount
expected to be recovered or obtained from collateral discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Forward-looking information

For determining the PD, and hence for the ECL modeling, the Group and the Bank consider for each
group rmacroeconomic indicators from each coutry two official data sources publicly available. The Group
and Bank use the weighted average of the corresponding macroeconomic indicator, taken separately
for eac h group of countries.

The historically calculated PD for each group is correlated with key macroeconomic indicators, such as
GDP at real prices, GDP at constant prices, inflation rate, unemployment rate, gross average wages, net
average wages, and consumer price index. The Group and the Bank apply to each group those
macroeconomic indicators whose quarterly growth relative to the previous period correlates better with
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4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Forward-looking information (cont'd)

the historically calculated PD. Given the correlation of historical PD data with macroeconomic data, the
Group and the Bank use the inflation rate and the unemployment rate for the group of legal entities and
private individuals - residents of Latvia and the GDP and the average gross monthly wage growth for the
group of legal entities and private individuals - non-residents. At least annually, the Group and the Bank
review the correlation with key macroeconomic indicators on a group-by-group basis and assesses
whether to use the same indicators for future ECL calculations or change them.

The Group and the Bank assess:

every sector of economy, in which the Bank has significant credit risk exposures;
macroeconomic data at a national level in every region, in which the Bank has significant credit
risk exposures;

relevant trends on real estate market;

other relevant information.

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to affect economy, the Group and the Bank constantly keep an
eye on the outbreaks of new variants of the virus and their impact on the Group and the Bank’s
customers in order to respond and assist the customer in a timely manner. Taking into account the
probability of the loan portfolio deteriorating due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
and the Bank has reviewed and analyzed it to determine the most exposed customer loan liabilities and
the probability of default, considering the industry and solvency of each individual borrower. Concerning
its loan portfolio, the Group and the Bank have identified as vulnerable to the effects of the pandemic
the following sectors: trade, real estate operations and construction, accommodation and catering
services.

Globally, the hardest hit sectors were accommodation and catering services, tourism and aviation. The
Group and the Bank have relatively small exposures to these sectors - 3% of total net loans to customers.
The Group and the Bank have analyzed the year-end loan portfolio data, the Group and the Bank did
not have any new customers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic this year. In 2021, of all customers
who were granted modifications because of COVID -19 in 2020, two customers fully repaid their loans
for a total amount of EUR 230 thousand; three customers returned to the original schedule for a total
amount of EUR 1.5 million; and one customer is still in Stage 3 but has resumed payments for a total
amount of EUR 577 thousand.

Overall, the Group and the Bank consider the impact of the pandemic on the loan portfolio to be
insignificant as mostly all customers affected by the pandemic have successfully overcome the economic
crisis caused by the pandemic, thus the increase in ECL for the above-mentioned customers was
insignificant at the end of the year.

The Group and the Bank constantly monitor the current global economic situation in order to timely
identify potential risks and assess the impact of risks on the loan portfolio. in addition to Covid-19, the
impact of rising global energy prices and the geopolitical situation on the Bank's loan portfolio and
collate ral was identified and assessed.
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4. Financial and other risk management {cont'd)
(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for the ECL measurement

The Group and the Bank use publicly available current macroeconomic forecasts from various official
data sources as forward-looking information included in the ECL measurement. To provide an objective
ECL estimate under IFRS 9, the Group and the Bank use at least three scenarios. One is the base case
scenario, which describes the most likely outcome, and is applied in the Bank's strategy planning and is
based on up-to-date forecasts. The other scenarios predict optimistic and pessimistic outcomes (upside
and downside scenarios). Each scenario is assigned a probability weight based on expert judgement. The
assumptions regarding macroeconomic variables for the base case used as at 31 December 2021 are set
out below.

2021 2022 2023
Latvian portfolio:

Inflation rate 2.40% 3.20% 245%
Unemployment rate 7.70% 6.90% 6.40%
Other countries portfolio (based on

macroeconomic forecasts for Ukraine)

GDP (gross domestic product) 3.85% 3.80% 4.35%
Gross average wages (nominal) 15.65% 8.65% 7.45%

Source: Macroeconomic forecasts in the base case scenario are expressed as the average of two publicly available data
sources: for the Latvian portfolio - those of the Bank of Latvia and the Ministry of Finance, for the Other countries’
portfolio - of the National Bank of Ukraine and the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine, updated on 14.12.2021.

The upside scenario assumes that the economic situation in 2022 will be at the 2021 level, the economy
is much better adapted to the situation of epidemic crisis and Omicron or other new outbreaks of Covid-
19 are less likely to have an impact on economic growth, no tighter restrictions will be needed. At the
same time, rising energy prices will continue to weigh on economic growth, easing in the second half of
2022.

The downside scenario delineates the risks that high energy costs will be felt also through the year 2022,
According to the data summarized by the Central Statistical Bureau, last December the inflation rate in
Latvia reached 7.9%, compared to December 2020, which has been the fastest increase in prices since
April 2009. Hence, the downside scenario assumes that the inflation rate of December 2020 will remain
throught 2022. Due to Omicron or other more dangerous coronavirus mutations, tighter restrictions will
be introduced. At the same time, the geopolitical crisis between Russia and Ukraine will have a negative
impact on economic growth. Due to the elevated conflict situation between these countries, the rating
agency Fitch has reduced GDP forecasts for Ukraine down to 2.9%2, which were taked into account in
developing the scenario. The downside scenario was developed before the Russia's military incursion
into Ukraine and did not stipulate the effects of war on these countries,

' hitps./ /www fon.govivilv/jaunums/fm-augstas-energoresursu-un-partikas-cenas-ietekmeja-perna-gada-
decembra-straujo-cenu-kapumu

? hitps./ /forbes.ua/ru/news/fi
konflikt -z-rosieyu-07022022-3535

-stabilnogo-prichina-pidvishcheniy-rizik-
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4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(a) Credit risk (cont'd)

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for the ECL measurement {cont'd)

Measuring ECL as at 31 December 2021, the probability of the base case scenario was estimated at 60%,
the probability of the upside scenario - at 15% and that of the downside scenario - at 25%.

Other countries
LV portfolio portfolio Total
EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 _
ECL
Base case scenario (100%) 1,143.4 1,085.9 2,229.3
Base case scenario (60%) 686.0 651.5 1,337.5
Upside scenario (15%) 1536 161.1 3147
Downside scenario (25%) 330.7 290.5 621.2
Total 1,1703 1,103.1 22734

The results of scenarios show that the ECL model of the bank shows a low sensitivity to changes in
macroeconomic indicators. The base case scenario is aligned with and is used for strategic planning and
budgeting process of the Group and the Bank.

(b) Market risk

The Group and the Bank manage market risks by diversifying the financial instruments portfolio, setting
limits on different types of financial instruments and applying sensitivity tests which show the impact of
particular risks on the Group and Bank's assets and equity.

Basis of the market risk management:

assessment and analysis of securities portfolio;

analysis and monitoring of issuers’ financial position;

establishing internal limits/ diversification (stop-foss to issuers, countries, regions, terms, credit
rating categories);

monitoring of the compliance of the internal limits.

(c) Currency risk

The Group and the Bank are exposed to the risk of changing foreign currency exchange rates which
impacts both the financial performance and the cash flows of the Group and the Bank. The Group and
the Bank control assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies to avoid unreasonable foreign
currency exchange rate risk. Currency risk is calculated for each currency separately taking into account
the amount of liabilities and requirements of the Group and the Bank. The Board determines the Group
and Bank's open position limits on certain currencies which are monitored daily. The Latvian banking
legislation requires that open positions in each foreign currency may not exceed 10% of the Group‘s and
Bank’s equity but that the total foreign currency open position may not exceed 20% of the equity. In
2021 and 2020 the Group and the Bank complied with these limits (see Note 29). The Group and the
Bank have no significant open positions in ‘exotic’ currencies.
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(c) Currency risk (cont'd)

The Group's and Bank's foreign currency risk assessment is based on the following main principles:
— assessment is made of changes in the Group's and Bank's assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet
items as a result of exchange rate fluctuations;
— how the Group's and Bank's revenue/costs change with exchange rate fluctuations;
performing currency risk stress tests.

Basis of the currency risk management:
assessing currency risk;
—  setting of limits and restrictions;
monitoring of adherence to internal limits;
- performing exchange rate stress tests and analyzing the obtained results;
entering into hedge relationships, if necessary.

The Group and the Bank define and control daily and weekly maximum loss limits via involving in
currency trading.

As part of a quarterly currency risk management process, assessment of the foreign exchange risk is
performed (assessment how the statement of financial position and off-balance sheet items change with
the changes in foreign currency exchange rates; how the income/expenses of the Group and the Bank
change with the foreign currency exchange rate changes) and the results of such evaluation are
submitted to the management of the Group and the Bank. Once a year a currency risk stress testing and
the analysis of its results are performed, serving as the basis of proposals for changes in the foreign
currency risk management policy which are made to the management of the Group and the Bank, if
necessary.

The table below presents the sensitivity of the Group and the Bank’s profit/ loss to currency exchange
rate fluctuations at the end of the reporting period with all other variables held constant (in thousand
EUR);

31.12.2021 Effect on net profit/loss and equity 31122020 Effect on net profit/loss and equity

+10% -10% +10% -10%
usD (3) 3 s Usb __(18) 16 ...
Total 3) 3 Total ) 16

{d) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Group and the Bank's financial position to a change in market
interest rates. In the normal course of business, the Group and the Bank encounter interest rate risk as
a result of differences within maturities or interest re-fixing dates of respective interest-sensitive assets
and liabilities. The risk is controlled by the Bank's Asset and Liability Committee which sets limits on the
level of mismatch of interest rate reprising and evaluates interest rate risk undertaken by the Group and
the Bank (see Note 32).

Basis of the interest rate management:

—  Assessing sensitivity of interest rate risk;
Setting of internal limits (limit of reduction in economic value and for total duration of securities
portfolio);
Monitoring of adherence to internal limits;
—  Performing interest rate stress tests and analyzing the obtained results;
Entering into hedge relationships, if necessary.
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4, Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(d) Interest rate risk {cont'd)

Interest rate risk identification and assessment are made in a way as to further examine all types of
interest-rate risks. To limit the interest rate risk, limits are set to both impairment of economic value and
the modified duration of securities portfolio.

As part of interest rate risk assessment, impact of interest rate changes on the economic value of the
Group and the Bank is performed regularly, including interest rate risk assessment from income
perspective and interest rate risk assessment from the perspective of economic value, and on that basis,
follow up control of the set limits is carried out. Moreover, interest rate risk stress testing is performed,
based on which changes are proposed in the interest rate risk management policies, if needed. Results
of interest rate risk assessment are reported to the management of the Group and the Bank.

Assets/ liabilities/ off-balance sheet items with specified maturity are split into maturity groups as
follows:
~  Shorter from the remaining repayment/ settlement/ maturity term - for financial instruments
with fixed interest rate;
For a period until the next interest rate change date or interest repricing date - for financial
instruments with variable interest rate;
Maturity of deposits is shown as being not longer than five years.

Assets/ liabilities/ off-balance sheet items with no specified maturity are split into maturity groups as
follows:
Settlement accounts, for which interest is paid, are classified as sensitive to the changes in
interest rates and presented as ‘on demand’;
- Derivatives are presented under both long off-balance-sheet position and short off-balance-
sheet position.

The following changes in interest rates are applied to the sensitivity analysis: all items except for deposits
are subject to rate changes of +/-100 base points, while deposits are subject to rate changes of +/-50
base points.

The table below presents the Group's sensitivity of revenue and equity to interest rate fluctuations as
described above with all other variables held constant (in thousand EUR):

31.12.2021 Effect on net profit/loss and equity 31.12.2020 Effect on net profit/loss and equity

_.+100 bps -100 bps . +100bps -100 bps
uso 271) 271 usD (280) 280
EUR (135) 135 EUR {41 41
Total (406) 406 Total ) (321) _ 321

The table below presents the Bank's sensitivity of revenue and equity to interest rate fluctuations as
described above with all other variables held constant (in thousand EUR):

31.32.2021 Effect on net profit/loss and equity  31.12.2020 Effect on net profit/loss and equity

_ +100 bps -100 bps ) +100 bps -100 bps
UsD 271) 271 usD (280) 280
EUR (135) 135 EUR (46) ) 46
Total ____ (406) 406 Total __(326) 326
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4, Financial and other risk management (cont'd)

(e) Liquidity risk

The Group and the Bank are exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from short-term liquid
investments. The relationship between the maturity of assets and liabilities, as well as off-balance sheet
items, is indicative of liquidity risk and the extent to which it may be necessary to raise funds to meet
outstanding obligations.

The Group and the Bank do not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs, as experience shows
that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty.

The Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such calls and at
the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover
withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. It is unusual for banks to be completely matched, as
transacted business is often of uncertain term and of different types (see Note 31). An unmatched
position potentially enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing
liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and the Bank and
their exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities are fundamental to
the daily liquidity management of the Group and the Bank.

The Group and the Bank use the following methods for evaluation of liquidity risk:

preparation of maturity analysis (for all currencies and separately for individual currencies);
- calculation of the liquidity ratio, monitoring of adherence to liquidity ratio regulations;
- Stress testing.

Basis of the liquidity risk management:
being in compliance with liquidity ratio regulations;
- setting of the liquidity net position limit;
setting of restriction on attracting deposits;
- monitoring of adherence to liquidity limits;
conducting liquidity stress tests and analysis of the obtained results;
- recommendations for resolving liquidity problems.

To manage and control the funding structure {positions), the Bank:
—  regularly assesses its funding structure, i.e, the Bank's dependence on certain types of borrowed
resources, in particular on borrowings on interbank lending, money and capital markets;
- evaluates funding sources and its ability to quickly raise funds from respective sources;
ensures efficient diversification of funding sources and their maturities, incl. sets concentration
limits.

In accordance with the Financial and Capital Market Commission (FCMC) requirements, the Bank
maintains sufficient liquid assets to meet its liabilities in the amount which is not less than 40% of the
Bank's current liabilities.

On a daily basis, the Bank monitors both the deposit structure to ensure a high liquidity ratio and
changes in its deposits, taking into account uncertainty due to COVID-19. The Bank assesses the deposit
situation as stable. As a result, as at 31 December 2021, the Bank maintained a relatively high liquidity
ratio of 62.28%

(f) Capital adequacy

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group’s and Bank's own funds to cover credit and market
risks re:lated to assets and off-balance sheet items.

To calculate the capital amount for covering the risks for which the minimum capital requirements are
set by the FCMC, the following approaches and methods are used:
- credit risk capital requirements are calculated using the standardized approach;
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4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd}
(f) Capital adequacy (cont'd)

the Financial Collateral Simple Method is used in order to decrease credit risk;

— the Group and the Bank calculates the own funds requirements for CVA risk applying the
standardized method specified in Article 384 of EU Regulation No 575/2013;

-~ foreign currency risk capital requirements, commodities risk capital requirements and capital
requirements for position risk of debt securities and equities are calculated using the
standardized approach;

- capital requirements for general risk of debt securities are calculated using the maturity method;
capital requirements for operational risk are calculated using the basic indicator approach.

The Group and the Bank also evaluate whether compliance with the minimal capital requirements
ensures that the capital of the Group and the Bank is sufficient to cover all possible losses associated
with all of the above mentioned risks.

Moreover, the Group and the Bank have developed internal documentation and regulations according
to which they determine the amount of necessary capital for substantial risks to which minimal capital
requirements are not set (e.g., interest rates risk, fiquidity risk, concentration risk, and other substantial
risks).

Calculated in accordance with the FCMC requirements, the Group's and Bank's capital adequacy ratio as
at 31 December 2021 was 27.69% and 27.58% (31 December 2020: 27.50% and 25.64%), which is above
the minimum set by European Parliament and the Council Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 requiring capital
conservation buffer amount (10.5%), being a sum of equity against risk weighted assets and off-balance
sheet items being minimum of 8% and capital conservation buffer above 2.5% (see Note 29).

On 2 November 2021, the Financial and Capital Market Commission recalculated the capital adequacy
requirement determining it to the Group and Bank at 10.90% and capital conservation buffer at 2.5%.
The Group and the Bank complied with the individual capital adequacy requirements in 2021.

(g) Operational risk

Operational risk is the possibility of incurring losses as a result of inadequate or unsuccessful
developments in the Group's and Bank's internal processes, human and systemic actions, or influence of
external conditions. Operational risk is defined as the risk of a reduction in the Group’s and Bank's
revenue/ incurring of additional costs (and a resulting reduction of the equity) due to erroneous
transactions with customers/business partners, information processing, adoption of ineffective
decisions, insufficient human resources or insufficient planning for the influence of external conditions.

The Group and the Bank have established and maintain an Operational Risk Event and Loss database in
which internal data on operational risk events and associated losses are collected, processed and
organized.

Basis of the operational risk management:

monitoring of operational risk;

— management and minimizing of operational risk:
development of internal regulations which eliminate/ reduce the possibility of operational risk
events;
compliance with the principle of separation of duties;

—  monitoring of compliance with the internal limits;

- compliance with the procedure for using IT and other resources of the bank;

- adequate staff training;

- review of transactions and account documentation on a regular basis.
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(h} Concentration risk
Transaction concentration risk

Transaction concentration risk is any risk transaction or group of risk transactions that could cause the
Group and the Bank to suffer such losses that may endanger the liquidity of the Group and the Bank or
their ability to continue as a going concern. Concentration risk arises from significant risk transactions
with customers or groups of inter-related customers or risk transactions with customers with common
risk factors (e.g. economy sector, geographical region, currency, the instrument used for decreasing
credit risk (one type of collateral or one provider of collateral, etc.)).

In order to control transaction concentration risk, the Group and the Bank have set limits on investments
into various types of assets, instruments, markets, etc. Limit is a numerical threshold applied to various
types of investments serving as an instrument for limiting and controlling the risk.

Country risk

Country risk is one of significant transaction concentration risks. Country risk ~ country partner risk - is
the possibility of incurring losses if the Group’s and Bank's assets are located in a country where, due to
changes in its economic and political factors, the Group and the Bank may experience problems in
recovering its assets within the agreed time and amount. The reasons of default by partners and issuers
are primarily currency devaluation, unfavorable legislative changes, creation of new restrictions and
barriers as well as other, including force majeure, factors.

In order to manage concentration risks the Group and the Bank set the following internal limits:

- country risk limits;

- credit rating group limits;
financial market operations risk limits;

— limits on open currency positions and cash, limits on allowable loss on trading with foreign
currencies;

—  limits on allowable loss from trading with financial instruments portfolios;
limits on large exposures;

—  limits on transactions with parent bank;

- limits on lending programs.

Control, analysis and review of fulfilment of these limits are performed. Basis of the risk management:
—  setting of internal limits by regions, countries, and by transaction types in individual countries;
monitoring of adherence to internal limits;
—  analysis and monitoring of country risk;
review of internal limits.
Asset, liability and off-balance sheet country risk applies to the country which is considered to be the
primary country where the customer conducts its business activities. If a loan is granted to a resident of
another country using collateral which is physically located in a country other than the resident country

of the legal entity, the country risk is transferred to the country where the loan collateral is actually
located.

International rating agency data (including credit ratings and their dynamics), economic indicators of
the country and other relevant information sources are used for country risk analysis.
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(h) Concentration risk (cont'd)

Country risk (cont'd)

The table below reflects composite ratings of Latvia, TOP3 OECD countries, and TOP3 non-QECD
countries. TOP countries have been selected taking into account the volume of transferred exposures.

Latvia - Composite rating

OECD - Composite rating

Non-OECD 0150 Composite rating

{(Moody's/ Fitch un S&P) {Moody's/ Fitch un S&P) {Moody's/ Fitch un S&P)
Country Rating Country Rating Country : Rating
Latvia A3/A- USA Aaa/AAA Ukraine B2/B
= = Luxemburg Aaa/AAA Russia Baa3/BBB-
- - Switzerland Aaa/AAA China Al/A+

The table below shows the breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by groups of countries as at
31 December 2021.

31122021 31.12.2021

Group Bank
EUR EUR
82,900,231 82,900,231
38,393,662 38,393,662
83,259,093 83,259,093
1,607,310 1,607,310
30,902,143 30,902,143
235618 235,618
2,342,579 2,326,653

239,640,636 239,624,710

Latvia QECD Non-OECD
Group Bank Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Financial assets
Cash and
balances with the
Bank of Latvia 82,900,231 82,900,231 - -
Balances due
from banks - - 30,037,043 30,037,043 8,356,619 8,356,619
Loans and
advances to 30,661,192 30,661,192 20,367,093 20,367,093 32,230,808 32,230,808
customers
Financial assets at
FVPL 375,058 375,058 1,224,358 1,224,358 7,894 7,894
Debt instruments
at FVOCl - - 30,902,143 30,902,143 - -
Equity
instruments at
FVYOCI - . 235,618 235,618 - -
Other financial 707,415 691,809 1,630,292 1,629,972 4,872 4,872
assets
Total financial 114,643,896 114,628,290 84,396,547 84,396,227 40,600,193 40,600,193
assets
Latvia QECD Non-QOECD
Group Bank Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR
Liabilities
60,725,358 62,122,521 76,614,138 76,614,138 70,993,664 70,993,664
Deposits from
customers 936,348 936,348 77,736 60,357 312,176 219,426
QAL U= 1397,296 804,626 1,707 1,707 30,338 30,338
liabilities
Total liabilities  63.059.002 63,863,495 76,693,581 76,676,202 71,336,178 71,243,428

31.12.2021 31.12.2021
Group Bank
EUR EUR_

208,333,160 209,730,323

1,326,260
1,429,341

1,216,131
836,671




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)

{h) Concentration risk (cont'd)

Country risk (cont'd)

The table below shows the breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by groups of countries as at
31 December 2020.

Financial assets
Cash and
balances with the
Bank of Latvia
Balances due
from banks
Loans and
advances to
customers
Financial assets at
FVPL

Debt instruments
at FVOCI

Equity
instruments at
FvOCI

Other financiat
assets

Total financial
assets

Liabilities

Deposits from
customers

Other financial
liabilities
Deferred income
and accrued
expense

Debt securities
Subordinated
loans

Latvia OECD Non-OECD 31.12.2020 31122020

Group Bank Group Bank Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
67,749,254 67,749,254 = E = 67,749,254 67,749,254
- 19,577,962 19,577,962 21,281,940 21,281,940 40,859,902 40,859,902

28,984,284 28,984,284 9,079,157 12,727,058 26,916,814 26,916,814 64,980,255 68,628,156
1,151,919 1,151,919 12,235,708 12,235,708 7,286 7,286 13,394,913 13,394,913

o 46,448,754 46,448,754 - 46448,754 46,448,754

S 221,711 221,711 - 221,711 221,711

130,611 108,555 1,939,309 1,609,728 4,871 4,871 2,074,791 1,723,154
98,016,068 97,994,012 89,502,601 92,820,921 48,210,911 48,210,911 235,729,580 239,025,844

Latvia OECD Non-CECD 31122021 31.12.2021

Group Bank Group Bank Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR __EUR EUR EUR
58,853,244 59,671,866 48,260,958 48,260,958 97,503,527 97,503,527 204,617,729 205,436,351
446,286 444,594 40,789 40,191 51,575 51,575 538,650 536,360
737,091 737,005 2,398 2,398 2,758 2,758 742,247 742,251

- ] 15,168,586 15,168,586 1,215,439 1,215,439 16,384,025 16,384,025

692,844 692,844 1,915,718 1,915,718 407,555 407,555 3,016,117 3,016,117
60,729,465 61,546,399 65,388,449 65,387,851 99,180,854 99,180,854 225,298,768 226,115,104
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Notes to the financial statements (contd)
4. Financial and other risk management (cont’d)

(i) Money laundering and financing of terrorism and proliferation risk

The Group and the Bank place a high priority on maintaining and continuously developing an effective
system of anti-money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism and proliferation
(AML/CFTP), creating an internal risk management culture with zero tolerance for intentional violations
of AML/CFTP laws and regulations and compliance with international and national sanctions.

To ensure control of the AML/CFTP risk management, the Group and the Bank have established a
comprehensive and effective internal control system thereinafter - ICS). It is, continuously improved with
documented internal policies and procedures, ensuring compliance with the constantly changing
requirements of the laws and regulations of the Republic of Latvia and the European Union,
recommendations of international competent organizations and industry best practice. The internal
regulations set out clear risk management measures for all ICS elements of the AML/CFTP area - the
AML/CFTP and Sanctions Risk Management Strategy 2021-2023 as well as the policies and procedures
for its implementation. They define the AML/CFTP risk management structure and operational
organization of the Group and the Bank, the allocation of responsibilities and powers of the management
and employees in the AML/CFTP risk management, identification and management of AML/CFTP risk,
including measurement, assessment, control and reporting to the Bank's management, recording and
documentation of customer information and transactions, etc.

The Group and the Bank continuously improve their internal control system to meet the demands of a
constantly changing external environment. Key external legislative documents that in 2021 influenced
changes in internal processes are as follows:

* FCMC Regulations No 5 ‘Regulations on Establishing Customer Due Diligence, Enhanced
Customer Due Diligence and Risk Scoring System and Information Technology Requirements
(hereinafter - the Regulations);

» EBA 01/03/2021 Guidelines on customer due diligence and the factors credit and financial
institutions should consider when assessing the money laundering and terrorist financing risk
associated with individual business relationships and occasional transactions (The ML/TF Risk
Factors Guidelines’) under Articles 17 and 18(4) of Directive (EU) 2015/849;

e EBA 03/03/2021 Opinion of the European Banking Authority on the risks of money laundering
and terrorist financing affecting the European Union's Financial sector.

The above documents accentuate as one of the most significant changes the review and updating of the
customer risk scoring and methodology, strengthening the Bank's approach and in-depth
understanding of the Bank's ICS operations, monitoring of customers, individuals, counterparties and
their transactions, analysis and processing of reports and alerts, including in the area of sanctions. These
documents provide a detailed analysis of various AML/CFTP risks, both of the risk type and the financial
sector. Thus, the Bank has taken into account and implemented best practice standards and trends in its
algorithims and calculations when updating its overall and customer AML/CFTP sanctions risk profile and
its methodology. The Bank continues to focus on a risk-based approach to customer due diligence - the
depth and breadth of which depends on the customer's risk level as well as on the Bank's overall
exposure to AML/CFTP sanctions risk it considers reasonable to take (risk appetite). The Bank is obliged
to justify and document that its customer due diligence activities are appropriate to the risks inherent in
dealingg with customers.

Within the timeframe set out in the Regulations, the Bank has carried out an analysis of the risk factors
referred to in a number of external sources (both in Regulations No 5 and in the EBA Guidelines, etc.),
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
(i) Money laundering and financing of terrorism and proliferation risk (cont'd)

taking into account the specific nature of the Bank's business, target customers and products offered. It
has also developed a new customer risk profile model and introduced new risk factors to be applied in
risk scoring as well as revised the existing ones. Moreover, the scoring and risk quantification of potential
customers have been assessed separately, resulting in a weighting of risk factors applicable to the
potential client assessment,

At the end of 2021, goAML, a new international information sharing and exchange application, was
introduced for the Bank and the Financial Intelligence Unit to receive, process and analyze submitted
reports. In the long term, the use of goAML allows the Bank to efficiently submit suspicious transaction
reports and threshold declarations, eliminates the need for parallel reporting to both the Financial
Intelligence Unit and the State Revenue Service, and improves the flow of communication with the
Financial Intelligence Unit.

During the reporting period, the Bank updated its AML/CFTP risk management strategy, supplementing
it with a strategy for managing sanctions risk. There have been no significant changes in the exposure
limits compared to the previous period.

The Bank continues ongoing improvement of IT systems ensuring automated AML/CFTP and sanctions
risk management processes. It includes processing and managing customer information, determining
AML/CFTP and sanctions risk scores, sanctions screening, transaction monitoring, identification of
suspicious transactions, automated input of the customer basic data in the Bank's system and their
validation, digitization of the customer files and continuous development and supplementation of this
system with the documentation supporting the products and transactions offered to the customer so
that the information about the customer is concentrated together, etc. During the reporting period,
certain sections of the Bank's IT systems for AML/CFTP were upgraded to ensure that they contain up-
to-date, detailed, structured and accurate data, thus ensuring that information is fully preserved and
automatically available for scoring purposes. In 2022 there are to be completed some IT projects,
launched with the aim of digitizing AML/KYC (Know Your Customer) data, namely, receiving customer
data from different sources and collecting them in the most convenient format possible as well as
analyzing and documenting the decisions taken.

The Bank ensures that several independent assessments of the ICS effectiveness in the area of AML/CFTP
sanctions compliance are carried out - an independent assessment by an external auditor every 18
months, internal audit reviews at least annually and a regular quality assurance process. The quality
control provided by an independent unit of the Bank, performs both regular random checks on customer
due diligence carried out by employees to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements and follow-
ups on the implementation of new AML/CFTP regulatory requirements. The reviews carried out in 2021
give an assurance that the Bank's customer due diligence and enhanced customer due diligence are
conducted in accordance with the AML/CFTP regulatory requirements as well as the procedures and
require ments set out in the Bank's internal regulatory documents, i.e., no material weaknesses have been
identified during the reviews.

The Bank's ability to assume and manage the risks inherent in the Bank is demonstrated by the above
mentioned elements of the Bank's AML/CFTP risk management, the Bank's contribution to the
establishment and ongoing improvement of the internal control system by increasing staff competence,
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
4. Financial and other risk management (cont'd)
() Money laundering and financing of terrorism and proliferation risk (cont'd)

regular updating of the AML/CFTP and sanctions risk assessment and appropriate improvement of the
systems as well as the implementation of the quality assurance function on a daily basis.

(j) Strategic and business risk

Strategic and business risk is the risk of loss arising from errors in decisions that affect the Group's and
Bank's strategic operations and development (strategic, business management), namely:
- failure of taking into account or incomplete identification of potential hazards to the Group’s
and Bank's business;
- incorrect or insufficiently substantiated identification of prospective areas of activity in which
the Group and the Bank may have an advantage over competitors;
- lack of or insufficient resources (financial, material, human) and organizational arrangements

(management decisions) necessary to ensure achieving the Group’s and the Bank's strategic
objectives.

Within the Group and the Bank, strategic and business risk is managed within the framework of the
Bank's Development Strategy 2021-2025 and the approved budget. Strategic and business risk is
mitigated by continuously monitoring the current performance against the Bank's strategic development

plan and budget, and by updating the Bank's strategic development plans. The Finance and Resources
Department and the Management Board of the Bank monitor the actual performance against the plan.

One of the key elements of the Bank's Development Strategy 2021-2025 is to increase the volume and
share of transactions (dealings) with customers — residents of Latvia by gradually diversifying the Bank's
sources of profit and its own resources and reducing the share of transactions (dealings) with non-
residential customers . In 2021, the Bank focused on reaching the strategic objective. There has been an
increase in the amount of deposits held by LV residents and in the Bank's loan portfolio as well as in the
share of income from LV residents - this indicator has doubled from 19% in 2020 to 38% in 2021. As at
31 January 2022, the share of loans issued to Latvian residents in the total Bank's loan portfolio was 47%
and had increased by EUR 7.2 million compared to January 2021. Covid-19 related restrictions,
particularly strict in Latvia at certain periods in 2021, had an impact on the growth rates of transactions
with Latvian residents, i.e. in 2021, some objectives set in the Development Strategy were not met,
however, a sound foundation has been laid for a successful transformation process in 2022 and beyond.
Because of the transformation, the financial result showed a stable positive momentum from the second
half of 2021 onwards.

Based on unaudited information, in January 2022, the Bank's operational performance was in line with
the planned budget, confirming the Bank's ability to operate steadily under the chosen Development

Strategy and to further develop its priority area - financing of LV business projects and servicing EU/LV
residents.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

5. Interest income and expense

2021 2021 2020 2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR __EUR _ EUR
Interest income at effective interest rate;
Loans and advances to legal entities 4,540,718 4,640,839 4,605,842 4,772,224
Loans and advances to private individuals 148,215 148,215 286,517 286,517
Balances due from banks 104,803 104,803 286,534 286,534
Other income and similar income:
Debt securities held for trading 48,740 48,740 339,423 339,423
Debt securltlgs a?t fair value through other 10,969 10,969 4832 4832
comprehensive income
_Total interest income 4,853,445 4,953,566 5,523,148 5,689,530
Interest expense
Due to private individuals (130,234) (130,234) (169,945) (169,945}
Due to legal entities (102,514) (102,514) (151,747) (151,717)
Subordinated loans (104,031} (104,031) (517,153) (517,153)
Debt securities issued (351,843) {351,843) (790,012) (790,012)
Other interest and related expense (662,530} (662,530) (679,237) 673,717)
Interest expense on lease liabilities
(see also Note 18) (292) (292) (650) (630)
Total interest expense _{1,351,444) (1,351,444) (2,308,714) (2,303,194)
_Net interest income 3,502,001 3,602,122 3,214,434 3,386,336

Other interest and related expenses include payments to the deposit guarantee fund of EUR 118,735
(2020: EUR 131,028), which are calculated in accordance with the Deposit Guarantee Law and FCMC
regulations ‘Regulations for preparing a report of guaranteed deposits and for determining the
adjustment ratio to be applied to the payments in the deposit guarantee fund’; as well as financial
stability fee of EUR 123,807 (2020: EUR 112,589); negative interest rate applied to correspondent
accounts of EUR 392,150 (2020: EUR 328,860) and deposit referral fee of EUR 27,838 (2020: EUR 101,240).

6. Fee and commission income and expense

2021 2021
Group Bank
EUR EUR
Fee and commission income:
Account servicing 978,154 978,154
Commission income on asset management 613,972 613,972
Money transfers 584,340 584,660
Commission on transactions with settlement cards 219,622 219,622
Commissions on letters of credit 194,836 194,836
Interbank commission income 94,150 94,150
Commission income on escrow accounts servicing 53,325 53,325
Income from general services 38,438 38,438
Comrrl.lssnon income on transactions with 23,211 23211
secunties
Fees on registration of changes in loan 21,340 21,340
agreements
Other commissions (DIGIPAS) 17,388 17,388
Other income 4,892 4,892
Total fee and commission income 2,843,668 2,843,988
Fee and commission expense:
Money transfers {195,602) (195,469)
Other expense (28,709) (28,709)
_Total fee and commission expense (224,311) (224,178)
_Net fee and commission income 2,619,357 2,619,810

2020 2020
Group Bank
__EWR EUR
1,251,897 1,251,897
1,042,396 1,042,396
614,689 614,953
149,566 149,566
189,461 189,461
84,787 84,787
59,114 59,114
42,519 42,519
60,236 60,236
7,240 7,240
13,971 13,971
4,619 4619
3,520,495 3,520,759
(304,226) (304,094)
(52,497) (52,497)
(356,723)  (356,591)
3,163,772 3,164,168
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Notes to the financial statements {cont'd)

7. Administrative expense

2021 2021 2020 2020
Group Bank Group Bank
__EUR EUR EUR __EUR
Remuneration paid to personnel {3,409,119) (3,409,119) (3,512,558) (3,512,558)
State statutory social insurance contributions (986,394} (983,456)  (1,044,129) (1,042,886)
Remuneration paid to the Members of the Council
and the Board (825,368) (812,917) (874,723) (869,563}
Communications expense (388,725) (388,725) (442,824) (442,823)
?:stt-:r;:‘ Sand maintenance costs of information (323.077) (323,077) (293,339) (293,339)
Fee paid to the certified auditor* (194,500) (194,500) {184,900) (184,900)
Consulting and professional fees (189,087) (50,704) {123,113) (103,278)
Public utilities (110,818) (110,818) (81,690) (81,690)
Non-deductible VAT (101,123) (98,118) (206,476} (206,476)
Real estate tax {82,077} (77,700} (122,478) (122,478)
Business trips (36,270) (35,068) (16,075) (13,247)
Health insurance (31,066) (31,066) (31,251) {31,251)
Office and equipment maintenance (20,559) (20,559) {115,235) {115,235)
Postal charges (19,419) (19,419 (21,479) (21,479)
Stationary (10,713) (10,713) {10,600) (10,600)
Advertising and marketing (10,643) {10,643) (5,215) {(5,215)
Transport expense (6,144) (6,144) (4,162) {4,162)
Security (1,234) (1,234} {1,266) (1,266)
Other administrative expense (347,625) (327,171) (153,283) (83,203}
Total administrative expense (7,093,961) (6,911,151) (7,244,796) (7,145.649)

The average number of staff employed by the Group and the Bank in 2021 was 134, including 5 Members
of the Board, 5 Members of the Council and 124 other employees (2020: 148, including 5 members of
the Board, 5 Members of the Council and 138 other employees). The remuneration paid to the Members
of the Council and the Board is disclosed in Note 33.

* The total fee paid to the certified auditor for the types of services provided by the auditor was as
follows: statutory annual audit of consolidated and separate financial statements — EUR 176,500 (2020:
EUR 163,400), other audit tasks - EUR 18,000 (2020: EUR 6,000); to other specialists - EUR 0,00 (2020:
EUR 15,500).

8. Other operating income

2021 2021 2020 2020

Group Bank Group Bank

____EUR EUR EUR EUR

Rentals 250,603 247,723 405,302 385,622
Penalties 8,075 8,075 18,611 18,611
Other income 30,519 31,119 19,099 16,393
Total ©ther operating income . 289,197 286,917 443,012 420,626




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

9. Other income and expense

2021 2021 2020 2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR i EUR  EUR EUR
Profit from the sale of foreclosed assets * 13,940,818 518,193 441,474 441,474
Profit from loan cession transactions 355,191 355,191 10,000 10,000
:2:?,:"9 from recovery of written - off 2735 2735 1,843 1,843
Total other income 14,298,744 876,119 453,317 453,317
Loss on impairment of investment in i
subsidiary ** - (3.981.328) )
Impairment of repossessed collateral (282,184) (282,184) (426,327) (426,327)
Payments to funds and membership fees (134,030} (134,030) (209,387) (209,387)
Other taxes (104,075) - -
Other expense (14,662) - (7,256) (4,789
Penalties {(88) (20) (474,126) (474,126)

Total other expense _ - - (535,039) (4.397,562) (1,117,096) (1,114,629)
* The increase in the Group’s profit from the sale of foreclosed assets is formed in the amount of earned profit of
13.422,625 EUR as the result of sale of the immovable property owned by the subsidiary. For more detailed
information, see Note 16.

** Loss on revaluation of investment in subsidiary, as the entire profit was distributed and paid in dividends, because
of the profit distribution to recognize an impairment of the investment in the subsidiary of EUR 3,981,328. For more
detailed information, see Note 16.

10. Corporate income tax

2021 2021 2020 2020

Group Bank Group Bank

_ EUR EUR EUR EUR

Corporate income tax for the reporting year * (2,499,637 (11,635) (4,426) (3,433}
Amount of tax paid abroad** (122,641) (122,641} (135,170) (135,170)
_Total corporate income tax_ (2,622,278)  (134,276) (139,596) (138,603)

* The increase in the Group's corporate income tax for the reporting year has formed as the result of pay-out of
SIA Grunewald Residence dividends, calculating the corporate income tax of 2,488,002 EUR . Observing the German
laws, SIA Grunewald Residence a relief was applied for the tax paid in Germany in the amount of EUR 1,892,281 EUR.
For more detailed information, see Note 16.

** The amount of tax paid abroad consists of withholding tax paid in Ukraine. Corporate income tax from dividends
calculated in Latvia can be reduced by the amount of tax paid abroad, if the payment is certified by the documents
approved by a foreign tax authority, stating the amount of taxable income and the amount of tax withheld abroad.
Tax can be reduced by the amount of tax withheld abroad, however, limited to the amount, which would be payable
in Latvia for the amount of revenue generated abroad. Amounts of withholding tax, exceeding the tax calculated in
Latvia, cannot be carried forward to the future periods, therefore, are recognized as tax expense in the current
period.
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11. Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia

31.12.2021

Group

EUR

Cash 961,118
Demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia 81,947,374
ECL allowances {8.267)

_Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia, net 82,900,231

31.12.2021  31.12.2020
Bank Group
___EWR EUR
961,118 827,093
81,947,374 66,922,228
(8.261) (67)
82,900,231 67,749,254

31.12.2020
Bank
__EUR_
827,093
66,922,228
(67)
67,749,254

Demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia represent the Group's and Bank's correspondent account

balance.

All cash balances are allocated in Stage 1. Changes in ECL allowances can be specified as follows:

31.12.2021  31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group
EUR EUR EUR
Allowances for demand deposits with the Bank
of Latvia at the beginning of the year 67 67 11,263
Increase in the reporting year 22,493 22,493 15,191
Decrease in the reporting year {14,298) (14,298) {26,387)
Change in methodology (n 4] =
Allowances for demand deposits with the Bank
of Latvia at the end of the year 8,261 8,261 67

31.12.2020

Bank
EUR

11,263

15,191
{26,387)

67

Demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia include reserves, which are held in accordance with the
Regulations of the Bank of Latvia. These Regulations prescribe the minimum level of the Bank's average
correspondent account balance per month, while at any given day these funds can be freely accessed

and used by the Bank.

The minimum level of the Bank's correspondent account for the period from 22 December 2021 to
8 February 2022 was set at EUR 2,051,898 (2020: EUR 1,814,331). The Bank was in compliance with the

reserve requirement of the Bank of Latvia in 2021 and 2020.

12. Balances due from banks

31.12.2021  31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Due from banks registered in OECD countries 30,037,074 30,037,074 19,578,071 19,578,071
SR DB HIGRTHS, 290 8,357,462 8357462 21283322 21,283,322
countries
Balances due from banks, gross 38,394,536 38,394,536 40,861,393 40,861,393
ECL allowances (874) 874) (1,491) (1,491)
Balances due from banks, net 38,393,662 38,393,662 40,859,902 40,859,902
The table below discloses the balances due from banks by their type:
31.12.2021 31.12.2021  31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
_ EUR EUR EUR _ EUR
On dernand 8,359,033 8,359,033 11,686,986 11,686,986
Balances with maturity of three months
or less 30,021,002 30,021,002 29,161,023 29,161,023
Other balances due from banks 14,501 14,501 13,384 13,384
_Balances due from banks, gross 38,394,536 38,394,536 40,861,393 40,861,393
ECL allowances (874) (874) (1,491) (1,491)
_Balances due from banks, net 38,393,662 38,393,662 40,859,902 40,859,902
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12. Balances due from banks (cont'd)

The table below discloses an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL
allowance on balances due from credit institutions during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Balances due from banks Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3 ~ Total
Gross carrying amount as at

01012021 40861393 - - 40861393
New assets originated or purchased 98,739,797 - - 98,739,797
Assets repaid (104,212,752) - - (104,212,752)
Interest accrued 1,578 - - 1,578
Foreign exchange adjustments 3,004,520 - - 3,004,520
Gross carrying amount as at

~31.12.2021 38,394,536 : - - 38,394,536
Balances due from banks Stage 1 __Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 - 1,491 - - 1,491
New assets originated or purchased 138,847 - - 138,847
Assets repaid (139,482) - - (139,482)
Change in methodology 2 - - 2
Foreign exchange adjustments 16 : - 16

_ECL allowances as at 31.12.2021 - 874 _ - - 874

The table below discloses an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL
allowance on balances due from credit institutions during the year ended 31 December 2020:

Balances due from banks Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount as at

01.01.2020 ~ 50,991,421 - - 50,991,421
New assets originated or purchased 104,814,840 - 104,814,840
Assets repaid {112,585,839) - - (112,585,839)
Foreign exchange adjustments (2,359,029) - - {2,359,029)
Gross carrying amount as at

31.12.2020 40,861,393 . - 40,861,393
Bafances due from banks . Stagel = Stage2 Stage 3 Total

_ECL allowances as at 01.01.2020. 640,999 = - 640999

New assets originated or purchased 2,276,651 S 3 2,276,651
Assets repaid {2,366,457) - : (2,366,457)
Re-measurement (563,142) - - (563,142)
Foreign exchange adjustments 13,440 - - 13,440
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020 1,49 - _ - 149

The table below discloses the Group's and Bank’s balances due from banks by their ratings:

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Ratinggs Due from banks Due from banks
st EUR % ____EWR %
Alto A3 30,038,839 78.24% 20,179,282 49.38%
Baal to Baa3 7,173,999 18.68% 6,410,050 15.69%
Bal to Ba3 620 0.00% 369 0.00%
B1to B3 1,166,577 3.04% 13,753,214 33.66%
38,380,035  99.96% 40,342,915 98.73%
Without rating 14,501 0.04% 518,478 127%
ECL all owances (874) - (1,491) -
Balances due from banks, net 38,393,662 _ 100% 40,859,902 100%
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13. Loans and advances to customers
Analysis of loans by customer profile and type of loans:

Loans to legal entities

Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages

Mortgages

Total loans and advances to customers, gross

Allowances for loan impairment

Total loans and advances to customers, net

31.12.2021  31.12.2021 31.12,2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank

EUR EUR EUR EUR
87,616,675 87,616,675 72,992,631 76,672,449
1,503,831 1,503,831 2,020,962 2,020,962
126,678 126,678 81,053 81,053
89,247,184 89,247,184 75,094,646 78,774,464
(5,988,091) (5.988,091) (10,114,391) {10,146,308)
83,259,093 83,259,093 64,980,255 68,628,156

The table below discloses an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL
allowances on balances of the Group’s loans and advances to customers during the year ended

31 December 2021.

Loans to legal entities Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI* Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2021 56,385,366 2,501,486 14,105,779 - 72,992,631
New assets originated or purchased 40,317,081 850,000 - 4,465,845 45,632,926
Assets increase! 91,657,469 47,456 1,013,783 238,123 92,956,831
Assets repaid (112,777,367) {323,004)  (7.613,808) {875,824) (121,590,003)
Assets sold {1.289,675) - (2523,114) - (3,812,789)
Transfers to Stage 1 131,812 (131,812) - - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - (2915613) 2,915,613 - S
Amounts written off (86) - (1,144,731) - (1,144,817)
Accrued interest 42,933 83 - - 43,016
Foreign exchange adjustments 2,280,748 258,132 2,538,880
_Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2021 76,748,281 28,596 7,011,654 3,828,144 87,616,675
Loans to legal entities Stage1  Stage2 Stage 3 POCI  Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 2,296,172 258,997 6,555,392 - 9,110,561
New assets originated or purchased 633,057 309,361 - - 942,418
Assets increase ! 2,431,530 19,609 547,881 - 2,999,020
Assets repaid {3,262,113) (30,715)  (2,136,829) - {5429,657)
Assets sold (10,772) - (529,887) - (540,659)
Transfers to Stage 1 10,540 (10,540) - - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - (513,797) 513,797 -
Impact on ECL of transfers (5,755) - 15,982 - 10,227
Change in methodology (722,568) (31,630) - - (754,198)
Amounts written off (86) - (1,144,731 (1,144,817
Foreign exchange adjustments 64,767 - 205,040 - 269,807
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2021 1,434,772 1,285 4,026,645 - 5462702
Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 __POCI Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2021 387,327 - 1,633,635 - 2,020,962
New assets originated or purchased 775,055 - 775,055
Assets increase ! 463,953 - 104,511 - 568,464
Assets repaid (892,373) - (969,166} - (1,861,539
Amounts wwritten off (309) - - - (309)
Accrued interest 551 - - 551
Foreign exchange adjustments 659 (13) - 646
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2021 734,863 - 768,967 - 1,503,830

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that
were isswed under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

13. Loans and advances to customers (cont'd)

Loans to private individuals, except for

mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
_ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 20,371 - 981,900 1,002,271
New assets criginated or purchased 18,239 - - - 18,239
Assets increase’ 29,354 - 155 - 29,509
Assets repaid {49,858) - (474,014) - (523,872)
Change in methodology (2.040) - (153) - (2.193)
Amounts written off (309) - - - (309)
Foreign exchange adjustments 29 - 1 - 30
_ECL allowances as at 31.12,2021 15786 - 507,889 - 523,675
Mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2021 81,053 ERN— - - 81,053
Assets increase’ 108,964 - - - 108,964
Assets repaid (65,643) - - - (65,643)
Accrued interest 236 S - - 236
Foreign exchange adjustments 2,068 - - - 2,068
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2021 126,678 - - - - 126,678
Mortgages ___ Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 1,029 - - g e 1,029
Assets increase’ 1,510 . . - 1,510
Assets repaid (413) - - - 413)
Change in methodology (422) - . - 422)
Foreign exchange adjustments 10 - - - 10
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2021 1,714 - - - 1,714

The table below discloses an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL
allowances on balances of the Bank's loans and advances to customers during the year ended
31 December 2021:

Loans to legal entities Stage 1 Stage2  Stage3 POCI* Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2021 60,065,184 2,501,486 14,105,779 - 76,672,449
New assets originated or purchased 40,317,081 850,000 = 4465845 45,632,926
Assets increase’ 91,657,469 47,456 1,013,783 238,123 92,956,831
Assets repaid (116,510,734) (323,004)  (7.613,808) (875,824) (125,323,370}
Assets sold (1,289,675} - (2,523,114) - (3,812,789)
Transfers to Stage 1 131,812 (131,812) B S c
Transfers to Stage 3 - {2915,613) 2915,613 - =
Amounts written off (86) - (1,144,731) - (1,144,817)
Accrued interest 96,482 83 - - 96,565
Foreign exchange adjustments 2,280,748 - 258,132 - 2,538,880
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2021 76,748,281 28,596 7,011,654 3,828,144 87,616,675

* POCI - In November 2021, the Bank together with related to the Bank parties acquired a credit-
impaired asset, the Bank's share amounted to 4,465,845 EUR (effective interest rate 6%) or 33.6% of the
transaction amount. POCI transactions is fulfilled under a limit which is subject to Ukrainian risk
exposure. Acquired POCI is fully secured with real estate.

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that
were iss ued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.

65




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

13. Loans and advances to customers (cont'd)

Loans to legal entities Stage 1 Stage2  Stage3 FOCI Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 2,328,088 258,997 6,555,923 - 9,143,008
New assets originated or purchased 633,057 309,361 - - 942,418
Assets increase’ 2,431,898 19,609 547,881 . 2,999,388
Assets repaid {3,285,193) (30,715}  (2,137,360) - (5453,268)
Assets sold (10,772) - (529,887) (540,659)
Transfers to Stage 1 10,540 {10,540) - - i
Transfers to Stage 3 - (513,797) 513,797 - .
Impact on ECL of transfers (5,755) - 15,982 - 10,227
Change in methodology (731,775) (31,630 - - {763,405)
Amounts written off (86) - (1,144,731 - (1,144,817)
Foreign exchange adjustments 64,770 - 205,040 269,810
ECL allowances as at 31,12.2021 1,434,772 1,285 4,026,645 - 5,462,702
Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 PO Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2021 387,327 - 1,633,635 - 2,020,962
New assets originated or purchased 775,055 - - - 775,055
Assets increase’ 463,953 104,511 - 568,464
Assets repaid (892,373) - {969,166) - (1,861,539)
Amounts written off {309) - - (309)
Accrued interest 551 - - - 551
Foreign exchange adjustments 659 - (13 - 646
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2021 734,863 - 768,967 - 1,503,830
Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI ___ Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 20,371 - 981,900 - 1,002,271
New assets originated or purchased 18,239 - - . 18,239
Assets increase’ 29,354 - 155 - 29,509
Assets repaid (49,858) - (474,014) - (523,872)
Change in methodology (2,040) (153) - (2,193)
Amounts written off (309) - - - (309)
Foreign exchange adjustments 29 - 1 - 30
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2021 15,786 - 507,889 - 523,675
Mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
_Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2021 81,053 - - - 81,053
Assets increase’ 108,964 = - 108,964
Assets repaid (65,643) S - - (65,643)
Interest accrued 236 - - - 236
Foreign exchange adjustments 2,068 - - 2,068
Gross cawrying amount as at 31.12.2021 126,678 - - - 126,678

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that
were issued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.
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Notes to the financial statements {cont'd)

13. Loans and advances to customers {cont'd)

Stage 2

... Stage3

Total

Mortgages Stage 1
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2021 1,029
Assets increase! 1,510
Assets repaid (413)
Change in methodology (422)
Foreign exchange adjustments 10

ECL allowances as at 31.12.2021 1,714

1,029
1,510
(413)
(422)

10

1,714

The table below discloses an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL
allowances on balances of the Group’s loans and advances to customers during the year ended

31 December 2020:

Loans to legal entities

New assets originated or purchased
Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Assets sold

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Amounts written off

Accrued interest

Foreign exchange adjustments
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2020

Loans to legal entities
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2020

New assets originated or purchased
Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Assets sold

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Impact on ECL of transfers
Amounts written off

Foreign exchange adjustments

ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020

Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages

_Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2020

New assets originated or purchased
Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Transfers to Stage 3

Amounts written off

Accrued interest

Foreign exchange adjustments

Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2020

__ Stage1 ___Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
43,472,944 6,486,363 12,983,742 62,943,049
25,382,303 - - 25,382,303
65,700,046 2,500,832 1,712,034 69,912,912
(69,486,331) (7,531,071) (4,589,247) (81,606,649)
- s (8,507) (8,507)
{5.491,196) 5,491,196 - -
(912,202) (4,506,365) 5418,567 s
- s (1.022,543) (1,022,543)
74,197 12,127 : 86,324
{2,354,395) 48,404 (388,267) (2.694,258)
56,385,366 2,501,486 14,105,779 72,992,631
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 __Total
1,210417 604,619 7,987,629 9,802,665
1,083,768 = S 1,083,768
3,103,983 659,532 274,932 4,038,447
(2,507,186) (1.391,813) (1,321,967) (5,220,966)
- s (8,507) (8,507)
(476,166) 476,166 - -
(24,017) (516,785) 540,802 C
- 424,546 365,643 790,189
= e (1,022,543) (1,022,543)
(94,627) 2,732 (260,067) (351,962)
2,296,172 258,997 6,555,922 9,111,091
Stage 1 ~ Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
13,595 3,330,458 193,097 3,537,150
370,517 - - 370,517
465,951 54,772 217,633 738,356
(462,198) (447,153)  (1,715,340) (2,624,691)
(275) (2,938,077) 2,938,352 -
97 i (146) (243)
(267) - 39 (228)
m - e 101
387,327 - 1,633,635 2,020,962

1 Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that

were issued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

13. Loans and advances to customers (cont'd)

Loans to private individuals, except for

mortgages Stage 1 Stage2 Stage 3 Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2020 468 1,823,559 193,096 2,017,123
New assets originated or purchased 9,000 E - 9,000
Assets increase! 25,033 28,905 1,020 54,958
Assets repaid (14,101) (243,670) (807.310) (1,065,081)
Transfers to Stage 3 3) {1,608,794) 1,608,797 =
Impact on ECL of transfers - - (13,557) (13,557}
Amounts written off (26) - (146) (172)
Foreign exchange adjustments - = - =
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020 20,371 - 981,900 1,002,271
Mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3 ~ Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2020 94,954 N - 13,809 108,763
New assets originated or purchased 8,200 - 8,200
Assets increase’ 46,938 - - 46,938
Assets repaid (67.570) - (778) (68,348)
Amounts written off - - (13,031) (13,031)
Accrued interest 156 - - 156
Foreign exchange adjustments (1,625) - (1,625)
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2020 81,053 G - - 81,053
Mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3 Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2020 648 - 13,809 14,457
New assets originated or purchased 122 - 122
Assets increase’ 1,232 - - 1,232
Assets repaid (936} - - (936)
Amounts written off - - (13,809) {13,809)
Foreign exchange adjustments 37 - - 37
_ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020 1,029 - - 1,029

The table below discloses an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL
allowances on balances of the Bank's loans and advances to customers during the year ended

31 December 2020:;

Loans to legal entities . Stage 1 Stage 2 Staged ~ Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2020 48,043,756 6,486,363 12,983,742 67,513,861
New assets originated or purchased 25,382,303 - - 25,382,303
Assets increase’ 65,865,610 2,500,832 1,712,034 70,078,476
Assets repaid (70,543,705) {7.531,071) (4,589,247) (82,664,023)
Assets sold - - (8,507) (8,507)
Transfers to Stage 2 (5,491,196} 5,491,196 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 (912,202} (4,506,365) 5,418,567 -
Amounts written off - - (1,022,543) {1,022,543)
Accruexd interest 75,015 12,127 - 87,142
Foreig n exchange adjustments (2,354,397) 48,404 (388,267) (2,694,260)
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2020 60,065,184 2,501,486 14,105,779 76,672,449

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that

were issued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

13. Loans and advances to customers (cont'd)

Loans to legal entities
ECL aliowances as at 01.01.2020

Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Assets sold

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Impact on ECL of transfers
Amounts written off

Foreign exchange adjustments
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020

Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages

New assets originated or purchased
Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Transfers to Stage 3

Amounts written off

Accrued interest

Foreign exchange adjustments

Loans to private individuals, except for
mortgages
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2020

New assets originated or purchased

Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Transfers to Stage 3

Impact on ECL of transfers

Amounts written off

Foreign exchange adjustments
_ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020

Mortgages

New assets originated or purchased
Assets increase’

Assets repaid

Amounts written off

Accrued interest

Foreign exchange adjustments

_Staged ~ Stage2 ~ Stage3 __Total
. 1,238,144 604,619 1,987,629 9,830,392
New assets originated or purchased 1,083,768 - - 1,083,768
3,121,924 659,532 274,932 4,056,388
(2,520,936) (1,391,813) {1,321,967) (5,234,716)
= S (8,507) (8,507)
(476,166) 476,166 - =
(24,017) {516,785) 540,802 =
- 424,546 365,643 790,189
. = (1.022,543) (1.022,543)
(94,629) 2,732 (260.066) (351,963)
2,328,088 258,997 6,555,923 9,143,008
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount as at 01.01.2020 13,595 3,330,458 193,097 3,537,150
370,517 - - 370517
465,951 54,772 217,633 738,356
{462,198) {447,153) (1,715,340) (2,624,691)
(275) (2,938,077) 2,938,352 =
97 - (146) (243)
101 - 101
(267) : 39 {228)
Gross carrying amount as at 31.12.2020 387,327 - 1,633,635 2,020,962
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
468 1,823,559 193,096 2,017,123
9,000 - - 9,000
25,033 28,905 1,020 54,958
(14,101) (243,670) (807,310) (1,065,081)
E)) (1,608,794) 1,608,797 -
5 : (13,557) (13,557)
{26) - (146) (172}
20,371 - 981,900 1,002,271
Stage 1 Stage 2 _Stage 3 Total
Gross_carrying amount as at 01.01.2020 94,954 - 13,809 108,763
8,200 - - 8,200
46,938 - - 46,938
(67,570) - (778) (68,348)
- {13,031) (13,031)
156 - - 156
(1,625) - - (1,625)
81,053 - - 81,053

Gross _carrying amount as at 31.12.2020

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that

were iss ued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

13. Loans and advances to customers (cont'd)

Mortgages Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3 = Total
ECL allowances as at 01.01.2020 648 - 13,809 14,457
New assets originated or purchased 122 - - 122
Assets increase! 1,232 - - 1,232
Assets repaid (936) - - (936)
Amounts written off g - (13,809) (13,809)
Foreign exchange adjustments (37) - - (37)
ECL allowances as at 31.12.2020 1,029 - - 1,029

Risk concentration in the loan portfolio by industry profile:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group % Bank % Group % Bank %
EUR EUR __EUR EUR

Construction
and operations
with real estate 27,665,247  31.00 27,665,247 31.00 26,921,847 35.85 30,601,665 38.85
Trade and
commercial
activities 25,965,698  29.09 25,965,698 29.09 22,788,230 3035 22,788,230 2893
Transport and
communications 14,328,439 16.05 14,328,439 16.05 15,863,875 21.13 15,863,875 20.14
Other 9,353,581 10.48 9,353,581 10.48 379,343 0.51 379,343 047
Financial
sarvices 6,953,492 7.79 6,953,492 7.79 665,953 0.89 665,953 0.85
Tourism and
hotel services,
restaurant
business 2,640,415 2.96 2,640,415 296 321,710 043 321,710 041
Agriculture and
food industry 1,073,730 1.20 1,073,730 1.20 1,481,318 1.96 1,481,318 188
Private
individuals 420,241 047 420,241 047 2,102,015 2.80 2,102,015 267
Forestry and
legging 224,775 0.25 224,775 0.25 440,364 0.58 440,364 056
Information and
commutnications
services 14,104 0.03 14,104 003 - - -
Total loans and
advances to
customers
(gross) 89,247,184 10000 89.247,184 100.00 75,094,646 100.00 78,774,464 100.00
Allowances for
loan impairment (5.988,091) - {5,988,091) - (10,114,391} - {10,146,308)
Total loans and
advances to
customers, net 83,259,093 - 83,259,093 - 64,980,255 - 68,628,156

As at 371 December 2021, the total amount of loans issued to the 10 largest Group’s and Bank’s customers
was EUR 46,895,769 (2019: EUR 45,593,790), which comprised 52.55% of the total credit portfolio (2020:
57.88%).

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that
were issued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL,
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Notes to the financial statements (cont’d)

13. Loans and advances to customers (cont'd}

The analysis of the Group's and Bank’s collateral as at 31 December 2021:

Assets with collateral value

exceeding the loan balance

Assets with insufficient collateral

Carrying amount

Recoverable  Carrying amount Recoverable

{gross) amount of (gross) amount of

collateral collateral

EUR EUR EUR  EUR

Loans to legal entities 84,162,461 163,561,649 3,454,213 3,275,759
:.:::Ss to individuals — consumer 1,275,503 10,857,101 81,254 5
Mortgages 126,678 234,481 147,074 -
Total 85,564,642 174,653,231 3,682,541 3,275,759

The analysis of the Group's collateral as at 31 December 2020:

Assets with collateral value
exceeding the loan balance

Carrying amount

(gross)
EUR
Loans to legal entities 52,353,261
Loans to individuals — consumer 1,799,005
loans
Mortgages 81,053
Total 54,233,319

Assets with insufficient collateral

Recoverable  Carrying amount Recoverable

amount of (gross) amount of
collateral collateral
.. FEUR EUR _EUR_
115,486,249 20,401,413 4,610,610
10,687,902 221,958 -
409,620 5 -
126,583,771 20,623,371 4,610,610

The analysis of the Bank’s collateral as at 31 December 2020:

Assets with collateral value

exceeding the loan balance

Assets with insufficient collateral

Carrying amount

Recoverable  Carrying amount Recoverable

{gross) amount of {gross) amount of
collateral collateral
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Loans to legal entities 56,033,080 140,086,249 20,401,413 4,610,610
Lo::ss to individuals - consumer 1,799,005 10,687,902 221,958 )
Mortgages 81,053 409,620 - -
Total 57,913,138 151,183,771 20,623,371 4,610,610
14. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31,12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank

.. EUR EUR . EUR EUR_
Latvian government bonds 375,058 375,058 1,151,919 1,151,919
OECD government bonds = = 8,148,178 8,148,178
OECD corporate bonds 1,224,358 1,224,358 4,087,530 4,087,530
Unquoted shares 7,894 7,894 7,286 7,286
1,607,310 1,607,310 13,394,913 13,394,913

7




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
14. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (cont'd)

The analysis of the Group's and Bank’s securities by issuers’ ratings:

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Ratings Securities Securities
__EUR % EUR %
Aaa to Aa3 309,545 19.26% 8,435,230 62.97%
Alto A3 1,289,871 80.25% 4,952,397 36.97%
B1to B3 7,894 0.49% 7,286 0.06%
1,607,310 100% 13,394,913 100%

15. Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020

Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR
QECD government bonds 30,902,143 30,902,143 46,448,754 46,448,754

30,902,143 30,902,143 46,448,754 46,448,754

The analysis of the Group’s and Bank's securities by issuers’ ratings:

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Ratings Securities Securities
_ EUR % ER %
Aaa to Aa3 30,902,143 100% 46,448,754 100%
30,902,143 100% 46,448,754  100%

The table below shows the changes in the carrying amounts of the Group’s and Bank’s debt instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income in the year ended 31 December 2021:

__Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3 ~ Total
Fair value at 1 January 2021 46,448,754 - _ - 46,448,754
New assets originated or purchased 120,078,897 = s 120,078,897
Assets repaid (137,218,273) - - (137,218,273)
Changes in fair value (391) - - (391)
Foreign exchange adjustments 1,593,156 - - 1,593,156
Fair value at 31 December 2021 30,902,143 - - 30,902,143

The table below shows the changes in the ECL allowances for the Group’s and Bank's debt instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income in the year ended 31 December 2021:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL allowances as at 1 January 2021 4,644 S - 4,644
New assets originated or purchased 12,006 - - 12,006
Assets repaid (13,732) - - (13,732)
Foreign exchange adjustments 172 - - 172
ECL allowances as at 31 December 2021 3090 - - 3,090

The table below shows the changes in the carrying amounts of the Group's and Bank's debt instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income in the year ended 31 December 2020:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Fair value at 1 January 2020 - 2 - -
New assets originated or purchased 57,090,290 - - 57,090,290
Assets repaid (9,379,338) - - (9,379,338)
Changes in fair value 973 - - 973
Foreign exchange adjustments (1,263,171) - - (1,263,171)
Fair value at 31 December 2020 46,448,754 - - 46,448,754
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
15. Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (cont'd)

The table below shows the changes in the ECL allowances for the Group’s and Bank’s debt instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income in the year ended 31 December 2020:

Stage 1 _ Stage 2 _Stage 3 Total
ECL allowances as at 1 January 2020 g ooy - =
New assets originated or purchased 5,709 S - 5,709
Assets repaid (921} - - (921)
Foreign exchange adjustments (144) - - (144)
ECL allowances as at 31 December 2020 4644 - - 4,644

16. Investment in subsidiary

Atlas Invest Bud

On 9 September 2021, the Bank's wholly-owned subsidiary Atlas Invest Bud was registered with the
Unified State Register of Enterprises and Organizations of Ukraine. Its share capital of UAH 2,500,000
was paid up with a contribution in kind, i.e,, real estate acquired by the Bank as part of debt recovery
proceedings. The subsidiary was established for the purpose of selling its shares after making the
contribution in kind. The transaction was completed on 30 September 2021.

SIA Grunewald Residence

At the end of 2017, within the framework of the debt recovery procedure against a Bank’s borrower, the
subsidiary SIA Grunewald Residence acquired a real estate - a fand plot with buildings in an exclusive
district of Berlin, Germany. The acquisition was carried out with a view to developing and selling the
property. The property was encumbered with lease agreements; moreover, individual lessees had
entered into sub-lease agreements. All litigations ended in favour of the subsidiary and the property
overtaking process was completed by April 2021.. On 6 April 2021, the said property was sold for
26,500,000 EUR, thus leaving an impact on Groups cash flows from other operating income (also see
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows). As a result SIA Grunewald Residence gained profit of 13,422,625
EUR, thus leaving an impact on Group's profit from the sale of foreclosed assets (also see note 9).
Observing the German laws, in December 2021, SIA Grunewald Residence paid taxes of 1,892,281 EUR
for the said transaction in Germany (also see note 10).

On 9 June 2021, the shareholders of the Bank's subsidiary resolved to reduce the share capital of SIA
Grunewald Residence from 9,190,000 EUR to 9,190 EUR . On 12 August 2021, the said reduction was
registered with the Enterprises Register of the Republic of Latvia. On the basis of this decision, SIA
Grunewald Residence repaid the shareholders’ contribution of EUR 9,180,810, and depending on the
amount of owned shares, EUR 6,093,900 was paid to the Bank and EUR 3,086,910 was paid to non-

controlling interest shareholders, thus leaving an impact on Group's and Bank’s cash flows from cash
flows from financing activities (also see Consolidated and Bank's Statement of Cash Flows).

In September 2021, the non-controlling interest shareholders of SIA Grunewald Residence expressed
their wish to receive the proceedings from the sale of the real estate as soon as possible. Consequently,
an agreement was reached and the Bank acquired the shares from both companies at 4,559,200
EUR acquiring 100% equity interest in SIA Grunewald Residence and, accordingly, the full right to the
distributable profits of the company thus leaving an impact on Group's and Bank's cash flows from cash
flows from investing activities (also see Consolidated and Bank's Statement of Cash Flows).

On 22 December 2021, the Bank, as the sole shareholder of the subsidiary, resolved to pay an
extraordinary dividend of 10,000,000 EUR from the profit of SIA Grunewald Residence thus leaving an
impact on Bank’s cash flows from cash flows from investing activities (also see Bank's Statement of Cash
Flows). The profit distribution to recognize an impairment of the investment in the subsidiary of
3,981,328 EUR, thus leaving an impact on Group’s and Bank's other expense (also see note Nr.9).
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

16. Investment in subsidiary (cont'd)

By the end of the year, SIA Grunewald Residence has paid out the entire retained profit of the previous
years and extraordinary dividends to the Bank as the sole shareholder. As a result of pay-out of
dividends, SIA Grunewald Residence calculated the corporate income tax of 2,488,002 EUR, whereto a
relief was applied for the tax paid in Germany in the amount of 1,892,281 EUR, recognising the corporate
income tax obligations of 595,721 EUR at the end of the year. This leaving an impact on Group’s
corporate income tax (also see note 10).

The table below discloses the Bank's investment in its subsidiary as at 31 December 2021.

Company

Grunewald
Residence
SIA

The table below discloses the Bank’s investment in its subsidiary as at 31 December 2020.

Company

Grunewald
Residence
SIA

| Address

Jura Alunana |
iela 2, Riga,
LvV-1010

|

Address
{ {
| Jura Alunana

‘ iela 2, Riga,
Lv-1010

Share capital

Share capital

9,190,000

17. Intangible assets

Bank's
interest

100,00%

Bank's
interest

66,38%

Equity

710,290

Assets as at

Assets as at P’;ﬁtof:irnthe
F31.12.2021 P 9
1 yoar
1,413,089 | 701,100

(Loss) for the

Equity 31.12.2020 reporting
year
9,356,386 13,038,493 (252,519)

Changes in the Group's and Bank’s intangible assets in 2021 and 2020 can be specified as follows:

Pre- Total Pre- Total
Sl payments software S payments software
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Cost
f‘;;';zat:eg'““‘"g Cy 2,328,633 109619 2438252 2,189,319 129,493 2,318,812
Additions 186,104 13,055 199,159 140,337 . 140,337
Reclassified - - - - (19,874) (19,874)
Disposals - - e (1,023) - (1,023)
;:::'e end of the 2,514,737 122,674  2,637.411 2,328,633 109,619 2,438,252
Amortization
Accumulated
amortizationatthe 401,164 - 2001164 1,868,267 - 1,868,267
beginning of the
year
Charge for the year 160,821 - 160,821 133,920 - 133,920
On disposals - - - (1,023) (1,023)
Accumulated
amortization at the 2,161,985 - 2,161,985 2,001,164 - 2,001,164
_end of the year .
Net carrying
Smoumtatthe 327,469 109619 437,088 321,052 129,493 450,545
beginming of the
—Lﬂr e
Net canrying
amoumt at the end 352,752 122,674 475,426 327,469 109,619 437,088
of the: year o
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

17. Intangible assets (cont'd)

As at 31 December 2021, a number of assets that have been fully amortized were still in active use. The
total original cost value of these assets as at the end of the year was EUR 1,699,979 (31 December 2021:
EUR 1,574,308 ).

Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding 5 years, on a straight-
line basis and disclosed under the amortization and depreciation caption of the statement of
comprehensive income.

18. Property and equipment, and right-of-use assets

Changes in the Group's and Bank's property and equipment in 2021 can be specified as follows:

Land and Transport Office Pre-
building vehizles Computers equipment R payment Total
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR __EUR
Cost
As at
31.12.2020 13,335,000 65,179 1,059,562 658,499 100,927 23,900 15,243,067
Additions - - 24,875 156 - - 25,031
Disposals - - (2,242) (8,530) - - (10,772)
Reclassified - - - - - (23,900) (23,900)
As at
31.12.2021 13,335,000 65,179 1,082,195 650,125 100,927 - 15,233,426
Depreciation as at
31.12.2020 452,697 65,179 1,050,504 594,252 73,39 - 2,236,028
On disposals - (1,821} 8,530) - - (10,351)
Charge for
2021 150,899 - 12,456 15,519 6,116 - 184,990
As at
_31.12.2021 603,596 65,179 1,061,139 601,241 7512 0 - 2,410,667
Net carrying
amountasat =~ ===z00 @00 @@ : e S = A
31.12.2020 12,882,303 - 9,058 64,247 27,531 23,900 13,007,039
Net carrying

amount as at

31122021 12,731,404 - 21,056 48,834 21,415 - 12,822,759

As at 31 December 2021, a number of assets that have been fully depreciated were still in active use.
The total original cost value of these assets as at the end of the year was EUR 1,670,844 (31 December
2020: EUR 1,709,491).

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset applying the
depreciation rates established by the management and disclosed under the amortization and
depreciation caption of the statement of comprehensive income.

At the end of the year 2021, the Bank revaluated the building on the basis of a valuation carried out by
an independent certified valuator in accordance with international standards. The fair value of the
building was determined using the comparable sales approach and income approach. Under the income
approach, direct capitalization rate of 5.7% was used. The forecasts were based on the rental income. As
a result of the revaluation, the Bank's building value was set at EUR 12.848 million. Given that the
difference between the carrying amount and the determined market value is insignificant, the Bank's
manag ement decided not to revalue.

The Group and the Bank have entered into lease agreements on premises that are used in their business
activities. The leases term is 3 to 5 years. The Group’s and the Bank's lease liabilities are secured with the
leased assets (see also Note 24). The Group has also several car lease agreements for 12 months or less
and lowv value office equipment lease agreements. The Group applies the short-term lease and low-value
asset lease exemption to the said lease agreements.
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18. Property and equipment, and right-of-use assets (cont'd)

Carrying amounts of recognized right-of-use assets and changes therein:

Premises Total
EUR EUR
Right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2020 _ 85,714 85,714
Additions - 5
Decrease (3.607) (3.607)
Depreciation (32,422) (32,422)
Foreign exchange adjustments 487 487
Right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2021 50172 50,172
Changes in the Group’s and Bank’s property and equipment in 2020 can be specified as follows:
Land and Transport Office Other Pre-
- h Computers . Total
building vehicles equipment assets payment
______ EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Cost as at
31.12.2019 13,335,000 65,179 1,090,573 610,349 100,927 30,931 15,232,959
Additions - - 6,980 48,446 - - 55426
Disposals - - {(37,991) (296) - - (38,287)
Reclassified - - - - - {7.031) (7,031}
As at

31.12.2020 13,335,000 65,179 1,059,562 658,499 100,927 23,900 15,243,067
Depreciation as at

31.12.2019 301,798 65,179 1,059,553 580,490 67,280 - 2,074,300
On disposals - - (37,991} (296) - - (38,287)
Charge for
2020 150,899 - 28,942 14,058 6,116 - 200,015
As at
31.12.2020 452,697 65,179 1,050,504 594,252 73,396 - 2,236,028
Net carrying
amount as at
31.12.2019 13,033,202 - 31,020 29,859 33,647 30,931 13,158,659
Net carrying
amount as at
31.12.2020 12,882,303 - 9,058 64,247 27,531 23,900 13,007,039

As at 31 December 2020, a number of assets that have been fully depreciated were still in active use.
The total original cost value of these assets as at the end of the year was EUR 1,709,491(31 December
2020: EUR 1,293,734).

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset applying the
depreciation rates established by the management and disclosed under the amortization and
depreciation caption of the statement of comprehensive income.

At the end of the year 2020, the Bank revaluated the building on the basis of a valuation carried out by
an independent certified valuator in accordance with international standards. The fair value of the
building was determined using the comparable sales approach and income approach. Under the income
approach, direct capitalization rate of 6% was used. The forecasts were based on the rental income. As
aresult of the revaluation, the Bank's building value was set at EUR 12,9 million. Given that the difference
betwee n the carrying amount and the determined market value is insignificant, the Bank's management
decided not to revalue.

The Group and the Bank have entered into lease agreements on premises that are used in their business
activities, The leases term is 3 to 5 years. The Group’s and the Bank's lease liabilities are secured with the
leased assets (see also Note 24). The Group has also several car lease agreements for 12 months or less
and loww value office equipment lease agreements. The Group applies the short-term lease and low-value
asset lease exemption to the said lease agreements.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
18. Property and equipment, and right-of-use assets (cont'd)

Carrying amounts of recognized right-of-use assets and changes therein:

Premises Total
EUR EUR

Right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2019 91,880 91,880
Additions 39,987 39,987
Decrease (9,183) (9,183)
Depreciation (33,755) {33,755)
Foreign exchange adjustments {(3,215) (3,215)
Right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2020 L 85,714 85,714

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in 2021 and 2020:
2021 2020
EUR EUR
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (32,422) (33,755)
Lease interest expense (292) {651)
Total amoun.t re-cognized in the statement of (32.714)  (34,406)
comprehensive income

In 2021, the Group’s and Bank’s total lease payments amounted to EUR 36,661 (2020: EUR 43,728).

19. Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income represent the VISA Inc preference
shares obtained by the Bank in the context of the sale of shares of VISA Europe Limited to VISA Inc. In

2021, the Bank received dividend income of EUR 8,043 for VISA shares (EUR 10,854 in 2020).

20. Other assets

Other assets in breakdown between financial assets and non-financial assets can be specified as

follows:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank

EUR EUR EUR ) EUR
Financial assets, incl.: 2,383,901 2,367,975 2,143,348 1,791,713
security deposits 1,191,610 1,191,610 1,384,462 1,095,462
- accounts receivable 700,710 700,710 79,056 52,176
- interbank settlements in progress 440,960 440,960 498,189 498,189
ot her financial assets 50,621 34,695 181,641 145,886
Non-financial assets 2,449,979 2,449,979 15,119,287 3,251,053
- repossessed collaterals 686,526 686,526 13,440,566 1,572,332
inwvestment gold 1,763453 1,763,453 1,678,721 1,678,721
Total other assets, gross 4,833,880 4817954 17,262,635 5,042,766
Impairment allowances for financial assets (41,323) {41,323) (51,684) (51,684)
Total other assets, net: 4,792,557 4,776,631 17,210,951 4,991,082

The analysis of the changes in ECL allowances for other financial assets in the year ended 31 December

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
ECL allowances as at 1 January 2021 22,327 - 29,357
New assets originated or purchased 313,425 - -
Assets repaid (313,791) - (322)
Transfers to Stage 3 (16,464) - 16,464
Amounts written off - - (10,941)
Foreign exchange adjustments 116 - 1,152
ECL allowances as at 31 December 2021 5613 - 35710

(314,113)

(10941)
1,268
41,323
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
20. Other assets (cont'd)

The analysis of the changes in ECL allowances for other financial assets in the year ended 31 December
2020;

Stage 1 _Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL allowances as at 1 January 2020 1,729 625 16,628 18,982
New assets originated or purchased 347,056 - 13,080 360,136
Assets repaid (326,431) (625) - (327,056)
Foreign exchange adjustments 27) - (351) (378)
ECL allowances as at 31 December 2020 22,327 - 29,357 51,684

In non-financial assets the Group and Bank include assets obtained through repossessing collaterals
which had served as security for loans and are intended for sale. The repossessed assets include private
property and land plots in Latvia and Ukraine and for the Group - also in Germany in 2020 (see Note
16). Non-financial assets are is stated in inventories at lower of cost and net realizable value determined
according to the valuation carried out by an independent certified valuer in accordance with
international standards. According to independent certified valuer repossessing collaterals net realizable
value exceed carrying amount.

The table below summarizes the methods used by the Group and Bank in determining net realizable
value of non-financial assets in 2021.
Carrying amount, Methods used in net realizable

tha Property Municipality ~ City ____EUR value measurement .
3 1 Apartment Riga Riga 174,300 Market (comparables) approach
2 Ofﬁce. Odessa Odessa 512,226 Market (comparables) approach
premises -

_Total assets repossessed bytheBar;l_( and the Group 686,526

The table below summarizes the methods used by the Group and Bank in determining the net realizable
value of non-financial assets in 2020,

Carrying X .
No Property Municipality ~City A Methods used in net realizable
EUR velue measurement
1 land Riga ' nga 18,830 Market (comparables) approach
2 _ Apartment Riga Riga 174,300 Market {comparables) approach
Warehouse and
3 production Kiev Fastov 289,787 Market (comparables) approach
Ly premises
Multi-
4 apartment Riga Riga 507,094 Income approach
building -
Office
5 - Odessa Odessa 582,321 Market (comparables) approach
premises  — T
Total assets repossessed by the Bank 1,572,332
6 Land Berlin Berlin 11,868,234 Income approach o
Total assets repossessed by the Group 13,440,566 _
2 1. Cash and cash equivalents
31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR ___EUR EUR EUR
(Cr:;?ea;]% balances with the Bank of Latvia 82908492 82908492 67,749,321 67,749,321
Balancfes due form other banks with original 8,359,033 8,359,033 11,675,481 11,675,481
maturiity of 3 months or less
_Total 91,267,525 91,267,525 79,424,802 79,424,802
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22. Deposits from customers

(a) Analysis of deposits by customer profile

31.12.2021 31,12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Legal entities
- - current/ settlement accounts 133,383,379 134,780,542 103,946,822 104,765,444
- - term deposits 10,025,208 10,025,208 7,215,084 7,215,084
Private individuals
- - cwrrent/ settlement accounts 54,425,974 54,425,974 70,550,980 70,550,980
- term deposits 10,498,599 10,498,599 22,899,443 22,899,443
Total deposits from customers: 208,333,160 209,730,323 204,612,329 205,430,951
Sector:
Private companies 110,081,620 111,478,783 77,496,794 78,315,416
Private individuals 64,924,573 64,924,573 93,450,423 93,450,423
Financial institutions 32,925,913 32,925,913 32,900,589 32,900,589
Non-profit institutions 306,590 306,590 208,911 208,911
Institutions of financial institutions and 94 464 94,464 555,612 555,612
money lenders
_Total deposits from customers: 208,333,160 209,730,323 204,612,329 205,430,951
(b) Analysis of deposits by place of residence
31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR ~_EUR
Residents 60,718,350 62,115,513 58,853,245 59,671,867
Non-residents 147,614,810 147614810  145759,084 145,759,084
Total deposits from customers: 208,333,160 209,730,323 204,612,329 205,430,951

In 2021, the average interest rate on term deposits was 1.22% (2020: 2.40%) and the average interest
rate on demand deposits was -0.08% (2020: -0.06%). All deposits bear a fixed interest rate.

Deposits from customers by industry can be specified as follows:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Group % Bank % Group

~ ELR EUR EUR
Financial and
insurance 77325367 3712 77325367 3687 58522404
services
Private 64924573 3116 64924573 3096 93450423
individ uals
Trade and
commercial 44905992 2155 44,905,992  21.41 27,377,106
activities
Construction 14,611,300 702 16008472 763 16046935
and re al estate
Transport and 4108245 197 4908245 196 7,254,125
communications
Other 1,665458  0.80 1665458 079 1,539,231
Manufacturing 479737 023 479737 023 318,519
Agricu lture and 312479 015 312479 015 103,586
food industries

e 100 209,730,323 100

from customers 2?_8‘333'160

204,612,329

31.12.2020
% Bank %
28.60 58,522,404 2849
45,67 93,450423 4549
13.38 27,377,106 13.33
7.84 16,865,557 8.21
3.55 7,254,125 353
0.75 1,539,231 0.74
0.6 318,519 0.16
0.05 103,586 0.05
100 205,430,951 100
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22. Deposits from customers (cont'd)

As at 31 December 2021, the total amount of deposits attributable to 20 largest depositors was
EUR 145,334,195 (31 December 2020: EUR 138,483,502), constituting 69.30% of the Bank's portfolio {31

December 2020: 67,41%).
23. Debt securities

31.12.2021 31.12.2021

Group
~ EUR

Bank
EUR

Debt securities issued

16,384,025

31.12.2020
Group
16,384,025

31.12.2020
Bank
EUR_

16,384,025

In 2016, the Bank issued debt securities in several tranches. The debt securities are offered through over-
the-counter (OTC) trading and are not quoted on an open market. In 2021, ali the issued securities were

redeemed.

The debt securities issued represented the following issues:

Subordinated bond series RIB SUBUSD-01/2016 issue totaling USD 2,200,000. The redemption date
- 26 April 2021, the coupon rate - 4.50%, a coupon payment twice a year on 26 October and 26 April.
Balance at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 0.00 (31 December 2020: EUR 1,807,412),

Subordinated bond series RIB SUBUSD-03/2016 issue totaling USD 14,300,000. The redemption
date — 22 June 2021, the coupon rate — 4.50%, a coupon payment twice a year on 22 December and
22 June. Balance at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 0.00 (31 December 2020: EUR 11,666,602)

Subordinated bond series RIB SUBUSD-04/2016 issue totaling USD 3,500,000. The redemption date
- 19 July 2021, the coupon rate — 4.50%, a coupon payment 2 times a year on 19 January and 19 July.
Balance at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 0.00 (31 December 2020: EUR 2,910,011).

24, Other financial liabilities

31.12.2021 31.12.2021

Group

EUR

Liability suspense account* 199,839

Settlerments on behalf of a closed bank 16,585

Accounts payable 138,741
ECL for off-balance sheet liabilities

(see Note 28) CEL

Lease liabilities 50,285

1,326,260

31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR ~_EUR
199,839 2,788 2,788
16,585 16,585 16,585
28,612 133,639 131,349
920,810 299,372 299,372
50,285 86,266 86,266
1,216,131 538,650 536,360

* The liability suspense account as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 includes the amounts
erroneously transferred to the Bank, which were retumed to the senders at the beginning of 2022 and

2021 respectively.

Carrying amount of lease expense and changes therein:

2021 2021 2020 2020
Premises Total Premises Total
EUR EUR EUR EUR

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 86,266 86,266 92,982 92,982
Increase - - 39,987 39,987
Payments (36,661)  (36,661) (43,728) (43,728)
Foreign exchange adjustments 630 680 (2,975) (2,975)
Lease liabilities as at 31 December _ 50,285 50,285 86,266 86,266
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

25. Deferred income and accrued expense

31.12.20214 31.12.2021
Group Bank
EUR EUR......

Vacation pay reserve 544,150 544,150

State statutory social insurance contributions 121,752 121,752

Accrua_ll for the guarantee fund and FCMC 87,281 87.281
financing

Deferred income 36,202 36,202

Other accrued expense 45,641 45,641

835,026 835.026

31.12.2020
Group
____EUR
465,733
111,775

85,310

34,137
42,955
739,910

31.12.2020
Bank
__EUR
465,733
111,775

85,310

34,137
42,959
739,914

26. Derivative financial instruments

The Group and the Bank use the following derivative financial instruments: currency forwards -
agreements on currency acquisition in the future, currency swaps — commitments to exchange one set
of cash flow for another. The Group and Bank's credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the
forward contracts if the counterparties fail to perform their obligations. To control the level of credit risk
taken, the Group and the Bank assess counterparty risk using the same techniques as for its lending
activities.

The notional amounts of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments
recognized on the statement of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future
cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments, therefore, they cannot be used for
determining the level of the Group and Bank’s exposure to credit risk or market risk. The derivative
instruments become favorable or unfavorable as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or
foreign exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group and the Bank had no derivative financial
instruments

27. Share capital

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank's issued and fully paid share capital was EUR 32,334,756 (31 December
2020: EUR 32,334,762). The nominal value of one share is EUR 1.00 (31 December 2020: EUR 1.00). All
shares are ordinary registered shares with voting rights. One share is one vote.

On 27 April 2016, the denomination of the share capital from the lats to the euro was registered. As a
result of the denomination, a difference of EUR 6 was included in equity under reserves.

The shareholders of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:;

31.12.2021. 31.12.2020,
__EUR ® EUR *
SIA SKY Investment Holding 14,228,717 44.00 14,228,717 44 .00
Yuriy Rodin 6,466,198 20.00 6,466,198 20.00
AB Pivdenny 4,449,558 13.76 4,449,558 13.76
Mark Bekker 3,418,808 10,57 3,418,808 10,57
Other shareholders (with less than 10% of shares) 3,771,475 11,67 3,771,475 11,67
Total share capital 32,334,756 100% 32,334,756  100%
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
28. Off-balance items and encumbered assets

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities can be specified as follows:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020

Group Bank Group Bank

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Financial guarantees 6,438,144 6,438,144 8,915,845 8,915,845

Irrevocable letters of credit 485,621 485,621 - -

Non-financial guarantees 108,618 108,618 634,380 634,380
Total contingent liabilities L 7,032,383 7,032,383 9,550,225 9,550,225

Financial guarantees are contracts that provide for compensation in the event of a default by another
party. Such contracts involve credit risk of default. Financial guarantees are subject to an assessment of
expected credit losses. For financial guarantee contracts, the Group and the Bank take into account
changes in the risk that the particular debtor might default on its contractual obligation.

The analysis of the Financial guarantees changes in the year ended 31 December 2021:

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
_Financial guarantees as at 01.01.2021 8,915,845 - - 8,915,845
New assets originated or purchased 6,642,117 - - 6,642,117
Decrease (9.119,818) - - (9.119,818)
_Financial guarantees as at 31.12.2021 6,438,144 b - 6,438,144

The analysis of the ECL changes in the year ended 31 December 2021:

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL as at 01.01.2021 76,203 - - 76,203
New assets originated or purchased 314,590 - 314,590
Decrease (201,288) - - (201,288)
ECLas at 31122029 189,505 - = 189505

The analysis of the Financial guarantees changes in the year ended 31 December 2020:

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Financial guarantees as at 01.01.2020 4,806,837 - . 4,806,837
New assets originated or purchased 4,524,861 - - 4,524,861
Decrease - - g -
Foreign exchange adjustments {(415,853) - - (415,853)
Financial guarantees as at 31.12.2020 8,915,845 - " 8,915,845

The analysis of the ECL changes in the year ended 31 December 2020:

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL as at 01.01.2020 B SN L T & 3 &
New assets originated or purchased 76,203 - - 76,203
Decrease - - - -
ECL as at 31.12.2020 - 76,203 - - 76,203




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

28. Off-balance items and encumbered assets (cont'd)

Non-financial guarantees are secured by cash or loans which are blocked or reserved at the Group and
the Bank and secure the Group's and Bank's balances due from customers if the guarantee conditions

are met.
Non-financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non-financial guarantees )
as at 01.01.2021 L 634,380 - - 634,380
New assets originated or purchased - - =
Decrease {525,762) - - (525,762)
Non-financial guarantees
as at 31.12.2021 108,618 - - 108,618
Non-financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non-financial guarantees B
as at 01.01.2020 435,646 - - 435,646
New assets originated or purchased 303,900 - - 303,900
Decrease (103,932) - - (103,932)
Foreign exchange adjustments (1,234) - - (1,234}
Non-financial guarantees
as at 31,12.2020 634,380 - - 634,380
Financial commitments
The outstanding loan commitments can be specified as follows:
31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR __EUR EUR
Loan commitments 23,279.170 23,279,170 3,899,604 3,809,604
Undrawn credit lines 22,262,688 22,262,688 9,822,586 9,822,586
Total financial commitments 45,541,858 45,541,858 13,722,190 13,722,190

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines and guarantees does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without being

actually funded.

The loan commitments are denominated in the following currencies:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR
EUR 23,177,100 23,177,100 1,304,269 1,304,269
usD 102,070 102,070 2,595,335 2,595,335
Total loan commitments ) 23,279,170 23,279,170 3,899,604 3,899,604
The undrawn credit lines are denominated in the following currencies:
31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR
EUR 13,062,994 13,062,994 8,187,627 8,187,627
usD 9,199,694 9,199,694 1,634,959 1,634,959
Total undrawn credit lines 22,262,688 22,262,688 9,822,586 9,822,586
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

28. Off-balance items and encumbered assets (cont'd)

Financial commitments Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Financial commitments as at
01.01.2021 13,690,059 - 32,131 13,722,190
New assets originated or purchased 72,591,719 850,000 - 73,441,719
increase’ 125,700,762 - 2,166,479 127,867,241
Decrease (166,938,179) - (2,959,223) (169,897,402)
Transfers to Stage 3 - {850,000) 850,000 -
Foreign exchange adjustments 404,790 - 3,320 408,110
Financial commitments as at
31.12.2021 45,449,151 - 92,707 45,541,858

The analysis of the changes in ECL in the year ended 31 December 2021 can be specified as follows:

Financial commitments Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

_ECL as at 01.01.2021 219,495 - 3,674 223,169
New assets originated or purchased 713,920 309,361 - 1,023,281
Increase! 1,639,464 - 76,321 1,715,785
Decrease (1,830,415) - {383,969) (2.214,384)
Transfers to Stage 3 - (309,361) 309,361 -
Change in methodology (23,444) - 153 (23,291)
Foreign exchange adjustments 6,539 - 207 6,746
ECL as at 31.12.2021 725,559 - 5,747 731,306

Financial commitments Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Financial commitments as at
01.01.2020 ] 28,563,896 3,368,603 73,896 32,006,395
New assets originated or purchased 34,567,478 - - 34,567478
Increase! 80,262,052 4,391,256 1,947,331 86,600,639
Decrease (131,727,721) {5.255,105) (2017.617)  {139,000,443)
Transfers to Stage 1 2,500,000 (2,500,000} - -
Transfers to Stage 3 (44,126) {(2,304) 46,430 -
Foreign exchange adjustments (431,520) (2,450) {17,909) (451,879)
Financial commitments as at
31.12.2020 13,690,059 - 32,131 13,722,190

The analysis of the changes in ECL in the year ended 31 December 2020 can be specified as follows:

Financial commitments Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL as at 01.01.2020 399,657 259,377 941 659,975
New assets originated or purchased 332,703 - - 332,703
Increase! 1,182,982 294,525 57,694 1,535,201
Decrease (1,691,429) (524,907) (60,783) 2,277.119)
Transfers to Stage 1 28,967 (28,967) - S
Transfers to Stage 3 (488) - 488 =
Impact on ECL of transfers (23,998} - 5,160 (18,838)
Foreign exchange adjustments (8,899) (28) 174 (8,753)
ECL as at 31.12.2020 219,495 - 3,674 223,169

! Assets increase includes additionally issued loan amounts under previously signed agreements and loans that

were issued under previously signed credit line agreements and accordingly increases in their ECL.




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
28. Off-balance items and encumbered assets (cont'd)
Encumbered assets

The pledged and restricted assets can be specified as follows:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Group
EUR
Balances due from banks 14,501
Other assets 1,186,195
_Total . 1,200,696

Bank Group
___EUR EUR
14,501 4,699,229
1,186,195 1,109,880
1,200,696 5,809,109

31.12.2020
Bank
4,699,229
1,109,880

5,809,109

All encumbered assets serve as security for the Group’s and Bank’s financial liabilities as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020. The carrying amount of encumbered assets approximate their fair value

both as at 31 December 2021 and as at 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the encumbered assets of the Group and the Bank consisted of the following:

- security deposits of EUR 0 (31 December 2020: EUR 4,685,845) for the guarantees issued by the
Group and the Bank. Total amount of these encumbered assets is included under the balances due

from other banks;

security deposits of EUR 1,186,195 (31 December 2020: EUR 1,109,880) for potential claims from
Visa Inc and MasterCard Europe SPRL LLC. The agreements with these organization provide for
ensuring a sufficient amount of resources available in the deposit accounts with Lloyds TSB Bank
plc (MasterCard Europe Sprl), U.S Bank (Visa Inc) respectively, which could cover all expenses related
to the participation of the Bank in these organizations. The total amount of these encumbered

assets is included under other assets;

~ security deposits of EUR 14,501 (31 December 2020: EUR 13,384) for letters of credit issued. The
total amount of these encumbered assets is included under the balances due from other banks.

29. Capital adequacy

The Group's capital adequacy ratio according to the requirements of the Financial and Capital Market

Commission is calculated as follows:

Description
_Total own funds
Tier 1 capital
- Common equity Tier 1 capital
- Tier 2 capital
Total risk exposure amount

- Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit and

dilution risks and free deliveries

- Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and
commodities risks

- Total risk exposure amount for operational risk

- Total exposure amounts for credit valuation adjustment

Capltal adequacy ratios

Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio

- Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Common equity Tier 1 capital (4.5%)
Tier 1 Capital ratio

- Surplus {+) / Deficit (-) of Tier 1 capital (6%)

= Total capital ratio

- Surplus (+) / Deficit (-} of total capital (8%}

- Capital conservation buffer (%)
Capital conservation buffer

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
EUR EUR
46,940,426 44,615,281
46,940,426 42,831,496
46,940,426 42,831,496
- 1,783,785
169,545,135 162,248,338
147,260,321 134,302,150
2,010,051 2,946,250
20,274,763 24,999,938
27,69% 26,40%
39,310,895 35,530,321
27,69% 26,40%
36,767,718 33,096,596
27,69% 27,50%
33,376,815 31,635,414
2.5% 2.5%
4238628 4056208
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

29. Capital adequacy (cont'd)

The Bank's capital adequacy ratio according to the requirements of the Financial and Capital Market

Commission is calculated as follows:

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Description EUR EUR
_Total own funds L L 46,813,524 41,320,877
- Tier 1 capital 46,813,524 39,537,092
- Common equity Tier 1 capital 46,813,524 39,537,092
Tier 2 capital e 1,783,785
_Total risk exposure amount 169,731,381 _161,128914
R!sk .welg.hted exposure a.mognts for credit, counterparty credit and 147828367 133,659,351
dilution risks and free deliveries
- Total rlsk‘e‘xpo.sure amount for position, foreign exchange and 2010,051 2 946,250
commodities risks
- Total risk exposure amount for operational risk 19,892,963 24,523,313
Total exposure amounts for credit valuation adjustment - S
Capital adequacy ratios
- Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio 27,58% 24,54%
Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Common equity Tier 1 capital {4.5%) 39,175,612 32,286,291
- Tier 1 Capital ratio 27,58% 24,54%
= Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Tier 1 capital (6%) 36,629,641 29,869,357
Total capital ratio 27,58% 25,64%
- Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of total capital (8%} 33,235,014 28,430,564
Capital conservation buffer (%) 2.5% 2.5%
- Capital conservation buffer 4,243,285 4,028,223

On 2 November 2021, the Financial and Capital Market Commission recalculated the capital adequacy
requirermnent applicable both individually to the Bank and collectively at the Group level and assessed it
at 10.90% and capital conservation buffer at 2.5% . The Group and the Bank observed and complied with

the individually determined capital adequacy requirements in 2021.

The Group's and the Bank's equity ratio and capital adequacy ratio are calculated applying the
transitional arrangements to lessen the impact of IFRS 9 on capital ratios according to Regulation
2017/2395 of the European Parliament and of the Council. Had the transitional arrangements not been
applied, the Group's and the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2021 would have been

26,41% and 26,31% (31 December 2021: 25.68% and 23.76%) respectively.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

30. Analysis of assets and liabilities by currency profile

The table below provides the analysis of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December

2021 by currency profile:

UsD EUR Other Total
EUR EJR  EUR EUR
Assets
Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia 506,779 82,393,452 - 82,900,231
Balances due from banks 38,033,154 110,416 250,092 38,393,662
Financial assets measured at FVPL 627,296 980,014 - 1,607,310
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI 30,902,143 - - 30,902,143
Equity instruments measured at FVOCI 4617 231,001 - 235,618
Loans and advances to customers 23,650,271 59,608,822 - 83,259,093
Other financial assets 1,629,537 713,042 - 2,342,579
Prepaid expense S - 181,858 181,858
Total financial assets 95,353,797 144,036,747 431,950 239,822,494
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 94,985,745 113,225,964 121,451 208,333,160
Other liabilities 332,611 993,389 260 1,326,260
Deferred income and accrued expense 44 803,908 31,074 835,026
Current income tax liabilities S 594,315 - 594,315
Total liabilities 95,318,400 115,617,576 152,785 211,088,761
A e el R e iy 35397 28419171 279,165 28,733,733
financial position items
Off-balance sheet receivables arising from i
foreign exchange contracts ) ) i
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from foreign
exchange contracts _ _ ) )
Net long / (short) position on foreign exchange - - - -
Net long / (short) position 35,397 28,419,171 279,165 28,733,733
As at 31 December 2020
Total financial assets 113,901,744 148,450,833 2,191,699 264,544,276
Total liabilities 114,057,119 150,008,094 479,063 264,544,276
Net lo.r'1g / (sf‘n?rt) Position for staternent of (155,375) (1.557.261) 1712636 }
financial position items
Off-balance sheet receivables arising from ) .
foreign exchange contracts ) )
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from foreign
exchange contracts ) ) ’ )
Net long / (short) position on foreign exchange - - - -
Net long / (short) position {155,375) (1,557,261) 1,712,636 -
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30. Analysis of assets and liabilities by currency profile (cont'd)

The table below provides the analysis of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December

2021 by currency profile:

uspD EUR Other Total
__EWR EUR  EWR EUR
Assets
Cash and balances with the Bank of Latvia 506,779 82,393,452 - 82,900,231
Balances due from banks 38,033,154 110,416 250,092 38,393,662
Financial assets measured at FVPL 627,296 980,014 - 1,607,310
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI 30,902,143 - - 30,902,143
Equity instruments measured at FVOCI 4617 231,001 - 235,618
Loans and advances to customers 23,650,271 59,608,822 - 83,259,093
Other financial assets 1,629,537 697,116 - 2,326,653
Prepaid expense c - 181,858 181,858
Total financial assets 95,353,797 144,020,821 431,950 239,806,568
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 94,985,745 114,623,127 121,451 209,730,323
Other liabilities 332,611 883,260 260 1,216,131
Deferred income and accrued expense 44 803,908 31,074 835,026
Current income tax liabilities - 1,645 - 1,645
Total liabilities 95,318,400 116,311,940 152,785 211,783,125
Net tong / (short) position for statement of 35397 27,708,881 279,165 28023443
financial position items
Off-balance sheet receivables arising from
foreign exchange contracts ) ) ) i
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from
foreign exchange contracts i i ) i
Net long / (short) position 35,397 27,708,881 279,165 28,023,443
As at 31 December 2020
_Total financial assets 113,901,744 145,978,865 2,191,699 262,072,308
Total liabilities and equity 114,057,119 147,536,126 479,063 262,072,308
Net lo:?g /7 (sf-n:'urt) Position for statement of (155,375) (1,557.261) 1712636 )
financial position items
Off-balance sheet receivables arising from
foreign exchange contracts ’ ) ’
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from
foreign exchange contracts ) _ ) i
Net long / (short) position on foreign exchange - - - -
Net long / (short) position (155,375)  (1,557.261) 1,712,636 -




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

31. Analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile

The table below provides the analysis of the Group's finacial assets and liabilities by contractual maturity
as at 31 December 2021.

Past due

EUR
Assets
Cash and
balances with
the Bank of
Latvia -
Balances due
from banks
Financial assets
measured at
FVPL -
Debt instruments
measured at
FVOQ! -
Equity
instruments
measured at
FVOCI -
Loans and
advances to
customers
Other financial
assets -
Total financial
e 4,118,840

4,118,840

Within 1
month
EUR

1-3
months
EUR

3-6
months
EUR

6-12
months
EUR

-5
years
EUR

Over 5 years
and undated

82,900,231

38,393,662

13,243,772

6,549,714

491,792
141,579,111

1,224,359

17,658,371

2,312,066

659,656

21,854,452

Liabilities and equity
Deposits from

customers S
Other financial

liabilities -
Corporate

income tax -
Total Liabilities -
Off-balance

sheet -
liabilities

Liquidity 4,118,840

193,453,968
1,267,785

594,315
195,316,068

2,679,276

2,679,276

9,660,515

9,660,515

2,686,687

8,190

2,694,877

375,057

7,970,014

4,936
8,350,007

7,198,754

7,198,754

51,993,488

51,993,488

2314475

50,285

2,364,760

7.894

235,618

654,456

1,186,195
2,084,163

Total
EUR

82,900,231

38,393,662
1,607,310

30,902,143

235,618

83,259,093

2,342,579
239,640,636

208,333,160
1,326,260

594,315
210,253,735

2,347,615

(56,084,512)

412,862

18,762,314

As at 31 December 2020

Total financial
assets )
Total liabilities
and equity

2,408,261

135,337,436

32,962,325

1,554,393

5,411,245

7,320,399

17,821,682

(16,670,429)

17,453,394

14,999,531

34,629,197

42,191,202

15,438,158

(13,353,995)

26,871,259

52,574,241

(23,187,340)

264,544,276

177,155,010

8,925,883

21,744,055

Off-balance
sheet -
liabilities

Liguidity

2,408,261

13,384

(41,830,958)

100,398

23,936,044

3,580,135

{18,003,791)

8,942,832

5483413

3,027,149

8,530,988

7,173,065

26,487,149

39,245,508

6,922,020

{19,296,269)

264,544,276

21272415

(23,272,415)




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

31. Analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (cont'd)

The table below provides the analysis of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities by contractual maturity
as at 31 December 2021.

Within 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-5  Over 5years
LLESC) month months months months years  and undated Total
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

Assets
Cash and
balances with
the Bank of
Latvia - 82,900,231 - - - - 82,900,231
Balances due
from banks - 38,393,662 - - - 38,393,662
Financial assets
measured at
FVPL - 1,224,359 375,057 - 7,804 1,607,310
Debt instruments
measured at
FVOCI 13,243,772 17,658,371 - - - - 30,902,143
Equity
instruments
measured at
FvOCI - - - - = 235,618 235,618
Loans and
advances to
customers 4,118,840 6,549,714 2,312,066 9,660,515 7,970,014 51,993,488 654,456 83,259,093
Other financiai . 475,866 659,656 - 4,936 - 1,186,195 2,326,653
assets
Total fianacial
assets 4,118,840 141,563,245 21,854,452 9,660,515 8,350,007 51,993,488 2,084,163 239,624,710
Liability and equity
Deposits from
customers - 194,851,131 2,679,276 2,686,687 7,198,754 2,314,475 - 209,730,323
Other financial
liabilities - 1,157,656 - 8,190 - 50,285 - 1,216,131
Corporate
income tax 1,645 - - - - - 1,645
Total liabilities - 196010432 2,679,276 2,694,877 7,198,754 2,364,760 - 210,948,099
Off-balance
sheet 2,347,615 412,862 1,554,393 17,821,682 14,999,531 15,438,158 52,574,241
liabilities
Liquidity 4,118,840 (56,794,802) 18,762,314 5,411,245 (16,670,429} 34,629,197 (13,353,995) (23,897,630)
As at 31 Decernber 2020
Total assets 2,408,261 133,424,656 32,962,325 7,320,399 17,453,394 45,839,102 22,664,171 262,072,308
::;al Ii:::!ilities - 177,971,342 8,925,887 21,744,055 8,942,832 8,530,988 35,957,204 262,072,308
Off-balance
sheet - 13,384 100,398 3,580,135 5483413 7,173,065 6,922,020 23,272415
liabilities

_Liguidity 2,408,261 _ (44.560,070) 23,936,040 (18,003,791) 3,027,149 30,135,049 (20,215,053) (23,272,415)

The management of the Group and the Bank believes that short-term liquidity is not endangered. The
Bank's liquidity ratio calculated according to the FCMC requirements was 62.28% as at 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: 83.51%). In accordance with the FCMC requirements, the Bank has to ensure
a sufficient amount of liquid assets to settie its liabilities, but not less than 40% of the total amount of

its current liabilities

Deposits serving as security for customer liabilities are disclosed according to the maturity of the

underlying liability.




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
31.

Analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (cont'd)

The table below presents the Group's contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities as at

31 December 2021:

Past due Within 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-5  Over 5 years Total
month months months months years  and undated
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR __EUR_ EUR
Deposifs from 193485378 2707569 2711347 7270930 2335017 - 208510241
customers
Other liabilities - 1,267,785 - 8,190 50,285 - 1,326,260
Total liabilities 194,753,163 2,707,569 2,711,347 7,279,120 2,385,302 - 209,836,501
gﬁ;‘:{;"‘e sheet - 2347615 412862 1554393 17821682 14999531 15438158 52574241
The table below presents the Bank's contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities as at
31 December 2021:
Past due Within 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-5  Ower 5years Total
month months months months years  and undated
EUR EUR ELR  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Deposits from
custorsers - 194,882,541 2,707,569 2711347 7270930 2335017 - 209,907.404
Other liabilities 1,157,656 - - 8,190 50,285 z 1,216,131
_Total liabilities - 196,040,197 2,707,569 2,711,347 7,279,120 2,385,302 - 211,123,535
:ﬁ' ‘,ﬁf:‘.’:s"‘e sheet . 2347615 412862 1554393 17,621,682 14999531  15436,158  52574,241
The table below presents the Group's contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities as at
31 December 2020:
Past due Within 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-5  Over 5 years Total
month months months months years and undated
__EWR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Balances due to banks - 5,400 - - - - - 5,400
Debt securities 115516 - 13,501,691 2,852,253 - 16,469,460
Deposits from - 176667315 8273341 5298610 6195158 8,486,696 - 204921120
customers
Other lizbilities - 442,794 - - - 95,856 - 538,650
Subordinated loans 16,878 30,659 3,047,293 - . - 3,094,830
Total liabilites 177,247,903 8,304,000 21,847,594 9,047,411  B,582,552 - 225,029,460
g‘;‘,".‘:gs"‘e e : 13,384 100398 3580135 5483413 7,173065 6922020 23272415
The table below presents the Bank's contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities as at
31 December 2020:
Past due Within 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-5  Over5 years Total
astdu month months months months years and undated
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR _ EUR .
Balances due to banks - 5,400 - - - - 5400
Debt securities 115,516 - 13501691 2,852,253 - 16,469,460
Deposits from - 177485937 8273341 5298610 6195158 848669 - 205739742
customers
Other liabilities 440,504 - - . 95,856 536,360
Subordinated loans - 16,878 30,659 3,047,293 - 3,094,830
Total liabilities - 178,064,235 8,304,000 21,847,594 9,047,411 8,582,552 - 225,845,792
l?cﬁ‘l".‘:‘.‘:s"“ il - 13,384 100396 3,580,135 5483413 7173065 6922020 23272415
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

32. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities based on interest rate changes

The Group's assets and liabilities categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates as

at 31 December 2021:

Positions not
sensitive 10
Within one 1-3 3-6 612 1-5 Over 5 the interest
month months months months years years risk Total
; EUR EUR EUR EUR  EWR EUR EUR  EUR_
Assets
Cash and balances
with the Bank of 81,939,113
Latvia - - - o - 961,118 82,900,231
Balances due from
banks 38,379,161 14,501 - - - - 38,393,662
financial assets
measured at FVPL 1,224,358 - 375,058 - - 7,894 1,607,310
Debt instruments
measured at FVOCI 13,243,772 17,658,371 - - - - 30,902,143
Equity instruments
measured at FVQCI - - - - - 235,618 235,618
Loans and advances
to customers 21,725,326 18,795,449 9,096,565 3,130916 30,506,137 - 4,760 83,259,093
Other assets - - - - - 2,342,579 2.342,579
Total assets 155,287,372 37,692,679 9,096,565 3,505,974 30,506,137 - 3,551,909 239,640,636
Liabilities and equity
Deposits from
customers 194,478,369 2,679,277 2,001,066 7,173,755 2,000,693 - - 208333,160
Other liabilities - . - - - 1,326,260 1,326,260
Corporate income tax - - - - 594,315 594,315
Total liabilities 194,478,369 2,679,277 2,001,066 7,173,755 2,000,693 - 1,920,575 210,253,735
Sensitivity of
statement of financial g 190997 35013402 7,095499 (3.667,781)  28,505444 1,631,334 29386901
position items to
interest rate risk
Positions not
sensitive to
Within one 1-3 3-6 612 1-5 Over 5 theinterest
month months months months years years risk Total
_ EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
As at 31 December 2020
Total assets | 1452224,199  47.952,671 2,866,766 10,349,447 17,580,485 3,915,009 7,841,003 235,729,580
Total liabilities and
equity 177,081,377 8,213,144 20,766,086 8,657,502 4,608,517 - 44,477,740 263,804,366
Sensitivity of
statement of financial
position iterns to
interest rate risk (31,857,178) 39,738,527 (17,899,320) 1,691,945 12,971,968 3,915,009 (36,626,737} (28,074,786)
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

32. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities based on interest rate changes (cont'd)

The Bank's assets and liabilities categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates as

at 31 December 2021:

Positions
not sensitive
Within one 1-3 3-6 612 1-5 Over 5 to the
month months months months years years interest risk Total
EUR EUR EUR __EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Assets
Cash and balances
with the Bank of 81,939,113
Latvia - - 961,118 82,900,231
Balances due from
banks 38,379,161 14,501 = - - - 38,393,662
Financial assets
measured at FVPL 1,224,358 - 375,058 - - 7,894 1,607,310
Debt instruments
measured at FVOC| 13,243,772 17,658,371 - 30902143
Equity instruments
measured at FVOCI - - - - 235,618 235,618
Loans and advances
to customers 21,725,326 18,795,449 9,096,565 3130916 30,506,137 - 4,700 83,259,093
Other assets - - - - 2,326,653 2,326,653
Total assets 155,287,372 37,692,679 9,096,565 3,505,974 30,506,137 - 3,535,983 239,624,710
Liabilities and equity
Deposits from
customers 195,875,532 2,679,277 2,001,066 7,173,755 2,000,693 - 209,730,323
Other liabilities - - 1,216,131 1,216,131
Corporate income tax - - - - . - 1,645 1,645
Total liabilities 195,875,532 2,679,277 2,001,066 7,173,755 2,000,693 - 1,217,776 210,948,099
Sensitivity of
statement of financial o o0 160) 35013402 7095499 (3667,781) 28505444 2318207 28676611
position items to
interest rate risk
As at 31 December 2020
Total assets s 145,225,010 51,599,761 2,866,766 10,349,447 17,580,485 3,915009 7,489,366 239,025,844
::u“i:;'ab""'e’ and 177899999 8213144 20766086 8657502 4,608,517 - 41,187,146 261,332,394
Sensitivity of
statement of financial
position iterns to
interest rate risk (32674989) 43,386,617 (17,899320) 1,691,945 12,971,968 3,915,009 (33,697,780) (22,306,550)

33. Related party disclosures

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party, are under
common control or one exercises significant influence over the other party in making financial or

operational decisions.

Related parties are defined as sharehoiders, members of the Council and the Board, key management
personinel of the Group and the Bank, their close relatives and companies in which they have a controlling
interest as well as companies, where they have significant influence.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)
33. Related party disclosures (cont'd)

Transactions with related parties as at 31 December 2021 can be specified as follows:

Bank's
Parent shareholders Subsidiary Other
company and entities of the related
of the Bank owned by Bank parties
them

Total loans and advances to customers

(contractual interest rate: 6%-20%)

Correspondent account 571,511
Deposits from customers (contractual interest

rate: -0.6%-0.0%)

- S 1,295

323,178 1,397,163 240,165

Income and expense from transactions with related parties in 2021 can be specified as follows:

Bank's

Parent shareholders Subsidiary Other

company and entities of the Bank related

of the owned by parties

Bank them _

Interest income 61,872 2,161 100,121 4,522
Interest expense = (48,388) = =
Dividends - - 10,000,000 s
ECL allowances 768 186,264 31,918 (75)
Fee and commission income 310 24,954 320 999
Other income 978 213 600 1
Fee and commission expense (9,387) - - -
Administrative and other operating expense (5,224) = = -

Off-balance sheet liabilities towards related parties as at 31 December 2021 can be specified as follows:

Bank's shareholders
and entities owned

Subsidiaries of Other related

by them the Bank ] parties
Undrawn credit lines - - 6,305
Assets under management* : 11,607,471 = oo - 919021

* In November 2021, the Bank together with related to the Bank parties with assets was under
management acquired a credit-impaired asset (POCI). Asset is fully secured with real estate (see also

Note 13).

Loans issued to and repaid by related parties in 2021 can be specified as follows:

Bank's
Parent shareholders Subsidiary Other
company of and entities of the related
the Bank owned by Bank parties
— them S s -
Issued to related parties 8,000,000 30 - 61,867
Repaid by related parties 17,000,000 749,006 3,679,000 65,626




Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

33. Related party disclosures (cont'd)

Transactions with related parties as at 31 December 2020 can be specified as follows:

Bank's
Parent shareholders Subsidiary Other
company and entities of the related
of the Bank owned by Bank parties
them
Total loans and advances to customers
(contractual interest rate: 4-20%) Lzt 427254 3,647,899 el
Correspondent account 4,740,105 e g -
Deposits from customers (contractual interest 5,400 423125 818,622 232 459
rate: 0.0%)
Debt securities - - - 410775
Subordinated loans (contractual interest rate:
7.0-8.5%) 692,844 - 407,555 |
Income and expense from transactions with related parties in 2020 can be specified as follows:
Bank's
Parent shareholders Subsidiary Other
company  and entities of the related
of the owned by Bank parties
Bank them R |
Interest income 144,217 42,836 166,382 298
interest expense - (136,118) - (38,996)
ECL allowances 360 105,589 4,191) (447)
Fee and commission income 780 2,261 264 3,121
Other income 903 7,870 - 1,055
Fee and commission expense 7,425 = - -
Administrative and other operating expense (8,900) - (e00)

Off-balance sheet liabilities towards related parties as at 31 December 2020 can be specified as follows:

Undrawn credit lines
Assets under management

Bank's shareholders

Loans issued to and repaid by related parties in 2020 can be specified as follows:

Issued to related parties
Repaid by related parties

and entities owned  Subsidiaries of Sl relat.e d

by them the Bank parties

- - 2,546

- T 4,002,831

Bank's

Parent shareholders Subsidiary Other

company of and entities of the related
the Bank owned by them Bank parties

9,000,000 69,499

S 351,964 875,000 64,445

Remuneration to the Board and Council of the Bank can be specified as follows:

Short-term benefits:

- Salaries

- State statutory social insurance
contributions

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020

Group Bank Group Bank
EUR EUR EUR EUR

825,368 812,917 874,723 869,563

157,246 154,308 181,939 180,696

982,614 967,225 1,056,662 1,050,259
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Notes to the financial statements {cont'd)
34, Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is
quoted prices in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The
Group and the Bank disclose information on fair values of assets and liabilities in such a way as to enable
its comparison with their carrying amounts.

When determining fair values of assets and liabilities, the Group and the Bank use three hierarchical
measurement levels of fair value:
Level 1 — Quoted prices in an active market;
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable in the market;
Level 3 — Other valuation techniques for which the input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

Instruments within Level 1 include financial instruments traded on the stock exchange.

Fair value for such financial instruments as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is mainly
determined based on publicly available quoted prices (bid price obtained from the Bloomberg system).

Instruments within Level 2 include assets, for which no active market exists, such as over-the-counter
(OCT) derivative financial instruments and currency swaps financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss.

Level 2 valuation techniques include using discounted cash flows, option pricing models, recent
transactions and the price of another instrument that is substantially the same.

Level 3 equity instruments measured at FVOCI . There are instruments for which there is currently no
active market or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments and private equity holdings.

In the reporting year, the equity instruments measured at FVOC! was based on an indicative price offer
received from a potential buyer and which is considered to be the best estimate of the fair value.

The Group and the Bank conducts assessment of fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are
not presented in the Group's and the Bank's statement of financial position at their fair value. All financial
instruments not measured at fair value are specified at Level 3 in hierarchy of valuation of fair value,
because of using unobservable inputs.

When calculating fair value for floating interest rate loans and for fixed-interest rate lending, future cash
flows are discounted based on the market interest curve, which has been adjusted for applicable margins
of new lending. Fixed interest rate deposits, floating interest rate and fixed-interest rate balances due to
credit institutions, have been calculated similarly.

The fair value of debt securities is based on estimated present value of discounted future cash flows.
Discount rate applied in the calculation is based on the interest rate applied to last transaction adjusted
for the decline in the market rates observed in the respective period.
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

34. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities {cont'd)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets measured at amortized cost and their fair values can be

specified as follows:

Assets measured at amortized cost
Cash and balances with the Bank of
Latvia

Balances due from banks

Loans to legal entities

Loans to private individuals, except
for mortgages

Mortgages

Other financial assets

Total assets measured at
amortized cost

Liabilities measured at amortized
cost

Deposits from customers

Debt securities

Subordinated loans

Other financial liabilities

Total liabilities measured at
amortized cost

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
EUR EUR EUR EUR
82,900,231 82,900,231 67,749,254 67,749,254
38,393,662 38,393,662 40,859,902 40,859,902
82,153,973 82,252,760 63,881,539 68,862,155
980,155 980,671 1,018,693 1,124,497
124,964 125,029 80,024 92,188
2,383,901 2,383,901 2,143,348 2,143,348
206,936,886 207,036,254 175,732,760 180,831,344
208,333,160 208,421,211 204,612,329 204,618,850
S - 16,384,025 16,384,025
= - 3,016,117 3,030,481
1,326,260 1,326,260 538,650 538,650
209,659,420 209,747,471 224,551,121 224,572,006

The carrying amounts of the Bank’'s assets measured at amortized cost and their fair values can be

specified as follows:

Assets measured at amortized cost
Cash and balances with the Bank of
Latvia

Balances due from banks

Loans to legal entities

Loans to private individuals, except
for mortgages

Mortgages

Other financial assets

Total assets measured at
amortized cost

Liabilities measured at amortized cost
Deposits from customers

Debt securities

Subordinated loans

Other financial liabilities

Total liabilities measured at amortized

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
. ER EUR EUR EUR
82,900,231 82,900,231 67,749,254 67,749,254
38,393,662 38,393,662 40,859,902 40,859,902
82,153,973 82,252,760 67,529,440 72,675,876
980,155 980,671 1,018,693 1,124,497
124,964 125,029 80,024 92,188
2,367,975 2,367,975 1,791,713 1,791,713
206,920,960 207,020,328 179,029,026 184,293,430
209,730,323 209,818,376 205,430,951 205,437,472
- - 16,384,025 16,384,025
= = 3,016,117 3,030,481
1,216,131 1,216,131 536,360 536,360
210,946,454 211,034,507 225,367,453 _2_35.388,338

cost
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

34. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (cont'd)

The Group’s and Bank's assets by fair value hierarchy levels (at carrying amounts) can be specified as

follows);

Level 1
EUR

Assets
measured at
fair value
Debt
instruments
measured at
FVOCI
Equity
instruments
measured at
FVOCI
Financial assets
measured at
FVPL
Total assets
measured at
fair value

30,902,143

1,232,253

32,134,396

31.12.2021
Level 2
EUR

Level 3

Level 1

EUR EUR

31.12.2020
Level 2
EUR

Level 3
EUR

375,057

375,057

235,618

46,448,754

235,618

12,242,994

58,691,748

221,711

1,151,919

1,151,919 221,711

The Latvian government bonds in the Group's and Bank's portfolio are specified at Level 2 in hierarchy
of valuation of fair value and stated at their fair (market) value, taking into account the information

published by Bloomberg.

35. Subordinated loans

Subordinated loans as at 31 December of 2021 and 31 December 2020 can be specified as follows:

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group % Bank % Group % Bank %
EUR ___EUR EUR EUR
Villa Flora SIA
(maturing in 2021) - 692,844 8,00 692,844 8,00
Lubov Bekker
{maturing in 2021) - - - - 1915718 8,00 1915718 8,00
Mark Bekker
{maturing in 2021) 407,555 8,00 407,555 8,00
Total subordinated
loans - - 3,016,117 - 3016117 c

36. Assets under management

Assets under management are securities and other customer assets acquired under trust agreements.

Legal entities:

- residents

- non-residents
Private individuals:
- non-residents
Total

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020
Group Bank Group Bank

EUR EUR EUR EUR
8,801 ,243 8:801 ‘243 = =
21,885,353 21,885,353 37,454,060 37,454,060
34145481 34145481 17,253,906 17,253,906
64,832,077 64,832,077 54,707,966 54,707,966
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

37. Return on equity and return on assets

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2020

Group ~ Bank Group Bank
Return on equity (ROE} (%) 18.36% 22.28% 141% 1.96%
_Return on assets (ROA) (%) 3.39% 3.32% 0.21% - 0.27%

Both ratios are calculated according to the FCMC regulations on the basis of annual averages month by
month. ROE is calculated as annualized net profit for the reporting period divided by the average of total
equity. Return on average assets (ROA) is calculated as annualized net profit for the reporting period
divided by the average of total assets.

38. Events after reporting date

Military conflict between Ukraine and Russia, its impact on the Group’s and Bank’s business continuity

Due to the military conflict between Ukraine and Russia and the start of a military operation by the
Russian National Armed Forces in Ukraine on February 24, 2022, the Bank carefully assessed its structure
of assets in this region. This military conflict has caused high risks for Ukraine’s internal and external
finances, as well as for the Ukraine’s macroeconomic and political stability. There is a great uncertainty
with regard to the duration and effects of the conflict. Since the beginning of the military conflict, the
volume of the Group’s and Bank’s financial liabilities subject to the Ukraine country risk has increased,
while assets slightly decreased. Taking into account the existing uncertainty with regard to the further
development of the situation, the Bank is currently evaluating the necessity of creating additional
provisions.

The Bank has performed an additional stress test assuming, in the Management's view , the worst-case
scenario in these uncertain circumstances, i.e, the possible loss of assets and deposits due to the military
conflict in Ukraine, to assess how the maximum possible losses in the Ukraine region might affect the
Bank's equity capital and liquidity.

The stress test has been performed according to the situation as at 31.12.2021 and taking into
consideration loan and deposit portfolio subsequent performance after 24th of February when the
military conflict between Ukraine and Russia begun, using the following factors and parameters:

1) Impact on the equity capital of the Group and the Bank

- the complete write-off of the assets classified by risk country as Ukrainian (EUR 31, 746 million
as at 31.12.2021 less the loan repayments received after year end; see also Note 2). Based on
the Group's and the Bank's analysis the risk country reflects the country where the Client has
a collateral or office facilities. These assumptions are made according to the complete portfolio
re- assessment subsequent to the military conflict starting date;

- lost proceeds from transactions in Ukraine in the amount of income for 2021 (EUR 2.5 million)
taking into consideration that part of proceeds have been already received subsequently to
the year-end;

- Russian exposure is not significant to the Group’s and Bank's portfolio, therefore no additional
considerations were made;

- the assets of other countries classified by the risk country remain unchanged according to the
complete portfolio re- assessment subsequent to the military conflict starting date.

In performing the stress test, the calculations included the originally forecasted profit for the year 2021
(EUR 8.5 million), as well as the fact that the right of claim associated with the credit-impaired asset
(POCI) was assigned at the end of February 2022, thus reducing the exposure in Ukraine by

EUR 3.8 million (see also Assignment of the credit-impaired asset (POCI)_ below). As the result of the
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Notes to the financial statements (cont'd)

38. Events after reporting date (cont'd)

Military conflict between Ukraine and Russia, its impact on the Group's and Bank's business continuity
{cont'd)
stress test, the equity capital indicator of the Group and the Bank amounted to 14.4%, which exceeds
the individual capital indicator determined by the regulator at 13.6% (consisting of the capital adequacy
requirement 11.10% and capital conservation buffer at 2.5%). It is to be noted that capital conservation
buffer of 2.5% the Bank can use in case of a crisis situation.
2) Impact on liquidity;
- loss of funds in correspondents accounts of Ukrainian banks in the amount of EUR 0.06 million;
- outflow of funds classified by risk country as Ukrainian in the amount of EUR 41.8 million;
- outflow of arrested funds of Latvian customer in the amount of EUR 33 million;
- outflow of deposits of Latvian residents in relation to regular operational activity EUR 3.6
miillion according to subsequently available information to the year-end;
- Russian exposure is not significant to the Group’s and Bank's portfolio, therefore no additional
considerations were made;
- the deposit outflow of other countries classified by risk country is not considered.

According to the results of the stress test, the Bank's liquidity indicator is 44,73% with the special liquidity
requirement being determined at 40%. It was concluded by the Management of the Bank that the
military conflict between Ukraine and Russia will have a negative effect on the Group's and Bank’s
operations. As stated above in Note 3(a) and taking into consideration the stress test results, the financial
statements are prepared on the basis that the Group and the Bank will continue to be a going concern.

The Management acknowledge that it is not possible to determine the exact effect of geopolitical
conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and the key assumptions used in the worst-case scenario
supporting the use of the going concern assumption in preparation of these financial statements do not
assume any worse economic conditions and possible impact on the Group's and Bank’s customers than
stated above.

The Bank continues to constantly monitor the development of the situation in order to promptly and
effectively respond to current events, if necessary, to maintain business continuity and financial stability
of the Group and the Bank.

Assignment of the credit-impaired asset (POCI)

In February 2022, an agreement was signed on the assignment of the right of claim of the credit-
impaired asset (POCI) acquired in 2021 (see also Note 13). The Bank has recovered its investment in full
as the resuit of this transaction.

As of the last day of the reporti r until the date of signing these financial statements there have
been no other events, except'the afcrementioned, requiring adjustment of or disclosure in the financial
statements or notes thepeto.

B Yuriy Rodin
Chairman of the Council

Riga, 29 April 2022
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